
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages.

Health and Wellbeing Board
Agenda

Tuesday, 24 November 2015
2.00 pm,
Committee Room 1
Civic Suite
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU

For more information contact:  Andy Thomas (Tel: 020 8314 9996)

This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed.

OR 

This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed except for items numbered XXX on the Agenda.  For legal reasons, those 
items will be considered in private with the press and public excluded.

Part 1

Item Pages

1.  Minutes of last meeting and matters arising/Action Tracker 1 - 6

2.  Declarations of Interest 7 - 9

3.  Adult Integrated Care Programme Update: Enhanced Care & Support 
Work Stream

10 - 14

4.  Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions for Adults 2016/17 15 - 49

5.  Health and Care Devolution in London 50 - 58

6.  Local Account 59 - 61

7.  Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 62 - 67

8.  Information Items
A. Performance Dashboard: Exceptions Reporting
B. South East London Consolidated Strategy: Our Healthier SE 

London
C. Healthwatch Bromley & Lewisham

i. Lewisham Progress Update

68 - 153



Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages.

ii. Recommissioning of Healthwatch Lewisham
D. Health and Wellbeing Strategy Draft Refresh 2015-2018
E. Children and Young People Partnership Board Minutes 

9.  Any Other Business



Health and Wellbeing Board
Members

Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Tuesday, 24 November 2015.  

Barry Quirk, Chief Executive
Monday, 16 November 2015

Mayor Sir Steve Bullock (Chair)       London Borough of Lewisham

Councillor Chris Best                       Community Services, London Borough of Lewisham

Aileen Buckton                                 Directorate for Community Services, London Borough          
                                                         of Lewisham

Elizabeth Butler                               Lewisham & Greenwich Healthcare NHS Trust

Jane Clegg                                      NHS England South London Area

Tony Nickson                                   Voluntary Action Lewisham

Dr Simon Parton                              Lewisham Local Medical Committee

Peter Ramrayka                               Voluntary and Community Sector

Marc Rowland (Vice-Chair)              Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr Danny Ruta                                  Public Health, London Borough of Lewisham

Brendan Sarsfield                             Family Mosaic

Sara Williams                                    Directorate for Children & Young people, London   
                                                         Borough of Lewisham



MINUTES OF THE
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Tuesday, 22 September 2015 at 3.00 pm

ATTENDANCE 

PRESENT: Mayor Sir Steve Bullock (Chair), Dr Danny Ruta (Director of Public Health, LBL), 
Tony Nickson (Director, Voluntary Action Lewisham), Peter Ramrayka (Voluntary and 
Community Sector representative), Dr Marc Rowland (Chair of Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Vice-Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board), Brendan 
Sarsfield (Family Mosaic), Cllr Chris Best (Cabinet Member for Health, Wellbeing and Older 
People), Aileen Buckton (Executive Director for Community Services, LBL) Sara Williams 
(Executive Director for Children & Young People, LBL), Dr Simon Parton (Chair of Lewisham 
Local Medical Committee), Elizabeth Butler (Chair of Lewisham & Greenwich Healthcare 
NHS Trust), Linda Gabriel ( Chair of Healthwatch Bromley& Lewisham)

IN ATTENDANCE: Carmel Langstaff (Service Manager, Interagency Development and 
Integration, LBL), Sarah Wainer (Head of Strategy, Improvement and Partnerships)  Andy 
Thomas (Clerk to the Board, LBL). 

APOLOGIES: There were no apologies 

Welcome and Introductions 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 

1. Minutes of the last meeting and matters arising 

1.1 The minutes of the last meeting (7 July 2015) were agreed as an accurate record. 

1.2 There were no matters arising. 

2. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest. 

3. Health and Wellbeing Strategy

3.1 Danny Ruta reminded the meeting that as the initial delivery plan for the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy had come to an end and that things had changed significantly since the 
strategy had been written, the Health and Wellbeing Board had asked for the Strategy to be 
refreshed.  The new draft document proposed that the priorities remain the same but that 
three key actions are adopted as follows:

 To accelerate the integration of care
 To shift the focus of action and resources to preventing ill health and promoting 

independence 
 To support our communities  and families to become healthy and resilient.



3.2 Danny presented two diagrams which can be found on pages 8 and 9 of the draft refresh 
document (included in the meeting papers).  The first diagram described the way in which 
the three key actions underpin the health and wellbeing of the borough’s population.  The 
second diagram showed the way that the key actions overlap and that actions may address 
more than one priority.

3.3 Marc Rowland welcomed the proposed key actions but suggested some rewording 
should take place to ensure that children and young people, wellbeing and references to 
other wider determinants of health are included. 

3.4 Simon Parton commented on the fact that the report states that there are no financial 
implications to the proposals and argued that resources would have to follow if the proposals 
are to be implemented.  Danny explained that when the report states that there are ‘no 
financial implications’ this means that no additional resources would be required to 
implement the strategy.

3.5 Elizabeth Butler also challenged the idea that there were no financial implications and 
also wanted to express her concerns that resources might go out of the borough. In terms of 
the wording of the document she felt that there was too much jargon.  She further 
commented that she felt that the description of achievements was ‘over egged’.

3.6 Brendan Sarsfield welcomed the key actions and felt that they would support his area of 
work.

3.7 Peter Ramrayka asked about the relationship between key action 1 and the Better Care 
Fund? He also wanted to know what the impact of the current, significant cuts to Public 
Health budgets would have on the delivery of the key actions.

3.8 Linda Gabriel asked how local communities would be engaged in the work around the 
key actions and suggested that this could support local engagement going forward.

3.9 Danny Ruta responded to the points that had been raised, recognising the challenges 
around resourcing the key actions.  He accepted the comments on financial implications but 
said that he believed that it would be possible to work within the current budget.  He 
accepted the comment about use of jargon and agreed to review the document and amend 
accordingly. 

3.10 After some discussion, the meeting agreed on the following wording at point 1.1.2 in the 
strategy:

 To accelerate the integration of adult, children’s and young people’s care
 To shift the focus of action and resources to prevent ill health and promoting wellbeing 

and independence
 Supporting our communities and families to become healthier and more resilient, which 

will include addressing the wider determinants of health. 

3.11The board agreed to accept the recommendations of the report subject to amending the 
wording at 1.1.2 and removing the jargon in priority 8.

3.12 Aileen Buckton agreed to seek guidance on how to express financial implications in 
future.



4. Adult Integrated Care Programme 

4.1 Martin Wilkinson gave a presentation outlining the vision of the Adult Integrated Care 
Programme and updating the board on progress to date in each of the schemes.  He 
concluded by raising the question of how the board sees its role in championing the work of 
the programme. 

4.2 Steve Bullock suggested that the key way that change will take place is through 
commissioning and asked how this is going to happen. Martin replied that the programme is 
working towards joint commissioning by partners finding ways to support each other to invest 
in community based services at a time when resources are being reduced.  The wider 
development work that is being done will underpin this.

4.3 Chris Best commented that there is clearly a lot of work going on and it would be good to 
get more detailed information on each of the schemes.  She said that although there seemed 
to be good progress, there needs to be a clearer and stronger message being 
communicated.  Martin responded that one of the main tasks between now and the 
stakeholder event in November would be to clarify the message and particularly present it 
through case studies.

4.4 Elizabeth Butler said that she was very supportive of the programme and that it is 
important to get clarity between this work and the SE London Strategy and “get the 
Lewisham story clear”  She was concerned that the SE London Strategy has already 
adversely affected recruitment. 

4.5 Elizabeth also raised the question of how to encourage GPs to engage with the 
programme.  Simon Parton replied that although more work needs to be done, GPs are 
aware of the programme and are engaging with it.  He argued that there is a need to develop 
the capacity of primary care – some of this is about working out what can be delivered by 
other providers, so that the programme doesn’t just increase the work load of GPs.  Marc 
Rowland added that there has been a huge shift in the past 3 months in terms of energy and 
impetus.

4.6 Danny Ruta thanked Martin for an excellent presentation.  He said that commissioning 
was transactional but that there was a need for transformational work and systems 
leadership.  He asked what role the Health and Wellbeing Board should be playing as 
systems leaders to which Marc Rowland replied that Board members should act as 
champions.

4.7 Linda Gabriel asked at what stage communities would be brought in so that they 
understand that this is a better way of doing things.  Martin agreed that the programme 
needs to co-design services with local people.

4.8 Tony Nickson said that the presentation had been very helpful in understanding what 
was being proposed.  He said that it was very important to be clear about the role of the 
voluntary and community sector within the neighbourhood care model and that he felt that 
the board should play a role in overseeing the way in which this happens.  He said that it 
was about relationship brokering and the Board needed to have conversations about how to 
do this strategically. 

4.9 Brendan Sarsfield said that he came from an organisation that delivered social care and 
that he felt that it was important to focus on the model used for commissioning and not just 
see it as transactional.  He felt that the Board needed to be clear about whether the 
programme was a Council and health service one or whether it was also a voluntary sector 
and private sector one.  Conversations needed to take place with those being commissioned 



about what approach worked best and whether we would be looking for an outcomes based 
approach.

4.10 Aileen Buckton said that she agreed with Brendan and that we should be talking about 
commissioning and community development.  She said that the transactional model would 
only work in some settings.  For example it is not possible to commission resilient 
communities – people have to be allowed to do things for themselves.  Aileen said that more 
work would need to be done on this, with a light touch approach from partners around the 
table.

4.11 Steve Bullock said that he was aware that two of the partners around the table were 
operating at a wider level than Lewisham and he wondered how this worked in practice.  
Elizabeth Butler again highlighted the importance of the SE London Strategy and aligning 
what is done in Lewisham with this.  However she also felt that there was scope for some 
things to be done differently at a local level.

4.12 Elizabeth Butler asked Martin to further consider the mitigation of risk within the 
programme.  Steve Bullock asked Martin to provide further detail to think about financial 
implications.

4.13 The Board thanked Martin for the presentation.  

5. Findings from the 2005 Food Summit

5.1 Tony Nickson reminded the board that a discussion at its meeting in July 2014 had led to 
a small working group coming together to consider action on food poverty. The Food Summit 
had been the outcome of those discussions, which had been delivered in partnership with 
Greenwich Cooperative Development Agency.  

5.2 The event had been focussed around the model of Sustainable Food City, which is 
designed to engage public agencies, non-governmental organisations food businesses, 
small/medium food enterprises and the community. Six key themes had been explored:

 Promoting healthy and sustainable food to the public
 Tackling food poverty, diet-related ill health and access to affordable healthy food
 Building community food knowledge, skills, resources and projects
 Promoting a vibrant and diverse sustainable food economy
 Transforming catering and food procurement
 Reducing waste and the ecological footprint of the food system

5.3 Tony reported that one of the big advantages of engaging with the Sustainable Food City 
model was that it is possible to sign up to a network and access resources.  He said that the 
work would continue and that an excellent partnership had developed between the voluntary 
sector and Public Health

5.4 Chris Best congratulated the organisers on a successful event and said that it would be 
good for the Board to support the initiative.

5.5 Elizabeth Butler said that she had been sorry not to be able to attend the event but had 
sent a representative who had been very positive about it.  She said that she was keen to 
understand what the model meant in practice in order to know what support could be given.  
It would be good to circulate some case studies of what has been done elsewhere.  Tony 
replied that one of the most important next steps will be to strengthen the working group as it 
is quite small.



5.6 The Board accepted the recommendations of the report to sign up to the Sustainable 
Food Cities Network and to form a local food partnership.

6. Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 

6.1 Carmel Langstaff, presented the report and asked members to note changes to the work 
programme approved at the last Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in July. 

6.2 Carmel reported that the following items have been deferred to the November meeting:
 Joint Commissioning Intentions
 Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham: progress update. 
 South East London Consolidated Strategy: Our Healthier SE London update

6.3 Performance Dashboard: Exceptions Reporting has also been deferred to the November 
meeting with a recommendation that a report on this issue is presented to the Board at 
alternate meetings. 

6.4 The following additional items were proposed as information items for the November 
meeting :
 Local Account
 Mental Health Awareness Strategy

6.5 Aileen Buckton said that the Local Account report needed to be ‘signed off’ by the Board 
and so it was agreed that this should be presented as a report for agreement.

6.6 The CCG Operating Plan 2015-16 had been removed from the September Health and 
Wellbeing Board agenda. Carmel explained that the CCG did not receive formal approval 
from NHS England in sufficient time to produce a report for the HWB Board. 

6.7 The Board agreed to note the changes to the work programme as presented.

7. Information items 

7.1 The items were noted. 

8. Any Other Business 

8.1 A flyer was circulated promoting the work of the Abbotshall Road Healthy Lifestyles 
Centre.

The meeting ended at 16:40 hrs.



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD ACTION TRACKER                             24 November 2015 Update

# MEETING 
REF

ACTION LEAD/OWNER ASSIGNED 
TO

DUE DATE STATUS

1 22 Sept 
2015

Financial implications within HWB 
reports

Aileen Buckton agreed to seek guidance 
on how to express financial implications 
in future 

Aileen Buckton TBC TBC OPEN

2 22 Sept 
2015

Adult Integrated Care Programme 

Elizabeth Butler asked Martin to further 
consider the mitigation of risk within the 
programme.  Steve Bullock asked Martin 
to provide further detail on financial 
implications.

Martin Wilkinson TBC TBC OPEN



Health and Wellbeing Board

Title Declarations of interest

Contributor Chief Executive – London Borough of Lewisham Item 2

Class Part 1 (open) 24 November  2015

Declaration of interests

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda.

1 Personal interests

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code 
of Conduct:- 

(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests
(2)  Other registerable interests
(3)  Non-registerable interests

2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:-

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 
Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union).

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 
partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works.

(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough.

(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)  Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the Council 
is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a partner, a body 
corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a 
beneficial interest.  

(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:-

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and 

(b) either
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 

total issued share capital of that body; or



(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom 
they live as spouse or civil partner. 

(3) Other registerable interests

The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:-

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 
were appointed or nominated by the Council

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion 
or policy, including any political party

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25

(4) Non registerable interests

Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not 
required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends). 

(5) Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation

(a) Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event 
before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the 
member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from 
the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to influence 
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or 
participation where such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and 
on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000 

(b) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the 
meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is 
considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the 
matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below applies.



(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member 
of the public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so 
significant that it would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the 
public interest. If so, the member must withdraw and take no part in 
consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly.

(d) If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, 
their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the 
local area generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of 
interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable interest.  

(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal 
judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer.

(6)  Sensitive information 

There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

 
(7) Exempt categories

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:-

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception)

(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 
or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the 
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are 
a governor; 

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members 
(e) Ceremonial honours for members
(f)  Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)



1. Purpose 

1.1 This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with 
an update on the Adult Integrated Care Programme’s 4th work stream, 
Enhanced Care and Support (ECS).

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to:

Note the progress made on establishing the ECS project scope, the 
establishment of seven ECS project design principles and anticipated 
scheme benefits and outcomes.

3. Strategic Context

3.1 Background
National and local research indicates that Lewisham emergency 
admissions are higher than the national average. This puts significant 
pressure on the health economy at a time of shrinking resources.

At the same time Health and Social Services are under increasing 
strain to meet growing demands for health and social care and to 
contain escalating costs. The evidence of this pressure is clear and 
includes the following : 

 The high number of A&E attendances and pressure on urgent and 
emergency care services. (see Figure 1 below)
Figure 1: Lewisham Emergency admissions

                             HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Adult Integrated Care Programme: Enhanced Care and Support 
Work Stream

Contributors Associate Director and Commissioning 
Project Manager, Nursing and Quality 
Directorate, Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Item No. 3

Class Part 1 Date: 24th November 
2015 

Strategic 
Context 

Please see body of report



 Increasing pressure on adult social care for community care 
packages when the adult social care is required to make a 
substantial contribution to the Council budget savings programme - 
a provisional savings target of £25m over this period (against a net 
budget of £80m). 

 The increase in demand and difficulties in accessing primary care 
services.

 An Ageing population with complex/multiple health problems

A key action to reduce Lewisham’s emergency admission rates is the 
development of the Adult Integrated Care Programme (AICP) Board. 
The AICP aim focuses on the redesign and reshaping of services to 
improve patient health and wellbeing. 

Enhanced Care and Support (ECS) is the 4th of 5 AICP work streams 
and a critical component of accelerating the AICP aim. The ECS work 
stream aims to develop a coherent and co-ordinated set of services 
which avoid unnecessary admissions into a hospital or a care home 
and facilitate early discharge into the community or home 

3.2 ECS Vision and scope 
The ECS vision is to reduce avoidable admissions as a result of either 
health or care crises for the people of Lewisham. Majority of the people 
targeted for ECS intervention will be over the age of 65 and have one 
or multiple long term conditions. Without ECS intervention, a significant 
number of these people will be at increased risk of an avoidable 
emergency admission which will impact on both health and social 
budgets and significantly reduce peoples independence. 

3.3 ECS Design Principles
There are seven design principles on which ECS redesign and 
reshaping processes are based. These reflect the intermediate care 
nature of the ECS approach and highlight the duration of ECS project 
intervention as a critical determinant of services in scope of ECS. 
These design principles are set out as follows:

1. ECS supports people in crisis at each level of the SEL Christmas 
Tree Model (see below) above and beyond the core services 
supporting these populations.



2. ECS services will be time limited allowing people in crises to 
transition in and out of core services. By time limited we mean for a 
period of up to six weeks.

3. Secondary Care prevention forms part of ECS. This aims to identify 
people at risk of an emergency admission and halt or slow down 
any deterioration.

4. Rehabilitation will only start when a person is medically fit 

5. The development of a Home Ward project will address the gap 
between discharge from hospital and readiness for rehabilitation 
and is thus a key ECS intervention.

6. Robust referral, common assessments and escalation processes 
are required across all ECS services.

7. ECS will adopt robust specifications and contract management to 
ensure the delivery of its key outcome i.e. a reduction in avoidable 
admissions. 

3.4 ECS Anticipated Outcomes
 A reduction in emergency admissions primarily to LGT acute 

services.
 A reduction in 28 and 90 day re-admission rates following 

discharge from Lewisham acute and Lewisham social services 
respectively.

 Maintenance of existing care packages.
 Reducing the need for long term care placements.
 No cost shunting between health and social care.
 Maintaining people to live independently for as long as possible. 



4. ECS Developments

4.1 June 2015-reconvening of the Emergency Admissions working group 
as the Enhanced Care and Support work stream in line with AICP 
recommendations. LCCG also begin Admissions Avoidance audits to 
inform redesign and reshaping of ECS services.

4.2 August 2015-ECS stakeholder meeting convened to confirm ECS 
purpose, scope and projects-Project scope purpose and scope 
confirmed. 

4.3 September 2015 ECS clarification of project timescales and review of 
Joint Commissioning stock take projects within ECS scope-
Confirmation of project timescales and Joint Commissioning stock take 
projects. 

4.4 October 2015-ECS discuss the Discharge to Assess and Winter 
Assessment Team pilots and ECS Financial modelling-pending.

4.5 November 2015- ECS review of Avoidable Admissions audit 
outcomes and proposed redesign of projects, review of commissioning 
priorities. –pending.

5. Financial Implications

5.1 There are significant financial implications for non-delivery of ECS 
projects. Non-delivery of ECS outcomes will result not achieving QIPP 
savings for 2015/16, increase costs to the health economy and 
increased pressure on the health economy and budgets for 2016/17. 
This risk is being managed through the ECS work stream meetings as 
well as established contract management processes. 

6. Legal implications 

6.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places a specific duty on the 
CCG to include the relevant Health and Wellbeing Board in the 
preparation of their commissioning plans and when making significant 
revisions to those plans.  

7. Crime and Disorder Implications

7.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this
report or its recommendations.

8. Equalities Implications 



8.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report or 
its recommendations.

9. Environmental Implications

9.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this 
report or its recommendations.

10. Conclusion

10.1 This report provides an update on the AICP’s Enhanced Care and 
Support work stream to date and invites members to note this 
information. 

If there are any queries on this report please contact: 
 
Ola Akinlade, Commissioning Project Manager, Nursing and Quality Directorate, 
Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group on 0203 049 3210 or 
Olawale.akinlade@nhs.net. 

mailto:Olawale.akinlade@nhs.net


1 Purpose

The draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions for Adults provides Members 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an opportunity to comment on the key 
areas for Lewisham’s commissioning work for 2016/17.

2. Recommendations

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to:

1. Note the progress made in developing the Partnership Commissioning 
Intentions for Adults, which has been overseen by the Adult Joint 
Strategic Commissioning Group.

2. Provide comment on the proposed key areas for Lewisham’s 
commissioning work programme for 2016/17, which have been 
informed by the Adult Integrated Care Programme. (Appendix A 
Section 8)

3. Consider whether the draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions have 
taken sufficient account of the refreshed Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.

3. Policy Context

3.1 The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board is focused on delivering 
the strategic vision for Lewisham as established in ‘Shaping our 
Future’, Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy and in the 
refreshed Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

3.2 The work of the Health and Wellbeing Board directly contributes to the 
priority outcome of ‘Shaping our Future’ that communities in Lewisham 
should be healthy, active and enjoyable - where people can actively 
participate in maintaining and improving their health and wellbeing

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions for Adults
2016/17

Contributors Executive Director for Community 
Services and Chief Officer, Lewisham 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Item No. 4

Class Part 1  Date: 24 November 2015



3.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 placed a duty on Health and 
Wellbeing Boards to prepare and publish joint health and wellbeing 
strategies to meet the needs identified in their joint strategic needs 
assessments.

3.4 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 also places a specific duty on the 
CCG to include the relevant Health and Wellbeing Board in the 
preparation of their commissioning plans and when making significant 
revisions to those plans.  

3.5 The Health and Wellbeing Board must be provided with a draft 
commissioning plan and the CCG must consult the Board as to 
whether it considers the plan takes proper account of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.  The Health and Wellbeing Board’s opinion on the 
final plan must be published within the operating plan.  Health and 
Wellbeing Boards can refer plans to NHS England if they do not think 
the joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy has been taken into proper 
account.

3.6 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 also requires Health and 
Wellbeing Boards to encourage persons who arrange for the provision 
of any health or social services in the area to work in an integrated 
manner, for the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the 
area.

4. Background  

4.1 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are required to produce their 
Commissioning Intentions annually.  It is a public document and should 
provide a formal statement about the CCG’s intentions to improve the 
commissioning of local health services.  

4.2 In Lewisham, the Adult Joint Strategic Commissioning Group is 
responsible to oversee the development of the Commissioning 
Intentions for Adults, working closely with the Adult Integrated Care 
Programme Board (AICPB), Adult Social Care (ASC), Public Health 
and Lewisham CCG.

4.3 Last year was the first time that a joint Commissioning Intentions was 
produced covering all local health and care services for Lewisham 
people.  It was a single plan for the two year period 2015/16 and 
2016/17, with one set of priorities for all commissioned services across 
the CCG and Adult Social Care in Lewisham.  

4.4 The joint Commissioning Intentions were developed within the 
framework set out by the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  The 
refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy was approved by the Health 
and Wellbeing Board in September 2015, which highlighted three 
interdependent broader priorities for 2015-18:



 To accelerate the integration of care
 To shift the focus of action and resources to preventing ill health 

and wellbeing and promoting independence
 Supporting our communities and families to become healthy and 

resilient

4.5 This year’s Partnership Commissioning Intentions are a continuation of 
the journey to deliver the above strategic priorities and take forward the 
work started in 2011, to develop and deliver an integrated health and 
social care model. 

4.6 Our Partnership Commissioning Intentions for 2016/17, builds on last 
year’s Joint Commissioning Intentions, and has been informed greatly 
by the feedback received from the public during 2015, the work of the 
Adult Integrated Care Programme Board and the South East London - 
Our Healthier South East London consolidated strategy.

4.7 We have titled this year’s Commissioning Intentions as ‘Partnership 
Commissioning Intentions’ to emphasise that our intent is to strengthen 
our partnership work with the public and our local partners.  In 2016/17 
the focus will be on how we will work differently and more effectively 
with the public and our providers to implement a stepped change in the 
way health and care is delivered in Lewisham.  

4.8 This year the Commissioning Intentions is a refresh of the second year 
of the last year’s Joint Commissioning Intentions, thus it covers only 
one year - 2016/17.  The Commissioning Intentions is in two parts - for 
Adults and for Children and Young People.  The draft Children and 
Young People Plan was considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board 
in September 2015. 

4.9 It should be noted that the NHS national planning guidance for 2016/17 
has not been received yet, which may change the financial context and 
assumptions for Lewisham CCG and local health providers.

4.10 These Partnership Commissioning Intentions are still work in progress, 
to be finalised in November 2015.  Also further work is required to 
identify the measures which will be used to assess our success and the 
level of ambition in both the short and medium term.

5. Public Engagement 

5.1 There has been ongoing public engagement and involvement in 
developing this year’s Partnership Commissioning Intentions.  Last 
year’s three months public engagement exercise on the Joint 
Commissioning Intentions 1 was an opportunity for people to give us 
their views.  Generally people supported the joint Commissioning 

1 http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Pages/Have-your-say

http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Pages/Have-your-say


Intentions, while highlighting some of the challenges and/or 
opportunities ahead in delivering these commissioning priorities.

5.2  Below is a summary of what local people told us:

Prevention and early intervention

o Overall people supported the priorities around prevention and early 
intervention.

o More self-care was supported, so long as the right services are still in 
place to support people to manage their conditions, when they need 
them.

o There are a number of ways the NHS and the Council could be more 
proactive about sharing health and wellbeing information with local 
people, and this should include a focus on providing more information 
on related health issues like benefits, social isolation. 

o There is a need to provide more health and wellbeing services and 
support for carers as an important resource for keeping people well.

o The need to recognise mental health as the starting point to keeping 
people physically well.

GP Practices and Primary Care

o GP accessibility was a recurring theme in the responses to the 
priorities around GP practice and primary care.

o There is a need to provide more information on accessing mental 
health services.

o It was felt that ongoing training (i.e. continuing professional 
development) for GPs and practice staff was an important factor in 
improving the patient experience of primary care services.

Neighbourhood care networks for adults

The importance of providing an ongoing programme of training for staff 
in these neighbourhood roles was highlighted, to assure delivery of 
safe, person-centred services, which also meet the needs of groups 
that do not easily engage with local services.

Enhanced care and support for adults

o Improve access to mental health services and resources, with 
better signposting to the full range of services available.  



o Poor experiences of existing re-ablement services should be taken 
into account when planning new services.

o Services should consider the health needs of newly arrived asylum 
seekers and refugees.

5.3 Also there have been ongoing public engagement events including 
recently the Phoenix Festival (May 2015), ‘Your Voice Counts (July 
2015), Lewisham Peoples Day (July 2015) and Lark in the Park (July 
2015).

5.4 This continuous public involvement in planning has strengthened the 
depth of the public’s understanding of the challenges in Lewisham and 
the recognition that the health and care system needs to change.

6. Commissioners’ proposals for Adults health and care

6.1 Lewisham health and care face some major, complex challenges which 
include:

 too many people die early from deaths that could have been 
prevented by healthier lifestyles

 too many people live with preventable ill health
 there are significant health inequalities in Lewisham
 demand for care is increasing, both in volume and complexity
 high quality care is not consistently available all the time
 there is a CCG and ASC commissioning funding gap of £15.6 

million between the projected spending requirements and 
resources expected to be available in 2016/17

For further details about these challenges see Appendix A sections 3 
and 4

6.2 The Partnership Commissioning Intentions summarises what we, the 
commissioners working with Lewisham people and providers, are doing 
to respond to these challenges.  For each of the following six priorities 
the Partnership Commissioning Intentions sets out the proposed key 
areas for our partnership commissioning work now and in 2016/17:

 Prevention and Early Intervention
 GP practices and Primary Care
 Neighbourhood Community Teams
 Enhanced Care and Support
 Urgent and Emergency Care
 Planned Care

6.3 There is an additional section on the supporting strategies – Workforce 
Information Technology and Estates – which are key to enabling 
successful delivery of change across the health and care system



For further details see Appendix A section 8

7. Financial implications

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.   Any 
proposed activity or commitments arising from the Partnership 
Commissioning Intentions for 2016/17 will be agreed by the delivery 
organisation concerned and will be subject to confirmation of 
resources.  The funding available will take account of any required 
savings or any other reduction in overall budgets and national NHS 
planning guidance, not yet received.

8. Legal implications

8.1 As part of their statutory functions, Members are required to encourage 
persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services 
in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of 
advancing the health and wellbeing of the area, and to encourage 
persons who arrange for the provision of health-related services in the 
area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board.

8.2 Where there is an integration of services and/or joint funding, then this 
is dealt with under an agreement under Section 75 NHS Act 2006 
which sets out the governance arrangements for the delivery of service 
and, where relevant, any delegation of functions from one party to 
another and the respective budget contributions of the local authority 
and the CCG in relation to the services.

8.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places a specific duty on the 
CCG to include the relevant Health and Wellbeing Board in the 
preparation of their commissioning plans and when making significant 
revisions to those plans.  The Health and Wellbeing Board must be 
provided with a draft plan and consult the Board as to whether it 
considers the plan takes proper account of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  The Health and Wellbeing Board’s opinion on the final plan 
must be published within the commissioning plan.  Health and 
Wellbeing Boards can refer plans to NHS England if they do not think 
the joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is being taken into proper 
account.

9. Crime and Disorder Implications

9.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this
report or its recommendations.

10. Equalities Implications

10.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EQiA) has been undertaken of last 
year’s Joint Commissioning Intentions for 2015/16 and 2016/17.



10.2 The Adult Joint Strategic Commissioning has considered the summary 
recommendations of the Equality Impact Assessment and will be 
ensuring that these recommendations inform the more detailed 
Equality Impact Assessment programme to be undertaken by the Adult 
Integrated Care Programme.

11. Environmental Implications

11.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this 
report or its recommendations.

12. Conclusion

12.1  This report provides an update on the development of  the Partnership 
Commissioning Intentions for Adults and invites members to comment on the 
draft commissioning priorities for 2016/17 

Background Documents

Refreshed Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38499/Item%203%20He
alth%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Draft%20Refresh%2022%2009%
2015.pdf

Joint Commissioning Intentions 2015/16 and 2016/17 - 
www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/get-
involved/Commissioning%20intentions%20documents/Summary%20commiss
ioning%20Intentions%20summary.pdf

Draft Children and Young People Plan 2015-2018
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38511/Item%207B%20Dr
aft%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20Plan%202015-
18%2022%2009%2015.pdf

If you have any difficulty in opening the links above or those within the body of 
the report, please contact Andy Thomas (andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk or
 020 8314 9996, who will assist

If there are any queries on this report please contact:  

Susanna Masters, Corporate Director, NHS Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group by email on susanna.masters@nhs.net

Or Dee Carlin, Head of Joint Commissioning
NHS Lewisham CCG & LB Lewisham by email dee.carlin@nhs.net

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38499/Item%203%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Draft%20Refresh%2022%2009%2015.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38499/Item%203%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Draft%20Refresh%2022%2009%2015.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38499/Item%203%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Draft%20Refresh%2022%2009%2015.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Commissioning%20intentions%20documents/Summary%20commissioning%20Intentions%20summary.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Commissioning%20intentions%20documents/Summary%20commissioning%20Intentions%20summary.pdf
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Commissioning%20intentions%20documents/Summary%20commissioning%20Intentions%20summary.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38511/Item%207B%20Draft%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20Plan%202015-18%2022%2009%2015.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38511/Item%207B%20Draft%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20Plan%202015-18%2022%2009%2015.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s38511/Item%207B%20Draft%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20Plan%202015-18%2022%2009%2015.pdf
mailto:andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:susanna.masters@nhs.net
mailto:dee.carlin@nhs.net


Draft Lewisham Partnership 

Commissioning Intentions for Adults

2016 - 20172016 - 2017

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
1



Contents

1. Foreword 3

2. Current Position 4

3. Local Challenges 5

4. The Financial Challenge 6

5. Partnership approach with the Public 7

6. Partnership approach with Providers 8

7. Our Partnership Approach – Neighbourhood Care Networks 9

8. Draft Partnership Commissioning Priorities for  2016//17:

Page No.

8. Draft Partnership Commissioning Priorities for  2016//17:

8.1 Prevention and Early Intervention 11

8.2 GP practices and Primary Care 14

8.3 Neighbourhood Community Teams 17

8.4 Enhanced Care and Support 20

8.5 Urgent and Emergency Care 23

8.6 Planned Care 25

8.7 Supporting Strategies – Workforce, Information Technology and Estates 27

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
2



1.  Foreword
NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Lewisham Council are responsible for commissioning (planning, 
buying and monitoring) the majority of health and care services in Lewisham.  

This document sets out our plans to commission health and care for Lewisham adults in 2016/17.  There are separate 
Commissioning Intentions for children and young people’s services.  

This year’s Partnership Commissioning Intentions are a continuation of the  journey to deliver our strategic vision for 
‘Health and Wellbeing for all Lewisham residents by 2023’,  which started in 2011, when the Council,  the Lewisham 
Primary Care Trust and the former Lewisham Healthcare Trust agreed to develop and deliver an integrated health and 
social care model. 

Our Partnership Commissioning Intentions for 2016/17, builds on last year’s  Joint Commissioning Intentions, and has 
been informed greatly by the feedback received from the public during 2015, the recently refreshed Lewisham Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and the  work of the Adult Integrated Care Programme Board on developing and implementing and Wellbeing Strategy and the  work of the Adult Integrated Care Programme Board on developing and implementing 
Neighbourhood Care Networks (section 7).

In 2016/17, our focus will be on how we can strengthen partnership working with the public (section 5) and with local 
providers (section 6). We believe that by working together, as equal partners, real solutions can be found to the 
complex challenges we face, to make sure our health and care systems are delivering the right care in the right place 
and at the right time to meet local needs.

We would welcome  your views on this year’s Partnership Commissioning Intentions  - please see further information 
on how to be more involved in our commissioning work at www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/our-approach

or at www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/get-involved

Aileen Buckton - Executive Director for Community Services, Lewisham Council

Dr Marc Rowland - Chair, NHS Lewisham CCG

Dr Danny Ruta - Director of Public Health, Lewisham Council

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
3



2.  Current Position
Lewisham has a growing population, projected to 
increase from 292,000 to 318,000 by 2021, and is the 
15th most ethnically diverse local authority in England -
46% of the population are from black and ethnic 
minority groups. Around 27,400 residents are above 65 
years of age and over 3,650 are aged over 85 years. This 
latter group is often the most complex and therefore 
bears a very high proportion of care costs.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 ranks Lewisham 
48th of 326 districts in England and 10th out of 33 
London boroughs.  People living in the most deprived 
areas have poorer health outcomes and lower life 
expectancy compared to the England average.

There have been some improvements in people’s health 
and care in Lewisham.  People in Lewisham are living 
longer because of the success in managing particular 
conditions such as stroke, heart disease and respiratory 
disease.  

Overall more people who use Adult Social Care (ASC) 
services in Lewisham say they are extremely or very 
satisfied with their services compared to other London 
Boroughs.  More people in contact with mental health 
services in Lewisham are living independently with or 
without support in comparison to the national average

More information is available about Lewisham’s 

Social housing comprises just over a third of all 
households in the borough. The private rented sector, 
the fastest growing housing sector in the borough, 
comprises some 24% of all households. There are nearly 
40,000 one person households in Lewisham.

Lewisham has over 800 active voluntary and community 
sector organisations and more than 200 individual faith 
groups. All these groups and many others help to 
strengthen our communities by galvanising our citizens, 
addressing local concerns and advocating on behalf of 
some of the most vulnerable in society.

More information is available about Lewisham’s 
population at www.lewishamjsna.org.uk

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
4



3.  Local Challenges

Too many people die early from deaths that could have been 
prevented by healthier lifestyles:

• Cancer is now the main cause of death (28.3%), followed 
by circulatory disease (28.1%), respiratory disease 
(13.8%) and dementia (9%) in Lewisham.  

• Life expectancy has been improving.  The life expectancy 
at birth was 76.7 years for women and 72.3 years for 
men in 1991-93; in 2011-13 it had increased to 83.0 
years and 78.7 years respectively, however, for both men 
and women life expectancy remains lower than the 
England average. 

• There are even greater differences in life expectancy 
rates in different wards within the borough.  Life 
expectancy is 6.6 years lower for men and women in the 
most deprived areas of Lewisham than in the least 
deprived areas. 

Too many people live with preventable ill health: 

• More people have one or more long term conditions - 29% 
of Lewisham’s population have 1 LTC;  about 86,570 
people.

• The likelihood of having a long term condition, including 
dementia increases with age; over 50% of those aged over 
75 are likely to have two or more long term conditions

Demand for care is increasing, both in numbers and complexity:

• 14% of people in Lewisham identify themselves as having 
limitations in carrying out day-to-day activities. That is 
equivalent to around 38,000 people.

• Lewisham’s over 60 population is projected to increase by 
around 15,000 by 2040 which will increase demand for the 
health and care services deprived areas. 

There are significant health inequalities in Lewisham:

• People living in the most deprived wards, in Lewisham, 
have poorer health outcomes and lower life expectancy 
compared to England’s average.  For example  
premature death rates are significantly higher in 
Lewisham Central, Bellingham and New Cross wards 
compared to the Lewisham average. 

• Health inequalities should also be considered by ethnic 
group. Lewisham is one of the most ethnically diverse 
areas of the country. The Department of Health has 
highlighted ethnicity as the major inequality in Severe 
Mental Illness. Black residents are disproportionately 
over-represented in mental health admissions.

health and care services 

High quality care is not consistently available all the time - too 
often, the quality of care that patients receive and the outcome 
of their treatment depends on when and where they access 
health  and care services.  

More information is available about trends in health and care at:

Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Add link

London Borough of Lewisham - Local Account 2014 - 2015 
www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare

CCG’s Strategic Plan 2013 – 18 

www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-plans

Our Healthier South East London’s Strategy -
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
5



4.  The Financial Challenge
In England, a major challenge is that the amount of 

money we have to commission services is not keeping 

pace with demand and the rising costs of providing care. 

The costs of care are rising much faster because we are 

now caring for more people with more complex 

conditions and people are living longer. 

Collectively the CCG, Adult Social Care (ASC) and Public 

Health have nearly £472.9 million to commission advice 

support and care on behalf of Lewisham people.  

We are facing a funding gap of £15.6 million between the 

2016/17* 2017/18*

Estimated revenue budget**

• CCG

• ASC and Public Health

Total 

£399.4m

£ 73.5m

£404.2

£ 69.3m

Total estimated health and care 

revenue budget £472.9m £473.5m

Net savings requirements

• CCG

• ASC and Public Health

£11.4m

£ 4.2m

£10.9m

£ 5.7m

Total health and care savings We are facing a funding gap of £15.6 million between the 

projected spending requirements and expected 

resources available in 2016/17 and a further £16.6m 

in2017/18 – see summary table opposite.  

In addition local providers will be required to make 

efficiency savings.  This financial gap, however, cannot be 

addressed by efficiency and productivity improvements 

only. 

With the limited resources available to us, and demand 

increasing, the way we deliver health and social care will 

have to change.

Total health and care savings 

requirements £ 15.6m £16.6m

*split between years to be confirmed

**This excludes additional external funding and NHS 

revenue budgets for 2016/17 remain estimates ahead of 

NHSE planning guidance expected in December 2015.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
6

Better Care Fund – a pooled Better Care Fund has been 

established to provide resources to support a stepped 

change in the way that health and care is delivered  and to 

reduce the demand for hospital based care.



5.  Partnership approach with the Public

To address the above major challenges, the voice of the 

public and users is vital; effective public communication 

and engagement is essential.

We, the commissioners, are committed to developing 

stronger relationships with local people, community groups 

and voluntary organisations to connect with them in a 

more meaningful way.  

Lewisham people have said ‘prevention is better than cure’ 

- we plan to have a much greater focus on prevention (see 

section 8.1 on Prevention and Early Intervention) to make 

choosing healthy living easier for the individual.   We 

Lewisham people want to build strong communities 
to give support to their neighbours.  Specifically 
people have said that the role of the voluntary and 
community sector needs to be considered in 
supporting delivery of services, but also in reaching 
out to more people. 

We want to work with local communities to harness 
the energy, skills and knowledge of local communities 
to reach out to all people, including marginalised 
groups, to co-design and co-deliver local 
neighbourhood care networks (see section 7 on 
Neighbourhood Care Networks).  

choosing healthy living easier for the individual.   We 

intend to commission greater support for people to look 

after their physical and mental health and wellbeing, by 

reducing the levels of smoking, obesity, alcohol intake and 

inactivity, which would reduce many deaths each year that 

could have been avoided.  

Lewisham people have said ‘we want more control of our 

condition’  - we plan to improve the support provided to 

increase people’s  knowledge, skills and confidence to 

manage their own care and involve them in all decisions 

about their care and treatment, particularly those people 

with long term conditions (see section 8.3 on 

Neighbourhood Community Teams) and people with 

complex needs (see section 8.4 on Enhanced Care and 

Support). 

Only by working in partnership with individual, local 
communities, voluntary organisation and Healthwatch 
will commissioners be able to ensure that the advice, 
support and care meets the diverse needs of 
individuals and communities.

More Information is available on the feedback from Lewisham People 
at:

Your Voice Counts – add link

‘Have your say’ a summary of public feedback on the Joint 
Commissioning Intentions for 2015/16 and 2016/17 – add link

London Borough of Lewisham - Local Account 2014 - 2015 
www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare

CCG’s AGM www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/news-
publications/Pages/Lewisham-CCG-AGM---slides.aspx

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
7



6.  Partnership approach with Providers
In parallel to partnership working with the public, we 
wish to work in partnership with a broad range of 
statutory, voluntary and independent sector providers 
to tackle the way historically heath and care has been 
provided in a fragmented and disjointed way.

Many people have told us that their care is not joined 
up between different services.  Service users and carers 
find it frustrating to have to continually provide the 
same information to different people.  People with 
complex conditions are often passed from one service 
to another while the services do not always 
communicate with each other. 

We plan to support providers to work in greater 

• Well led organisations with strong leadership to 
support their staff to change the way in which care 
is delivered across the health and care system to 
provide person centred care (see section 8.7)

• Commissioning more care in the community, as 
part of developing our four Neighbourhood Care 
Networks.  We are planning that more 
personalised, co-ordinated care will be provided by 
our primary care and neighbourhood community 
care teams, with extra enhanced care and support 
to help people to live independently in the 
community.

• Improving accessibility to advice, support and care 
We plan to support providers to work in greater 
collaboration with other providers, to reduce the 
traditional barriers between organisations to develop 
‘One Lewisham Health and Social Care System’ which is 
sustainable across the health and care services.

This will require:

• Joining up services between primary care, 
community services and hospital care, between 
physical and mental health and between health 
and social care, supported by different 
commissioning approaches .

• Improving accessibility to advice, support and care 
so that a greater proportion of care is proactive 
and planned, thereby reducing the levels of 
unplanned and emergency hospital admissions 
which often result in poorer health outcomes. 

• Commissioning less emergency inpatient care in 
acute and mental health hospitals as we plan that 
there will be a reduction in demand for 
emergency admissions due to there being earlier 
intervention and greater support based in the 
community.  

• Some investment to develop community based 
care delivered by Neighbourhood Care Networks 
while in parallel hospital care is transformed.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
8



7.  Our Partnership Approach –

Neighbourhood Care Networks

During the last year we have been putting in 
in place the foundations for Neighbourhood 
Care Networks based in the four local 
neighbourhood,  across prevention and early 
intervention, neighbourhood community 
teams, general practice and enhanced care 
and support, on which we can build – see 
map on the next page

Each Neighbourhood has different 
populations with different requirements, so 
there is no single blueprint for the 

What are we doing What the benefits

Improving quality and maintaining safety of today’s 

services – we will continue to focus on  greater

consistency in the quality of care 

You will have a more positive 

experience and services will be more 

reliable and of higher quality

Helping people to find the right information and to 

make decisions about their own health and care

You will be more able to help yourself 

to stay healthy and do more self-care

Places users at the heart - providing personalised 

advice , support and care

You will be able to direct your own 

care

Shifting the focus of services to prevention - there Your problems will be dealt with at an there is no single blueprint for the 
Neighbourhood Care Networks. 

We believe by fully involving and engaging 
with service users, carers and other 
voluntary and community organisations in 
the co-design and co delivery that each 
Neighbourhood Care Network may be 
different. 

We intend to ensure the following benefits 
to the population will be delivered, over 
time,  by each  Neighbourhood Care 
Network – see  summary table opposite 

Shifting the focus of services to prevention - there 

will be greater accessibility to preventative and 

early intervention support

Your problems will be dealt with at an 

early stage to stop them from getting 

worse

Developing the range of local primary and 

community based services in the Borough with a 

shift to out of hospital care

You will have a greater choice of high 

quality services closer to your home

Joining up health and social care services - there 

will be greater alignment of physical and mental 

health and social care, with the development of 

neighbourhood care networks

You will find your way between 

services and support more easily, with 

a quicker response to your needs 

Targeting support to vulnerable people, their 

families and carers – there will be more effective 

coordination of  care for people with complex 

conditions

It will be easier for everyone to remain 

independent for longer

Improving accessibility to planned care and making 

it easier to access urgent emergency care.

Services will be accessible and quick to 

respond to you when you need them

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
9



Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Care Networks 

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
10



8.1  Prevention and Early Intervention

Why this is a priority

In Lewisham we have higher rates of the key risk factors for the major diseases.  Reducing levels of smoking, obesity, 
alcohol intake and inactivity would contribute to improving health outcomes for Lewisham residents:

• Nearly 21% of adults in Lewisham smoke (about 59,800 people) which is above both the London (17.3%) and 
national (18.4%) averages.  Smoking levels are even higher among people with mental health problems and 
routine, manual workers and lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender communities.

• The alcohol profile for Lewisham suggests that around 7% of the population who drink alcohol in Lewisham 
engage in high risk drinking. This equates to around 12,300 people.

• 61% of the adult population are overweight or obese -approximately 137,000 people in Lewisham.  

• Over a quarter of adult residents are physically inactive  - approximately  56,000 people in Lewisham.

• The number of people with high blood pressure (hypertension) in Lewisham is 11.3% (33,700 people) which is • The number of people with high blood pressure (hypertension) in Lewisham is 11.3% (33,700 people) which is 
lower than the national average of 13.7% (2013/14). However, the growth has been 9% in Lewisham since 
2009/10 compared with just 2% nationally and there are high levels of undiagnosed people with hypertension.

The rate of emergency hospital admissions for accidental falls also is significantly higher in Lewisham than the England 
average.

A key message from the ‘Your Voice Counts’ engagement event in July 2015 was ‘prevention is better than cure’. Local 
people want a greater focus on prevention through, for example, proactive care and strong communities

Lewisham people also said that they do not always understand where to get help or how the health and care system 
works.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
11



8.1  Prevention and Early Intervention
Priority Aim
• To encourage people to live well, stay healthy and independent longer

• To connect people to services and communities across the borough to promote physical and mental 
wellbeing; where people recognise their personal strength and abilities as well as those of their families, 
friends and communities.

What we are doing

Supporting people to look after and improve their own health and wellbeing by:

• providing clear information and advice about local health and social care services and information on benefits, 
debt and financial management through the redesign and promotion of the Social Care and Health website and debt and financial management through the redesign and promotion of the Social Care and Health website and 
directory of services

• making it simpler to access the right services by developing a ‘Single Point of Access’ which will provide the initial 
point of access for all district nursing and social work services

• making it easier to live a healthier lifestyle through increased access to advice and support to stop smoking, 
reduce alcohol misuse, promote mental and emotional well being, healthier eating, increase physical activity and 
improved sexual health. This will be through a range of interventions including face to face support, mobile 
applications and the internet

• ensuring that carers’ advice, assessment and support meets their needs. Working with Carers Lewisham to enable 
carers to continue caring, but also to lead independent lives

Supporting people to live in their own homes safely and independently by :

• piloting a new contact and referral approach which will provide a quick and simple way for vulnerable older 
people, and those supporting them, to access a wide range of services to support safe and independent living

• redesigning fall’s prevention and management services by establishing a community based falls team and 
improving interventions for those at risk of falling

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
12



8.1  Prevention and Early Intervention
What we are doing (continue)

Enhancing capacity in the community and voluntary sector to support a greater focus on prevention and early 
intervention by working with a range of voluntary and community sector organisations including Voluntary Action 
Lewisham (VAL) and Healthwatch Lewisham, building on work at a neighbourhood level through the Community 
Connections Team, health trainers and area based initiatives such as Well Bellingham and the North Lewisham Health 
improvement programme.

Developing low level proactive services and support, to enable people to continue to live in their own homes:

• providing the appropriate equipment at the right time 

• undertaking minor housing improvements and adaptations

Implementing a  new service model for sexual health.  The London Sexual Health Transformation Programme has set 
out a Case for Change based on a needs assessment and review of current services.  It is recognised that significant 
change is required to the historic models and patterns of service delivery.  It is anticipated that by working together at 
both a London and SE London level the services for residents can be improved to be more responsive and easier to 
navigate whilst also being more cost effective.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
13



8.2 General Practices and Primary Care

Why this is a priority

Public satisfaction with general practice remains high, but satisfaction with access is poor.  People find it hard to get GP 
appointment when they need it and sometimes the length of appointment time is considered to be too short for 
complex issues.  Accessing GP services has been a recurring theme at public engagement events in Lewisham. 

In Lewisham some GP practices achieve excellent clinical outcomes and patient satisfaction, but there is significant 
variation in performance and quality. GPs have an important role in the earlier diagnosis for people with long term 
conditions to help them get better sooner and prevent their illness becoming  more serious.  The number of people 
with long term conditions is increasing in Lewisham.

Nationally GPs’ workloads are increasing, with rising number of patients and growing complexity of their health needs

The public feedback on the service provided by pharmacists has been positive.

Transforming Primary Care in London: A Strategic Commissioning Framework outlines a new vision for general practice, 
sets out a new specification (‘patient offer’) around three aspects of care that matters most to patients:

• Proactive care

• Accessible care

• Coordinated care

Lewisham has higher rates for emergency admissions  which usually would not  be admitted to hospital (for example, 
conditions like influenza and pneumonia which can be preventable by vaccine, kidney and urinary tract infections, 
ulcers  and  Ear, Nose and Throat Infections, dental conditions).  Lewisham’s rate for these types of emergency 
admissions is 1005.9 per 100,000 population in comparison to the London rate of 717.5 per 100,000 and the England 
rate is 808.5 per 100,000 (2014-15) . 

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
14



8.2 General Practices and Primary Care

Priority aim
• To provide strong GP practices and primary care  focused on delivering continuity of care which is 

proactive, co-ordinated and accessible to deliver improved outcomes, working in partnership with patients 
and in collaboration with other practices and neighbourhood community teams

What we are doing
Proactive care – primary care supporting and improving the health and wellbeing of its population and keeping people 
healthy by:

• increasing the earlier identification and diagnosis for people with Long Term Conditions  - e.g. diabetes, 
Cardiovascular-disease (CVD), chronic-obstructive pulmonary-disease (COPD), dementia and cancerCardiovascular-disease (CVD), chronic-obstructive pulmonary-disease (COPD), dementia and cancer

• promoting immunisations to protect people from serious illness and preventing the need for admission to hospital

• Consolidating the current service offer for psychological support for individuals with long term condition through 
the expanded remit of Psychological Therapy services 

• Promoting health through community pharmacies – healthy pharmacy champions and enhanced public services 
such as sexual health, smoking, health checks, drug misuse, as well as referring all heavily addicted smokers to 
stop smoking services

Accessible Care – primary care providing a personalised responsive, timely and accessible service by:

• reviewing and simplifying arrangements for the provision of extended primary care access as part of developing a 
new integrated urgent and emergency care offer to patients locally – (see Urgent Care section)

• increasing the utilisation of online services, specifically for booking an appointment, requesting a repeat 
prescription and accessing medical records

• improving the co-ordination with the wider primary care team – with community pharmacists (e.g.  Pharmacy First 
for minor illnesses), general dental practitioners and optometrists

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
15



8.2 General Practices and Primary Care

What we are doing (Continue)

Coordinated Care – primary care providing patient centred, coordinated care and GP/patient continuity by:

• improving the management and consistency of care for people with Long Term Conditions  - e.g. diabetes, 
cardiovascular-disease (CVD), chronic-obstructive pulmonary-disease (COPD), dementia, cancer and those at the 
end of life – and the behaviour changes towards healthier lifestyles

• promoting a proactive and holistic care approach working with the person, their carers and their families using risk 
profiling and collaborative care planning methodologies as part of the Neighbourhood Community Teams

• providing greater support to patients to self-manage their long term conditions by the re-procurement of 
structured education for COPD and type 2 diabetes

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
16



8.3 Neighbourhood Community Teams 
Why this is a priority

In Lewisham people are living longer - there are around 27,400 residents are above 65 years of age and over 3,650 are 
aged over 85 years. An ageing population will increase the number of people with multiple chronic conditions and a 
growing number of functional and cognitive impairments.  People over 85 years often have complex needs and have 
high use of health and care services.

The high premature mortality rates in Lewisham suggest that the proportion of people with LTCs who have poorly 
controlled disease is higher than elsewhere.

An increasing number of individuals need support to effectively managing their long term conditions.  Current data 
suggests that:

• 8.6% of the population have 3 or more LTCs (about 25,700 people).• 8.6% of the population have 3 or more LTCs (about 25,700 people).

• 11.9% of the population have 2 LTCs (about 35,520 people).

• 29% of the population have 1 LTC  (about 86,570 people).

• Rates are rising fastest for Type 2 Diabetes and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD).

• Lewisham’s Black and Minority Ethnic communities have a greater risk from health conditions such as diabetes, 
hypertension and stroke.

• Level of mental health needs for both common and severe mental illness are significantly higher for adults in 
Lewisham compared to London and England.

Many people have fedback that they would like to have greater involvement and control of their own care and be 
supported to do more to care for themselves.

People want more joined up services between health and care with better information and advice to enable them to 
navigate to the right service at the right time; a common theme at public engagement events.

People have said also that there needs to be more support for people with mental health issues in Lewisham.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
17



8.3 Neighbourhood Community Teams 

Priority Aim
• To provide co-ordinated support and care for people with long term physical and/or mental health 

conditions and vulnerable people, with their carers, families and communities to effectively manage their 
own care, where possible, and maintain their independence

What we are doing

Improving the effectiveness of Neighbourhood Community Teams by working towards the implementation of joint 
processes, underpinned by sharing of information across professional groups and organisations by:

• piloting the co-location of a Neighbourhood Community Team in one of the neighbourhoods in Lewisham• piloting the co-location of a Neighbourhood Community Team in one of the neighbourhoods in Lewisham

• having a common approach to identifying and targeting those people who will most benefit from the support of 
multidisciplinary meetings

• developing case management and key workers for those people with complex needs to support them to be more 
in control of their own care

• working towards a single assessment process with shared health and social care records and reviews, which 
streamlines the care planning processes across health and care

• ensuring that the Neighbourhood Community Teams have appropriate quality assurance processes across health 
and social care including for safeguarding

• maximising the effectiveness of medication reviews to optimise the use of medication with the expansion of the 
Lewisham Integrated Medicines Optimisation Service (LIMOS)

Increase the scope of Neighbourhood Community Teams currently comprising district nursing, therapy staff and social 
worker staff, working with general practices, by aligning them more closely with community mental health teams.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
18



8.3 Neighbourhood Community Teams 
What we are doing (continue)

Improving the consistency in the quality of care and patient experience provided by District Nursing based on the key 
audit findings undertaken in January 2016 and by:

• implementing the outcomes of  the audit reviewing the wound care (tissue viability) service;

• re-procuring Lymphedema services

• implementing the recommendations of the January 2016 audit of District Nursing

Streamlining care pathways to ensure the right people at the right time receive the right support and care to manage 
their care better in the community, with an appropriate interface with the neighbourhood community teams, including 
for:

• people with dementia by ensuring timely access to assessment, diagnosis and community based support.

• people with diabetes by further developing the integration of specialist community and primary diabetic care and 
support across Lewisham, with the intention to commission the service differently in 2017/18

• Supporting individuals with common mental health disorders by Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(IAPT)

• Progressing the accepted recommendations from the Psychological therapies review (2015) to establish an 
integrated model of service 

• Enhancing the range of community mental health services and interventions that are tailor-made to the needs of 
individuals and their aspirations for long term recovery and providing support to reduce relapse and need for 
hospital re-admission and  the reliance on adult mental health inpatient beds

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
19



8.4 Enhanced Care and Support

Why this is a priority

The Lewisham population is projected to grow across all age groups over the next five years.  Over the next fifteen 
years the greatest percentage increase will be in the 65+ age group.

The prevalence of having a long term condition increases with age and over fifty percent of those aged 75+ will have 
two or more long term conditions. The prevalence of dementia increases markedly with age, at about 1% of 65 to 69 
year olds and almost one in four people aged over 90. 

It is estimated that a third of patients admitted to hospital and care homes are already malnourished or at risk of 
malnutrition.

Lewisham has higher rates of emergency admissions rates for people over 65years in comparison to both London and 
England.   In 2012/13 almost 8,000 Lewisham people aged 65 years and over had an unplanned admission to hospital.   
The most common diagnosis for admission for the over 65 years was pneumonia, Urinary tract infections (UTI) and 
COPD.

This suggests that in Lewisham a higher number of people are being admitted to an acute bed who could have been 
seen and cared for at home and in a way that optimised their independence.

Patients sometimes stay longer in hospital because joined up arrangements for their care in the community on and 
after discharge have not been put in place.  This may be due to a number of reasons including co-ordination between 
different agencies, complexity of cases, patient and family wishes and provider capacity issues.  Early supported 
discharge and a stronger focus on rehabilitation could help patients return home more quickly and safely, preventing 
unnecessary delays. 

People in Lewisham strongly supported joined up health and social care (including the voluntary sector).

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
20



8.4 Enhanced Care and Support

Priority Aim
• To develop a coherent and co-ordinated set of services which avoid unnecessary admissions into a hospital 

or care home and facilitate early discharge into the community /home.

• To develop integrated physical/ mental health & social care pathways above and beyond “core” services, 
delivered in the most appropriate setting for the service user which optimises levels of independence.

What we are doing

Commissioning a range of joined up community based health and care services to improve the hospital discharge 

planning process and the effective follow up care for individuals with complex needs by:

• improving discharge planning and the utilisation of community beds (e.g. Brymore House, Sapphire ward ), based 

on the findings of the 2015/16 discharge service audit 

• streamlining the NHS funded continuing care process by the development of single assessment and review 

pathway, offering Personal Health Budgets to eligible clients

• increasing 7 day working arrangement to increase discharges at weekends

• implementing a new service model for domiciliary care with a focus on outcome based commissioning and 

neighbourhood lead providers

• reviewing the Early Supported Discharge pathway for COPD - with the intention to commission the service 

differently in 2017/18

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
21



8.4 Enhanced Care and Support
What we are doing (continue)
Commissioning a wider range of joined up community based health and care services which avoid unnecessary admissions into a 
hospital (acute or community) or a care home and support frail older people to be cared for in their own homes, informed by the 
audits and the evaluations of the winter scheme pilots undertaken in 2015/16. This is likely to include:

• strengthening the capacity and capability of a set of co-ordinated community based services which are able to respond 
quickly when a patient’s conditions deteriorates and there is a need for rapid assessment and support.  This may include a 
short hospital visit

• developing the Ambulatory Care model, to provide assessment and same day discharges, on the Lewisham hospital site, 
working with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust

• piloting a community based ‘home ward’ providing enhanced health and care support for a short time to enable a person to 
stay at home with the necessary additional support

• providing additional support to care homes from GPs, community nursing, pharmacists, community dieticians and palliative 
care teams

• developing Extra Care services and Older Adults Housing to support people to stay in their own homes and out of residential 
and nursing care for longer. This will increase the availability of adapted and single level accommodation and the and nursing care for longer. This will increase the availability of adapted and single level accommodation and the 
commissioning of ‘care on demand’ services to support a higher range of needs than those traditionally associated with 
Extra Care. 

• expanding the scope of the Mental Health Crisis service to more effectively support people at times of crisis in line with the 
local Crisis Care Concordat plan.

• improving patient experience by enhancing the local service offer for mental health crisis care by establishing a whole 
system approach comprised of A&E Psychiatric Liaison, Peer Support & 24/7 Crisis Telephone Line 

• implementing a community malnutrition care pathway

Improving the quality of community based specialist care services within the Borough:

• reviewing the community specialist palliative care services to ensure all people  have equal access to high quality, 
responsive, 24/7 services, with the intention to commission the service differently in 2017/18

• reviewing the care provided for people with long term neurological conditions and acquired brain injury, specifically the 
balance of highly specialised rehabilitation bed provision, locally available specialist rehabilitation beds (2B) and community 
based neuro-therapy, as currently there is very limited provision capacity for people to receive specialist neuro rehabilitation
within south east London

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
22



8.5 Urgent and Emergency Care

Why this is a priority

Many people are going to A&E unnecessarily when other more suitable care is available.  Nationally nearly 40% of 
patients seen in A&E are discharged with no further input, indicating that potentially patients could have been seen 
away from A&E. Further analysis by the Royal College of Emergency Medicine estimates that 15% of patients attending 
A&E could have been seen elsewhere in the community.

Many A&E departments in London are having difficulty in meeting the target that 95% of people attending A&E should 
be seen within 4 hours. 

No hospital in south east London fully meets the quality standards for emergency care as set out by the London Quality 
Standards.  These include the requirement that senior doctors (consultants) are present on emergency wards a Standards.  These include the requirement that senior doctors (consultants) are present on emergency wards a 
minimum of 16 hours a day, 7 days a week.

Patients with mental ill health often have longer waits to see a psychiatric liaison nurse.

People in Lewisham want greater information on how to access services out of hours and at weekends.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
23



8.5 Urgent and Emergency Care

Priority aim
• Emergency care is for people who have a condition that is life-threatening or presents an immediate risk to 

long term health.  

• Urgent care services are for people who have a problem that needs attention the same day, but is not life-
threatening or life-changing

What we are doing

Developing an integrated Urgent and Emergency Care model and new offer to patients with primary care for Lewisham 
– this will operate 7 days a week over extended hours to offer a consistent Urgent Care service in the community.  This 
will provide an alternative to A&E, accessible by both patients and clinicians for non-acute urgent cases. The potential 
for co-locating these services with the Emergency Department will be explored further.
will provide an alternative to A&E, accessible by both patients and clinicians for non-acute urgent cases. The potential 
for co-locating these services with the Emergency Department will be explored further.

Support the development of Ambulatory Care models across the integrated Urgent and Emergency Care Model in order 
to treat patients more quickly in the most appropriate setting.  This should see an increase in the numbers of patients 
assessed, treated and discharged without the need for admission.

Improving quality standards in Lewisham’s A&E department, working with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust to 
achieve the London Quality Standards for emergency care and with the London Ambulance Service to improve 999 
response times. 

Undertaking the re-procurement of the south east London 111 service and the GP element of the Urgent Care Centre in 
line with the Urgent Care Model for Lewisham. 

Exploring the opportunities for supporting people who have both physical and mental health problems and who need a 
hospital admission by testing out the concept of an all age Mental Health hospital liaison service building on the Core 
24 Psychiatric Liaison Nursing service model.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
24



8.6 Planned Care

Why this is a priority

There are differences in patient outcomes and experiences, depending on where and when they access care, for 
example screening for breast and bowel cancer.

Time from first appointment, to diagnostic test, to getting results could be quicker and more efficient leading to earlier 
diagnosis and better outcomes for patients.

Patients could be better prepared for their operation/ procedure which would help patients to recover more quickly.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
25



8.6 Planned Care

Priority aim
• to ensure all people who need planned care the same quality of care and outcomes. Planned care is 

treatment that is planned in advance, such as an operation that is booked on a certain date

What are we doing

Improving the quality of hospital referrals and also patient experience of the appointment booking process (including 
proactive offer of choice) through the two year Referral Support Service pilot which will be fully evaluated to inform 
long term commissioning intentions.

Improving the patients’ experience and delivering value for money by re-specifying the service requirements and Improving the patients’ experience and delivering value for money by re-specifying the service requirements and 
evaluating the different models of commissioning and contracting for Musculoskeletal and Physiotherapy services. 

Improving cancer care, working in partnership with the London Cancer Alliance by:

• earlier detection of cancer and increasing access to diagnostics

• reducing the variation in cancer care in hospitals

• supporting people with and beyond cancer

Reviewing the following clinical planned care pathways with the intention to commission these services differently in 
2017/18:

• Dermatology

• Gynaecology

• Ophthalmology 

Reviewing the feasibility of fast tracking surgery for uncomplicated procedures in surgically fit patients e.g. 
cholecystectomy, hernia repairs, working with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust.

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
26



8.7  Supporting Strategies

Workforce Development 
A modern workforce will be crucial to the delivery of  person centred care, which is joined up across primary, 

secondary, community and social care.  ‘One Lewisham health and care system’ will not become a reality without a 

workforce with the right numbers, skills, values and behaviours to deliver it.

This will require commissioners and providers to develop and implement a system wide workforce development plan.  

The first steps have been taken already to:

• bring groups of multidisciplinary staff together to develop local approaches on how they can better work as a 

team underpinned shared values and behaviours

• undertake a stocktake of current provider development activity to identify areas of overlap between different • undertake a stocktake of current provider development activity to identify areas of overlap between different 

partner organisations, to achieve synergies and potential economies, and to identify shared or common priorities 

for further joint working

Our ambition is to:

• ensure that all staff are caring, compassionate and understand the importance of language and cultural 

differences

• develop new, effective ways of working using a different skill mix, introducing new roles and new competencies, 

• change the relationship between the workforce and the people who use our services and carers, supporting 

greater empowerment and independence

• Staff are supported to lead healthy lives themselves

• support an open culture of evaluation, learning and continuous professional development

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
27



8.7  Supporting Strategies

Information Technology

Our ambition is to maximise the potential of technological advances to support:

• people who use our services to have access their health care record electronically

• people to look after themselves and self-manage their long term conditions by providing more appropriate 
information  and greater use of technology

• people to navigate the right care at the right time with up to date information and advice about available 
support and services

• sharing information between care providers including GPs, pharmacists, secondary care clinicians, A&E, 
community care and social care.  Lewisham heath and care providers have collaborated to begin to roll out a 
virtual patient record (Connect Care) 

• mobile/remote working in the community  by a greater number of staff

Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions 

for Adults:  2016-2017
28

• mobile/remote working in the community  by a greater number of staff

However we will need to take steps to ensure that we build the capacity of all citizens to use Information Technology, 
like the internet and smartphones, and train our staff so that they are able to support those who are unable or 
unwilling to use new technologies 

Estates 
Our plan is to ensure that estates planning is embedded within the wider service planning.

Representatives from the CCG, LGT, Council and SlaM are in discussions on how better use could be made of the 
estates across the system to deliver new models of care. 

Estate audit work is being undertaken across the whole borough to support this work. 

. 



  

 

 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1  This report sets out the background in relation to health and care 
devolution in London and asks the Board to note that Lewisham has 
submitted an initial expression of interest in becoming a health and care 
devolution pilot.   

 
1.2  The report seeks the Board’s agreement to Chair’s action being taken to 
agree the London wide Collaborative Agreement and to both the Chair and 
Vice Chair overseeing any action to further progress Lewisham’s expression 
of interest.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1  Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 

i. Note the background to the current health and care devolution 
proposition as set out in section 3 and 4 of the attached paper 
(Annex A) which is to be presented to the CCG Governing Body 
on 12 November.  Members will note that the CCG paper seeks 
agreement to  Chair’s Action being taken to agree the London 
wide Collaborative Agreement.  In this case the Chair is Dr Marc 
Rowland, Chair of the CCG.   

 
ii. Agree that the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the 

Mayor Sir Steve Bullock, agrees the London wide Collaborative 
Agreement on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
ensures that it supports the overall aims of Lewisham’s Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and the further improvement and 
transformation of Lewisham’s health and care services.  

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Report Title 
 

Health and Care Devolution in London 

Contributors 
 

Aileen Buckton, Executive Director, 
Community Services,Lewisham Council 
Martin Wilkinson, Chief Officer, Lewisham 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

Item No. 5 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date:  24 November 2015 

Strategic 
Context 

Please see body of report 
 
 



  

iii. Agree that the Chair, Mayor Sir Steve Bullock, and Vice Chair, 
Dr Marc Rowland, oversee any action to further progress 
Lewisham’s expression of interest in becoming a health and 
care devolution pilot.  

 
3. Policy Context 
 
3.1  The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board is focused on delivering 
the strategic vision for Lewisham as established in Shaping our future – 
Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy and in Lewisham’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
3.2  The work of the Board directly contributes to Shaping our Future’s priority 
outcome that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, active and 
enjoyable - where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving 
their health and wellbeing. 
 
3.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 placed a duty on Health and 
Wellbeing Boards to prepare and publish joint health and wellbeing strategies 
to meet the needs identified in their joint strategic needs assessments.  
Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy was published in 2013.  
 
3.4 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 also requires Health and Wellbeing 
Boards to encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or 
social services in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of 
advancing the health and wellbeing of the area. 

 
4. Background   
 
4.1  The background to Devolution in London and the Collaborative 
Agreement are set out in more detail in the attached report to the CCG – 
attached as Annex A.   

 
4.2  In addition, at the event “Better Health for London: One Year on” and 
following discussions in the CCG networks and agreement in principle from 
the Borough leaders, it was made known that a series of devolution pilots 
would be announced before the end of December this year.  

 
4.3   Lewisham Council and Lewisham CCG have submitted an initial 
expression of interest in becoming a pilot.  However further work needs to be 
undertaken to determine the benefits to Lewisham of being a devolution pilot.  
This will include further consideration of how any freedoms or flexibilities that 
might be offered through the devolution pilot could assist Lewisham’s health 
and care partners in delivering the objectives of Lewisham’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Children and Young People’s Plan and the Adult 
Integration Programme, at increased pace and scale.  
 
4.4  Accordingly, members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked, at 
this stage in the process, to agree that the Chair and Vice Chair oversee any 
further work in relation to Lewisham’s expression of interest in the health and 



  

care devolution pilot.   A commitment to the Collaborative Agreement will also 
be sought explicitly from the Executives of Lewisham's Health and Care 
Partners.  
 

5. Financial implications 
 

5.1  There are no financial implications arising from this report.  The 
Collaborative Agreement does not commit any partner to any funding 
commitment.   In progressing work on the expression of interest, 
consideration will be given to any financial implications should Lewisham 
agree to participate. 
 
6. Legal implications 

 
6.1  As part of their statutory functions, Members are required to encourage 
persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in the 
area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health 
and wellbeing of the area, and to encourage persons who arrange for the 
provision of health-related services in its area to work closely with the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 
  
6.2  Where there is an integration of services and/or joint funding, then this is 
dealt with under an agreement under S 75 NHS Act 2006 which sets out the 
governance arrangements for the delivery of services, and where relevant any 
delegation of functions from one party to another and the respective budget 
contributions of the local authority and the CCG in relation to the services. 
  
6.3  The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places a specific duty on the CCG 
to include the relevant Health and Wellbeing Board in the preparation of their 
commissioning plans and when making significant revisions to those 
plans.  The Health and Wellbeing Board must be provided with a draft plan 
and consult the Board as to whether it considers the plan takes proper 
account of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  The Health and Wellbeing 
Board’s opinion on the final plan must be published within the commissioning 
plan.  Health and Wellbeing Boards can refer plans to NHS England if they do 
not think the joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is being taken into proper 
account. 
  
7.      Crime and Disorder Implications 
  
7.1  There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this 
report or its recommendations. 
  
8.     Equalities Implications  
  
8.1  There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report.  
  
9.     Environmental Implications 
  
9.1  There are no specific environmental implications arising from this 



  

report or its recommendations. 
  
10.     Conclusion 
  
10.1  This report sets out the background to the health and care devolution in 
London and Lewisham’s expression of interest in becoming a health and care 
devolution pilot.   
 
   
If there are any queries on this report please contact:   
Sarah Wainer | Programme Lead, Whole System Model of Care | Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group T: 020 3049 1880 | E: sarah.wainer@nhs.net  
  
 

mailto:sarah.wainer@lewisham.gov.uk


Annex A
A meeting of the Governing Body

12 November 2015

ENCLOSURE 
Health and Care devolution in London

RESPONSIBLE LEAD: Marc Rowland, CCG Chair  

AUTHOR: Susanna Masters, Corporate Director 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

The Governing Body is asked to agree to Chair’s Action to be taken to agree the London wide 
Collaborative Agreement to further the work on health and care devolution in London. 

SUMMARY

1. Background

Last autumn, the London Health Commission published ‘Better Health for London’, which set out the 
challenges facing the health and care system and proposed over 60 recommendations to improve 
health and care in our capital.  The aim is to make London the healthiest major global city within 10 
years.

Better Health for London emphasised the importance of different parts of the health and care 
system working more closely together.  This will require greater collaboration between the NHS and 
government bodies in London and also between organisations in different parts of our capital.

A One-Year-On Event was held in October 2015 to recognise the anniversary of publication of 
Better Health for London.  The Mayor of London, Boris Johnson, Simon Stevens, Professor Lord 
Ara Darzi along with NHS and local government leaders from across London described the 
significant progress that has been made to date and outline the opportunities for us to work together 
to improve the health of Londoners ever more closely in future.  A Better Health for London One-
Year-On Report setting out progress has been published and is available at 
www.london.gov.uk/priorities/health/publications/betterhealth-for-london-one-year-on

2. Taking forward system-wide transformation across London

CCGs across London, along with NHS England, have agreed a transformation programme
to support the ambition set out in ‘Better Health for London’, which is overseen by a London-wide 

http://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/health/publications/betterhealth-for-london-one-year-on


Interim Transformation Group.  The Transformation Programme comprises a suite of thirteen
programmes to address system-wide improvement, whilst recognising that change will be
delivered in individual boroughs, across boroughs and city-wide.  Planning for the next
steps for the Programme is now underway and will be considered at our next Strategy and 
Development Committee meeting in December 2015.

3. Devolution in London

London CCG’s with London Councils and Greater London Authority (GLA) colleagues are 
considering what opportunities might be made available through the further devolution of powers 
from central government.  

Devolution is viewed as a tool to unlock and accelerate greater integration and collaboration in 
London by better joining-up the planning and delivery of services and budgets at local level, 
removing barriers and maximising impact.  It is a potential opportunity to transfer powers and 
decisions, which would usually be taken by central Government or national bodies, to a more local 
level.  It aims to make health and care decisions more tailored to local areas and populations. 

It should be noted that Devolution does not affect the CCG’s statutory responsibilities as an 
organisation.  The intention is to devolve powers from central government to CCG/Borough, sub-
regional or pan-London level where this might help London move further faster with the health and 
care issues we are already trying to tackle.  

London Councils have produced a paper that sets out the draft London devolution and public 
service reform proposition, which describes proposals not only around health and care but also in 
relation to employment and skills, support to business, crime and justice and housing.  It is available 
on the website at http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/26910.  

London Councils submitted proposals to central government in September 2015, through the 
Comprehensive Spending Review Process.  In relation to the health and care elements, these have 
been shaped with London’s CCGs over the recent summer months.

The proposals are to enable an approach whereby those boroughs and CCGs who want to take 
forward pilots to bring central powers to a lower level would be able to work within an overall 
London-wide collaborative framework. This would allow others the option to take up the approach if 
it proves successful and beneficial. 

4. Collaborative Agreement

London is looking towards signing a London-wide collaborative agreement which will set out the  
collective agreement by partners to transform health and wellbeing outcomes, inequalities and 
services in London through new ways of working together and with the public.  It will establish high 
level design criteria to use for this transformation and to inform the devolution of health and care 
funding and decision-making in London.  

The Collaborative Agreement  also will provide a roadmap of agreed immediate actions by parties 
within existing powers and further outline steps that are subject to formal acceptance of devolution 

http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/26910


asks, legislative permissions and other future developments.  The London roadmap will include a 
series of pilots to test the viability of devolution in the London system.  Insights from the pilots and 
other major initiatives, including vanguards, will inform a strategic view of how greater collaboration, 
integration and devolution will support sustainable and high quality health and care in London.  

The Governing Body is asked to agree to Chair’s Action to be taken to agree the London 
wide Collaborative Agreement to further the work on health and care devolution in 
London.  

CORPORATE AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Corporate Core Objective – to ensure robust governance arrangements are in place.  In 
accordance with the CCG’s Constitution.

CONSULTATION HISTORY:
Governing Body Workshop – 1st October 2015
Membership Forum – 14th October 2015

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 

London Health Commission has a good track record in patient and community engagement.  
The London Health Commission engaged over 14,000 Londoners at tailored events and 
through online discussions. 
During the development of pilots and the wider London business case, it is proposed to have 
extensive London-wide discussions of these plans with Londoners generally.  This will 
complement the conversations at a local level led through borough/CCG commissioners and 
through Health and Wellbeing Boards.

HEALTH INEQUALITY DUTY
How does this report take into account the duty to:

 Reduce inequalities between patients with respect to their ability to access health 
services.

 Reduce inequalities between patients with respect to the outcomes achieved for them by 
the provision of health services.

The London Health Inequalities Strategy sets out how health inequalities are being tackled in 
London.  To ensure the Health Inequalities Strategy delivers on its aims, there are a rolling 



series of delivery plans.  The first revised Mayor’s Health Inequalities Strategy delivery plan for 
2015 to 2018 can be found at:
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/London%20Health%20Inequalities%20Strategy%20
Delivery%20Plan%202015-2018_FA.pdf

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY
How does this report take into account the duty to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited under the Equality Act 2010

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it

The London Mayor's Equality Framework - The Equal Life Chances for All framework 2014  - 
highlights the commitment to tackling inequality; improving life chances, and removing barriers 
that prevent people from reaching their full potential in London. 
http://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/equalities/publications/equal-life-chances-for-all-2014

STAKEHOLDER INVOLVEMENT
To date proposals have been co-developed by CCGs, London boroughs, the GLA, Public 
Health England (London region) and NHS England (London).  Providers have not so far been 
extensively engaged in London, beyond informal discussions with the Academic Health Science 
Networks (AHSNs).  As no formal arrangement exists in London for provider collaboration and 
collective sign-off, a key task during 2015/16 will be to work with providers to consider if such 
arrangements might be beneficial.  However, pilot proposals are being jointly developed by 
health and care commissioners and providers at local and sub-regional level and letters of 
support by all pilot partners will be appended to the Collaborative Agreement.

RESPONSIBLE MANAGERIAL LEAD CONTACT:
Name: Martin Wilkinson 
E-Mail: martinwilkinson@nhs.net
Telephone: 020 7206 3371

AUTHOR CONTACT:
Name: Susanna Masters  
E-Mail: susanna.masters@nhs.net 
Telephone: 020 3049 3216

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/London%20Health%20Inequalities%20Strategy%20Delivery%20Plan%202015-2018_FA.pdf
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/London%20Health%20Inequalities%20Strategy%20Delivery%20Plan%202015-2018_FA.pdf
http://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/equalities/publications/equal-life-chances-for-all-2014




1

1. Purpose

1.1 This report introduces the Adult Social Care Local Account for 2015/16. 
It sets out the background and context for the attached Local Account.

2. Recommendation

2.1      Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to    
           approve the Local Account for 2015/16.

3. Policy Context

3.1 In 2011, the Department of Health recommended that all local 
authorities publish an annual Local Account to tell people what their 
adult social care department is doing. The Local Account explains how 
much the Council spends, what it spends money on, what it is doing 
and how it plans to improve services in the future. 

4. Background  

4.1 The Local Account gives people an opportunity to read about the 
Council’s achievements through the year and priorities going forward. It 
supports a regular cycle of self-assessment, consultation and review to 
enable the Council to deliver high quality services to residents who 
have care or support needs.  It also set out clearly the local and 
national policy context showing how the issues and the 
recommendations relate to national drivers and agreed local policy.

5. Financial implications

5.1 Financial implications and detail is included in the body of the Local 
Account on page 10.

6. Legal implications

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Local Account 2015/16

Contributors Executive Director for Community 
Services

Item No. 6

Class Part 1 Date: 24 November 2015

Strategic 
Context

Provides a 2014/15 review of adult social care, it’s objectives, 
budget management, performance and objectives for 2015/16

Pathway Executive Director for Community Services – Aileen Buckton



2

6.1 Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, Health and Wellbeing Boards are under a duty to 
encourage integrated working between the persons who arrange for 
health and social care services in the area.

7. Crime and Disorder Implications

7.1 There are no Crime and Disorder implications

8. Equalities Implications

8.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality 
duty (the equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following nine 
protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

8.2 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to:

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Act.

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not.

 foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

8.3 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be 
attached to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of 
relevance and proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or 
foster good relations.

8.4 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued 
Technical Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory 
guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & 
Associations Statutory Code of Practice”.  The Council must have 
regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and 
attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the 
equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public 
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does 
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as 
failure to do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. 
The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at:  

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-
act/equality-act-  codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-%20%20codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-%20%20codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/


3

8.5 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously 
issued five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on 
the equality duty: 

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 

   3. Engagement and the equality duty
   4. Equality objectives and the equality duty

        5. Equality information and the equality duty

8.6 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty 
requirements including the general equality duty, the specific duties 
and who they apply to. It covers what public authorities should do to 
meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more 
detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further 
information and resources are available at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-
sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

9. Environmental Implications

9.1 There are no environmental implications.

 

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/


1 

London Borough of Lewisham  

Local Account for Adult Social Care 

2015-2016 



2 

Contents 

Foreword 3 

What does social care do? 4 

The circumstances in which we work 6 

Facts about Lewisham Borough and its people 7 

Who we help 8 

How we spent the budget in 2014/15 10 

Our objectives for 2014-2015 and how we did 

 

11 

Plans for 2016/17 15 

Key performance indicators 2014/15 16 



3 

Foreword 

We are pleased to present Lewisham’s Local Account which will help local residents, 

service users, carers and providers understand more about the adult social care services 

we provide to adults in Lewisham. 

 

We  are committed to delivering high quality services to residents with care of support 

needs and work closely with the NHS, mental health services, the voluntary sector and 

local providers of care services to provide joined up services. 

 

Our aim is to transform adult social care services to support as many people as possible 

to remain living at home with improved choice, control and dignity. We aim to encourage 

people to be as independent as possible and work with people to meet their individual 

needs. A key priority for Lewisham is to make sure that adults who are at risk of harm, 

abuse or neglect are safe. As ever we have worked hard with all our partners to develop 

a range of services aimed at reducing or preventing the need for longer-term care and 

support.  

 

Our work is of course set against a backdrop of significant change. Our budgets have 

been significantly reduced since 2010 and we will be required to make further savings in 

the years ahead. The Care Act 2014 represents a major reform of the law relating to care 

and support for adults and their carers. 

 

Despite these challenges, we have an ambitious programme in place for 2015/16 and 

2016/17. We are building on our work with GPs, District Nurses, hospital teams and 

mental health teams to integrate health and care services. We are committed to 

improving efficiency, maximising value for money and increasing effectiveness. We will 

remain focused on delivering high quality care for our residents in need of support. 

Please do get in touch if you would like to see something developed or to provide 

feedback, as we welcome the views of and comments of local people, service users and 

carers. We are proud of Lewisham’s adult social care services and we know what a 

difference care and support can make to people’s lives. 

 

 

 

 

Cllr Chris Best,  

Cabinet Member for Health, Wellbeing and Older people 



4 

What does social care do? 

Our priorities are to:  

 Ensure everyone who uses social care services on an ongoing basis has a personal 

budget and promote the use of direct payments to maximise the choice and control 

people have over managing their own care and support;  

 Consider wider networks of support and other services such as  community groups, 

library services, and adult education, which people access. To promote the  use of 

these alongside more formal support packages of care; 

 Continue to develop a range of housing options together with partners which offer 

care and support in the community and reduce the need for long-term residential 

care;  

 Make effective use of technological solutions, such as Linkline, to maintain safe 

independent living and assist with the care-giving process; 

 Support younger adults into work or employment;  

 Develop commissioning plans and a provider market, that supports people to 

take control of their care needs; 

 Apply eligibility and charging policies which reflect Central Government guidance.  

 

Supporting and valuing carers  

Carers will have the right to an assessment of their needs, separate to those of the cared 

for person, and regardless of eligibility for formal social care input. Carers will be 

supported to recognise their own needs and access appropriate support to help ensure a 

longer and more manageable caring role for their family or support network. We recognise 

that most care and support is provided by family or friends and we will continue to provide 

a range of support for carers.  

 

Services in the community  

We know that people want to remain in their own 

homes and neighbourhoods if they fall ill 

and need help caring for themselves. In these 

circumstances we will try to support people 

to stay at home and, wherever possible, try to avoid 

them being admitted to hospital or a 

residential care home. When we consider what a 

person’s needs are, we will take into 

account a range of things which impact on health 

and wellbeing including health, housing 

and other support, alongside social care.  



5 

What does social care do? 

Preventing and delaying the need for care  

People are living longer with more complex health conditions, so we will need to spend the 

resources available to social care services, in a fair and equitable way. Preventative 

services are as important as long-term services. We are committed to reducing the need 

for long-term care and one way of doing this is to support people to be as independent as 

possible for as long as possible. Services that help people in their own homes, such as 

physiotherapy, adaptations to the home, social activities, etc have been developed in 

partnership with health organisations and the voluntary sector to ensure people have the 

support they need to maintain independence after a hospital stay or illness.  

 

Resources spent wisely 

Inevitably though, there will always be those who suffer illness or accidents which cannot 

be avoided. However, we will always look for ways to support people to ensure they can 

make the most of the assets they have. 

 

Carefully considering what a person’s needs are will ensure that the right level of support 

is identified in line with their needs and choices. We recognise the value of wider support 

networks that many people have within their own families and communities and will look at 

all available resources when considering how to meet needs. Where family or other 

support networks do not exist, we will help people to build them through appropriate 

community networks.  



6 

The circumstances in which we 

work 
The landscape for the delivery of social care services has changed significantly over the 

last year as services are integrated and redesigned to comply with the Care Act 2014  

against a back-drop of ever shrinking resources. 

Finance 
The budget for delivering 

adult social care services 

has been reduced by 

£14.5m over the last 3 

years. We saved this 

through achieving better 

value for money when 

buying services, from 

meeting need in more cost 

effective ways and from 

increasing income. 

 

With less resources 

available to us, the way we 

deliver adult social care 

has to change. We will 

continue to ensure value 

for money and supporting 

people to remain as 

independent as possible. 

Whilst managing demand 

and changing need more 

effectively. 

 

The budget for 2015-16 

will reduce by £7.5m and 

in 2016-17 there will be a 

further reduction. 

Integrating 
Our vision for integration 

is…. ‘Better care, better 

health and stronger 

communities’ 

 

Our ambition is that by 

2018 we will have joined 

up and coordinated health 

and social care services 

for all adults in Lewisham. 

We aim to provide: 

•Better health and 

wellbeing outcomes and 

reduced health 

inequalities 

•A positive experience of 

health and care for all 

adults in Lewisham 

•Support for people to 

help themselves 

•High quality and safe 

services 

•More preventative 

activity. 

Law 
The Care Act 2014 

provides for a single 

national threshold for 

eligibility to care and 

support. It recognises the 

importance of carers by 

strengthening their rights 

to assessment and 

services. It creates a new 

focus on preventing and 

delaying the need for care 

and support, rather than 

only intervening at crisis 

point. It also embeds the 

individual’s right to 

choose their services 

through support plans 

and personal budgets. 



7 

Facts about Lewisham Borough 

and its people 

 

8.2% 

 

of residents 

provide unpaid 

care 

(2011 Census, ONS) 

 

14.5% 

of residents are living 

with long-term 

conditions (a proxy 

measure for disability) 

(2011 Census, ONS) 

46% 

[2011 Census  

ONS] 

 

67.5% 
(2011 Census, ONS) 

 

 

54% 
(2011 Census, ONS) 

4.5% 

of residents are 

aged 75+ 

(2011 Census, ONS) 

of residents 

are White 

of residents 

are of black 

and ethnic 

minority 

heritage 

9.5% 

51% 
(2011 Census 

ONS]) 

of residents 

are men 

49% 
(2011 Census 

ONS]) 

of residents 

are women 

of residents are 

aged 18-64 

of residents are 

aged 65+ 

(2011 Census, ONS) 

292,000 

residents  
(MYE**  2014, ONS*) 

*ONS - the Office for National Statistics 

**MYE – Mid-Year Estimate  



8 

Who we help with our services 

Carers 

Carers are people who 

provide care and support 

family and friends, by 

doing things that help 

people to stay in their 

own homes and live an 

independent life. Carers 

can be any age, many 

carers are under 18. 

Caring for someone can 

be both emotionally and 

physically draining. 

Therefore carers needs 

should also be 

considered.  

In 2014/15 1,713 carers 

had their needs 

considered or reviewed 

Assessment 

of Need 

We undertake an 

assessment to gain an 

understanding of 

peoples’ needs. This 

helps us to identify with 

the person how their 

needs will be met and 

ensure they remain safe. 

In 2014/15 629 new 

people had their needs 

considered and 

1,510 existing service 

users had their needs 

reviewed 

Direct Payments 

and Personal 

Budgets 

A direct payment allows 

you to choose who you 

wish to provide your 

service and pay them 

directly. 

A personal budget is 

when the Council directly 

passes the money for 

your care to your 

preferred provider. 

In 2014/15 nearly 1,000 

people and over 100 

carers received a Direct 

payment. 

2,240 people received a 

personal budget 

Residential care 

Residential care is 

provided in a care home 

where residents live and 

have trained caring and 

health staff on site to 

provide support. 

In 2014/15 around 900 

people were placed in 

permanent residential 

care 

Nursing care is provided 

in a specialist nursing 

home setting where 

residents live. There are 

nurses and other trained 

professionals who 

provide 24 hour 

specialist care. 

In 2014/15 around 180 

people were admitted to 

nursing care 

Nursing care 



9 

Who we help with our services 

Support for people 

in contact with 

Mental Health 

Services 

Mental health refers to 

the psychological and 

emotional well being of 

individuals such as 

depression and phobias. 

It also includes those 

with a history of 

substance misuse. 

There are a number of 

treatments that can be 

used such as 

counselling, group 

session, medication, etc. 

Support may be 

provided by specialist 

teams or by carers who 

assist individuals with 

daily tasks and getting 

around. 

In 2014/15 67% of those 

people who were in 

contact with mental 

health services are living 

independently. 

Support for people 

with a Learning 

Disability 

A learning disability is a 

reduced intellectual 

ability and difficulty with 

everyday activities – it is 

important for people with 

learning disabilities to 

lead an inclusive, 

independent and safe 

life. 

In 2014/15 10% of 

people with learning 

disabilities were in paid 

employment. 

Support for older 

and working age 

adults 

These may be provided in 

people’s homes, but may 

also be available through 

specialist centres. There 

are many organisation 

across the area that 

provide these services 

either in conjunction with 

the local authority or GPs, 

etc. 

In 2014/15 more than 

6,100 people received 

services within their 

communities and 

Day Services were 

provided to 750 people 

These are services that 

have been developed in 

partnership with Health to 

support people following 

a hospital stay or to avoid 

people being admitted to 

hospital if they are unwell. 

These services could 

include personal care, 

physiotherapy, 

adaptations to the home, 

and can be provided for 

up to 6 weeks. 

In 2014/15 851 people 

received support from 

these services and  

522 needed no additional 

support after these 

services had been 

provided 

Short-term care 

and support 



10 

35%

31%

14%

9%

4%

2%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40%

Residential and Nursing care

Personal Budgets and Direct
Payments

Supported Accommodation

Care Pathway

Prevention and Enablement

Carers Service

Percentage spend by care and support 2014/15

How we spent the budget in 

2014/15 

The total budget for Adult Social Care in 2014/15 was £81.5 million. 

Savings of £6.7 million were made in 2014/15 compared to 2013/14. 

35%

33%

18%

9%

5%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40%

Older People

Learning Disability

Other Services

Physical Disability

Mental Health

Percentage spend by client category 2014/15



11 

Our objectives for 2014-15 and 

how we did 

Actions in our 2014-15 

improvement plan 

Progress made in 2014-15 Status 

Develop an accessible and 

comprehensive website to 

improve access to information 

and advice. Support people 

who pay for their own care to 

access information including 

quality assurance information 

on providers of care 

The Health and Social Care website and 

directory of services is now live, it provides a 

comprehensive up to date Care Act 

compliant resource.  Further ongoing testing 

with service users to refine the navigation 

and content. 

Develop local health and social 

care providers to ensure 

people have a range of quality 

services to choose from, 

especially those arranging their 

own care via a direct payment 

Commissioning intensions for the coming 

year are being developed. These are looking 

to ensure that value for money is achieved 

whilst still proving clients with the best choice 

and quality of services. 

Give people access to the 

information we hold on them – 

their support plans and 

statements of account and 

enable people to change or link 

up basic information such as 

addresses, GPs, family 

information and telephone 

numbers 

We are working on developing ways for 

people to access the information we hold on 

them. The first phase of this will be in place 

by April 2016. 

We are also working with health partners to 

develop a single view of the patient record. 

Connect Care will be available across 

Lewisham, Greenwich and Bexley. 

Expand the Community 

Connections project to support 

more people to access 

activities and services in their 

local communities 

Currently Community Connections are 

working to support GP practices to help 

patients who are lonely and isolated get more 

involved in their local community. There has 

been a ten fold increase in requests for 

support. 

KEY:  Completed On track Slipped 

Healthy living for all 



12 

Our objectives for 2014-15 and 

how we did 

KEY:  Completed On track Slipped 

Actions in our 2014-15 

improvement plan 

Progress made in 2014-15 Status 

Identify people at risk of 

developing more complex 

health and care needs at an 

early stage 

Neighbourhood Team Coordinators are in place 

and are working with GPs to identify those who 

are at risk. A range of professionals are working 

together to support these individuals. 

Work with health partners to 

ensure clear and effective 

care pathways are in place 

for people with UTIs, falls 

and dementia 

Redesigning Falls prevention and management 

services by establishing a community based 

Falls Team and improving interventions for those 

at risk of falling. 

Expand the Neighbourhood 

Community Teams to 

include mental health 

professionals 

Mental health professionals are working more 

closely with staff in the Neighbourhood 

Community Teams. We are continuing to work 

towards further integrating with mental health 

professionals. 

Ensure the Neighbourhood 

Teams connect to 

community health services 

and wider primary care 

teams 

Social care and district nursing staff are now 

organised into neighbourhood teams. Multi-

disciplinary meetings now take place across the 

borough. Professional staff are referring people 

more regularly to wider services such as 

Community Connections. Work to develop joint 

processes across the Neighbourhood 

Community Team has started. 

Early intervention 



13 

Our objectives for 2014-15 and 

how we did 

Actions in our 2014-15 

improvement plan 

Progress made in 2014-15 Status 

Carers’ assessments and whole 

family assessments in place 

We are working with Carers Lewisham and 

Voluntary Sector partners to improve services 

Effective services to support 

discharge from hospital in place. 

Strengthen the Admission 

Avoidance Scheme 

Enhanced care and support has been 

implemented for discharge from hospital. We 

are also working with individuals to avoid 

admission to hospital 

Improve outcomes for people 

receiving enablement, thus 

reducing the need for long-term 

care 

In 2014/15 851 people received support from 

the Enablement Service. Of these 522 needed 

no additional care or support in the 3 months 

after enablement 

KEY:  Completed On track Slipped 

Targeted intervention 

Complex Care 

Actions in 

our 2014-15 

improvement 

plan 

Progress made in 2014-15 Status 

Establish 

new, quality 

extra care 

facilities and 

specialist 

housing 

Conrad Court was completed in 2015 and there are a number of 

projects being undertaken there including dementia and providing 

specialist care for patients who need more care than a general 

ward, but less care than is provided in an Intensive Care Unit. 

We continue to work with housing and supported living providers 

to target specialist and supported housing for younger adults. 

More people 

will be 

supported to 

control their 

end of life 

Lewisham End of Life Transformation Project commenced 10 late 

2014. 

A Stakeholder survey and event were held during summer 2015.  

Local issues identified include communication, coordination and 

equity of specialist palliative care across the Borough.  A new 

service model is currently being developed to address these 

issues. 



14 

Our objectives for 2014-15 and 

how we did 

Actions in our 2014-15 

improvement plan 

Progress made in 2014-15 Status 

Improved awareness across the 

partnership 

Developed our Safeguarding Board 

structure in line with Care Act 2014 

guidelines. A specialist team is in place to 

support the work of the board. 

Independent chair for the 

Safeguarding Board 

The chair of the Children’s Safeguarding 

Board has been appointed to the Adults 

Safeguarding Board to ensure a 

consistent approach across both services. 

KEY:  Completed On track Slipped 

Safeguarding 



15 

Plans for 2016/17 

Work with local providers 

to develop services that 

promote independence 

Improve early planning for 

young people who might 

need adult social care.  

Continue to develop and 

improve the information and 

advice provision 

Closer working with GP 

practices, district nurses 

and other health services 

Continue to develop our 

partnership approach to 

safeguarding 

Our priorities What this means for residents 

By working closer together, sharing information and 

responding to changes in your health needs, we will 

deliver better coordinated care in your home and help 

you to remain as independent as possible 

We will work with Children’s Social Care and Education 

teams to facilitate a smooth transition from Children’s 

services to Adult services 

Working with providers of care services and helping new 

providers move into the care market, we will be able to 

provide more choice of care and support for people 

By making sure our information is wide ranging and 

accessible we will empower people to make choices 

about support and services that are available both locally 

and nationally 

By ensuring all public agencies work together we will be 

able to ensure people live as safely as possible, free 

from harm and abuse 

By working with our partners to integrate care and 

support across the whole system, residents will receive 

more personalised and joined up care 

Continue to play a key role 

in the wider integration and 

transformation of health and 

care in Lewisham 



16 

Key performance indicators 

2014/15 
Despite challenges and cuts we are doing quite well in the following areas: 

TEASC indicator Good is 

a …… 

2014/15 2013/14 Comparator 

Boroughs 

Better or 

worse than 

last year 

Social care related quality 

of life 

Bigger 

number 

19.1 18.6 18.4 

Permanent admissions of 

adults aged 18-64 per 

100,000 population 

Smaller 

number 

11.9 13.4 10.2 

Overall satisfaction of 

people who use services 

Bigger 

number 

63.7 63.5 57.9 

Proportion of adults with 

learning disabilities in 

paid employment 

Bigger 

number 

10.3 9.9 5.8 

Proportion of people who 

use services who 

reported that they had as 

much social contact as 

they would like 

Bigger 

number 

48.8 39.9 41.1 

Proportion of people who 

use services who feel 

safe and secure 

Bigger 

number 

92.9 85.1 81.7 

Proportion of people who 

use services who feel 

safe 

Bigger 

number 

74.9 64.5 62.9 

Delayed transfers of care 

from hospital per 100,000 

population 

Smaller 

number 

4.5 4.6 7.2 



17 

Key performance indicators 

2014/15 
However, improvement action needs to be taken in the following areas: 

TEASC indicator Good is 

a ….. 

2014/15 2013/14 Comparator 

Boroughs 

Better or 

worse than 

last year 

Permanent admissions of 

older people per 100,000 

population 

Smaller 

number 

571.4 519.8 494.1 

Proportion of adults with 

learning disabilities who 

live in their own home or 

with their family 

Bigger 

number 

75.5 79.4 66.8 

Proportion of adults in 

contact with secondary 

mental health services 

who live independently, 

with or without support 

Bigger 

number 

67.3 69.8 76.1 

Delayed transfers of care 

from hospital which are 

attributable to social care 

per 100,000 population 

Smaller 

number 

2.2 2.1 2.5 

Proportion of people who 

use services who find it 

easy to find information 

about services 

Bigger 

number 

72.0 77.4 69.9 

Proportion of people who 

use services who have 

control over their daily life 

Bigger 

number 

72.5 74.1 69.9 



1

APPENDIX 1

Health and Wellbeing Board – Work Programme
Meeting date Agenda Planning Report Deadline Agenda Publication
29 Mar 2016 W/C 1 February 2016 2 March 21 March 2016
Agenda item Report Title Deferred Information / 

Agreement
Lead 
Organisation(s)

1 Adult Integrated Care Programme Update: 
Neighbourhood Care Networks

TBC LBL/CCG

2 Review of Winter Resilience Planning Agreement NHS Trust

3 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme Agreement LBL

4 Prioritisation of JSNA Topics Deferred from 
November

Information LBL

5 CYP Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy Information LBL

6 Brief Interventions Information LBL

7 Healthy Towns Initiative Information LBL

8 Voluntary and Community Sector Update Information

9 Mental Health Awareness Strategy Deferred from 
November

Information LBL

10 CYP Partnership Board minutes Information LBL



2

Meeting date Agenda Planning Report Deadline Agenda Publication
19 July 2016 W/C 23 May 2016 22 June 2016 11 July 2016

Agenda item Report Title Deferred Information / 
Agreement

Lead 
Organisation(s)

1 Adult Integrated Care Programme Update: TBC LBL/CCG

2 Performance Dashboard Update Agreement NHS Trust

3 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme Agreement LBL

Meeting date Agenda Planning Report Deadline Agenda Publication
15 Nov 2016 W/C 19 September 19 October 2016 7 November 2016



1. Purpose

1.1 This report presents the Health and Wellbeing Board with a draft work 
programme (included as Appendix 1) for discussion and approval.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are invited to:

• Approve the draft work programme and schedule of meetings
• Consider additional items proposed 
• Propose additional items to be included in the work programme

3. Strategic Context

3.1 The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is focussed on 
delivering the strategic vision for Lewisham as established in Shaping our 
Future – Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy and in Lewisham’s 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

3.2 The work of the Board directly contributes to Shaping our Future’s priority 
outcome that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, active and 
enjoyable - where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving 
their health and wellbeing.

3.3 There are a number of core duties defined in the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 which underpin the work of Health and Wellbeing Boards. These 
include:
 To encourage the integration of health and social care commissioning and 

provision; 
 To undertake a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) to identify the 

health and wellbeing priorities of the local population; 
 To develop a joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy outlining how the board 

intends to achieve improvements to local health outcomes. 

4. Background

4.1 The work programme is a key document for the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
It allows the Board to schedule activity, reports and presentations across the 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme

Contributors Service Manager, Strategy and Policy 
(Community Services, London Borough of 
Lewisham).

Item No. 6

Class Part 1 Date: 24 November 2015



year. It also provides members of the public and wider stakeholders with a 
clear picture of the Board’s planned activity.

4.2 The HWB has agreed that the work programme would include regular 
progress updates on the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and a progress 
update in relation to the Adult Integrated Care Programme as a standing item. 

4.3 The HWB is also required to consider the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. 
It has been proposed that the Health and Wellbeing Strategy Implementation 
Group takes responsibility for reviewing and assessing recommendations from 
completed JSNA topics and proposing priorities to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 

4.3 The HWB has agreed to consider and approve the work programme at every 
meeting. In adding items to the work programme, the Board has agreed to 
specify the information and analysis required in the report, so that report 
authors are clear as to what is required. 

4.4 The Health and Wellbeing Board Agenda Planning Group may also propose 
items for inclusion on the work programme, and will seek approval for their 
inclusion from the Board.

5. Work programme 

5.1 The draft work programme (see Appendix 1), includes those items which the 
Board has identified it needs to consider over the course of next year. The 
Board has indicated that a review of key priorities is likely to impact on the 
work programme.

5.2 The Board agreed at the meeting on 22 September to consider the 
Performance Dashboard: Exceptions Reporting at alternate meetings in future.

5.3 The following items have been deferred to the March meeting: 
 Mental Health Awareness Strategy
 Prioritisation of JSNA Topics

5.4      The following items have been proposed for the March meeting:
 Adult Integrated Care Programme – the development of Neighbourhood 

Community Teams
 Review of Winter Resilience Planning 

5.5 The following information items have been proposed for the March meeting:
 Children and Young People Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Healthy Towns Initiative
 Voluntary and Community Sector Update
 Children and Young People’s Partnership Board minutes

5.6 The Board is asked to approve the recommendation to alter the frequency of 
meetings.



6.       Financial implications

6.1     There are no specific financial implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations.

7. Legal implications

7.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty 
(the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected 
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation.

7.2 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act.
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not.
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who do not.

7.3 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached 
to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

7.4 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical 
Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled 
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code 
of Practice”. The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it 
relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals 
particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not 
have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to 
do so without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory 
code and the technical guidance can be found at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-
codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

7.5 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued 
five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty
5. Equality information and the equality duty



7.6 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. 
It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty, including steps 
that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four 
documents provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good 
practice. Further information and resources are available at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/publicsector-
equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

7.7 Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and Social 
Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to encourage 
integrated working between the persons who arrange for health and social 
care services in the area.

8. Equalities implications

8.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations.

9. Crime and disorder implications

9.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report 
or its recommendations.

10. Environmental implications

10.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Andy Thomas, Principal Officer, 
Policy, Service Design and Analysis Hub, London Borough of Lewisham on 020 
8314 9996 or by e-mail at andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk

mailto:carmel.langstaff@lewisham.gov.uk


1

1. Purpose

1.1 This report provides an update on the implementation of the Lambeth, 
Southwark and Lewisham Sexual Health Strategy and the London and 
South East Sexual Health transformation programmes.

2. Recommendations

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:

2.1 Note the progress made to develop a London-wide website, online 
testing and partner notification system.

2.2 Note the development of a SE London sexual health system, and the 
indeterdependancies with other boroughs.

3. Policy Context

3.1 Councils took on the responsibility for commissioning many sexual 
health services in April 2013, as part of changes under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2013.  The London Sexual Health Services 
Transformation Programme has brought together 22 London boroughs 
to deliver a new collaborative commissioning model for open access 
sexual health services across much of the capital, including Genito-
Urinary Medicine (GUM) (services for the screening and treatment of 
Sexually Transmitted infections (STIs) and Contraception and Sexual 
Health Services (CaSH).  The aim is to lead the transformation of the 
service model to deliver measurably improved and cost effective public 
health outcomes, meet the increasing demand and deliver better value.  

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Sexual Health Transformation

Contributors Director of Public Health Item No. 8F

Class Part 1 / Part 2 Date 24 November 2015

Strategic 
Context

Sexual Health was identified as a priority by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in 2013. A 3 borough Lambeth, Southwark and 
Lewisham Sexual Health Strategy was developed in 2014. Over 
the last year 22 London boroughs have been working jointly to 
develop a new London-wide sexual health system which can 
address the sexual health needs of London. 

Pathway Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts) (21/10/15)
CCG- Systems Management (13/10/15)
Healthier Communities Select Committee (TBC)



2

3.2 This paper reflects the two key principles of the Lewisham’s 
Sustainable Community Strategy 2008-2020:

 Reducing inequality – narrowing the gap in outcomes for citizens
 Delivering together efficiently, effectively and equitably – 

ensuring that all citizens have appropriate access to and choice 
of high-quality local services

3.3 It also contributes to the following priority outcomes:
 Safer – where people feel safe and live free from crime, 

antisocial behaviour and abuse
 Empowered and responsible – where people are actively 

involved in their local area and contribute to supportive 
communities

 Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively 
participate in maintaining and improving their health and well-
being 

4. Background  

4.1 In April 2013 Lewisham entered into a tri-borough agreement with 
Lambeth and Southwark for the commissioning of sexual health 
services. This formalised a previous arrangement across the former 
primary care trusts. Lambeth is the host commissioner for the 
arrangement.

4.2 In order to agree priorities for sexual health across the 3 boroughs a 
needs assessment was undertaken by Public Health to inform the 
development of a LSL Sexual Health Strategy. The Strategy was 
widely consulted on (including the HWB in January 2014) and finalised 
in September 2014.

4.3 The LSL Sexual Health Strategy forms the basis of the local Sexual 
Transformation Programme which links to the London Sexual Health 
Transformation Programme. 

4.4 Lewisham has significantly higher rates of sexually transmitted 
infections, HIV and teenage conceptions than London and England. 
Sexual Health and wellness is a complex issue, with many social, 
economic and cultural factors linked to it. Developing local sexual 
health services (and making sure that people know how to access 
them and what they can offer) can result in better sexual health in our 
residents and economic savings in treatment. Improving sexual health 
across Lewisham is a complex challenge that will require a clear 
strategic commissioning approach, based on the best evidence and 
strong stakeholder and user engagement. 

4.5 Council’s face a challenge of improving service quality and managing 
increasing demand for services against a backdrop of reductions in the 
Revenue Support Grant. Government has also signalled their intention 



3

to cut 7% from the public health grant to Councils within this financial 
year.

4.6 Genitourinary Medicine Services (GUM) and Contraception and Sexual 
Health services (CaSH) are statutory services. They are “open access” 
which means that residents are entitled to use them in any part of the 
country without the need for a referral from GP or other clinician.  This 
accessibility requirement impacts negatively on the ability of all 
Councils to predict service demand and manage budgets. 

4.7 On 21 October 2015 a paper went to Mayor and Cabinet (contracts) 
seeking approval to:
 take part in a joint procurement process organised on a sub-

regional basis to commission sexual health GUM services
 join a pan London procurement of a web based system to include a 

front end portal for advice, guidance and access to services  
including access to home/self-sampling kits for sexually transmitted 
infections

 join a pan London procurement of a confidential partner notification 
system

4.8 Due to the high degree of cross authority access of GUM services and 
cross charging requirements, timely approval of these 
recommendations by the Cabinets of all participating boroughs is 
necessary to deliver the transformation required. Failure of councils to 
act collaboratively on this may undermine the efforts to manage 
access, control costs and create better pathways. There is a high 
degree of interdependency between London councils on this issue and 
for the delivery of this project.

5. The Case for Change

5.1 The London Sexual Health Transformation Programme has set out a 
Case for Change based on a needs assessment and review of current 
services. These also underpin the case for local transformation.

5.2 There are five main reasons why transformation of sexual health 
services is necessary:

  The need for sexual health services in London is significantly higher 
than the England average, and has risen significantly in recent years.

 There are noticeable variations in access and activity across London 
boroughs, with high numbers of residents from across London 
accessing services in central London.

 Given London’s complex pattern of open access services, there are 
important advantages for London boroughs to transform and 
commission services together

 We must continue to ensure strong clinical governance, safeguarding 
and quality assurance arrangements are in place for commissioning 
open access services



4

 We want to respond to current and future financial challenges, and 
ensure we are making the best use of resources available 

6. The Vision for sexual health services in London

6.1      A vision has been developed for how services could be delivered in the    
           new model. 

6.2 The front door into services will be web based, a single platform 
providing patients with information about sexual health, on line triage, 
signposting to the most appropriate service for their needs and the 
ability to order self-sampling tests.  

6.3 There will be fewer major centres for people with more complex sexual 
health needs, but the services that are commissioned will be open 
longer hours and will be properly linked with a network of integrated 
one stop shops at local level which will be able to meet many people’s 
needs. They will also work closely with primary care. 

6.4 Transport links will be a critical element of determining locations for 
clinics.  

6.5 There will also be improved data to help better identify and address 
need for prevention and specialist services, including new and 
emerging trends.   

6.6 All major clinics will offer patients the opportunity to triage and self-
sample on site and all services will be required to ensure that routine 
STI screen results are available electronically to patients within 72 
hours. Patients who are diagnosed with an STI will be offered a fast 
track appointment, ideally within 24 hours or will be fast tracked if they 
present to a walk in service.

6.7 Improved systems for identifying and notifying contacts of patients with 
an STI will ensure that resources are targeted at the highest need 
groups.

6.8 The whole system will be designed to ensure that evidence about best 
practice drives changes, and resources will be focused on groups with 
the highest risk.

7……. Next Steps

7.1 Service specification: Commissioners are now working together to 
agree the details of the service specifications.  Clinical expertise from a 
range of relevant professional bodies and from Public Health England 
has been identified to support this work.

7.2 Planning in Sub Regions: Given the size and complexity of London’s 
sexual health services, and the differing needs of local populations, 



5

councils are working together in sub regions to develop and implement 
local plans, within an overall London transformation model and 
specification.  The map below shows the participating boroughs, 
organised by Sub Region.

7.3 Clinical Engagement
A half day workshop for clinicians was held in September to report on 
activity since the an initial meeting in May and continue discussions 
about priorities.  Concerns were expressed that the the transformation 
programme may adversily impact service models of integrated STI and 
Contraception delivery. In response to this the programme board has 
emphasised that the Programme will support integration of services 
wherever it is practical and locally supported.  

7.4 Integration with HIV services
This has been discussed in meetings with clinicians and services as 
part of the development of the programme.  Patients benefit from this, 
and we need to align planning with NHS England who are responsible 
for commissioning HIV treatment services.  There is an awareness that 
re-commissioning GUM and CaSH services may have different 
implications for smaller clinics, where separation of these services from 
the provision of HIV services is not straightforward, and commissioners 
will work with providers to ensure that there are clear and safe 
pathways between services for patients as part of the transformation 
programme.



6

7.5 Management of asymptomatic patients
Alternatives to GUM clinic attendance for people who do not have any 
symptoms of sexually transmitted infections are acceptable to a lot of 
patients, and there is room for considerable innovation in providing 
other forms of access, such as ordering home sampling/testing kits on-
line.  It will be important to ensure that providing alternatives do not 
lead to increased demand among people with no apparent risk of STIs, 
but it also offers the opportunity to reach people in high risk groups 
who may not be accessing current GUM services. 

7.6 Changes in behaviour and how to respond
Sexual behaviour is changing and some high risk patients do not 
access clinic based services.  Specialist services will be expected to 
work with commissioners to create innovative solutions to access these 
populations and meet emerging needs due to changes in sexual 
behaviour. 

7.7 Training, workforce planning and development
We recognise the concern of some that changes in pathways may 
impact on medical training.  Specifications must be clear about the 
need to support and facilitate training.

7.8 Delivery of partner notification
Despite the potential challenges of delivering a London wide partner 
notification service, given the importance of ensuring that partners are 
followed up and the number of different services in London,  we believe 
the benefits make this a worthwhile exercise. 
 

7.9 Procurement  
The team feel that a competitive procedure with negotiation, which  
allows for some dialogue would be best suited to this project.  This 
recognises the complexity of the programme, the fact that some 
adaptation to existing solutions may well be necessary and some 
innovation through design will be likely to benefit both sides.     
However, it is recognised that the final decision on the procurement 
strategy  will be taken by the local councils involved.
 

7.10 Changing how services are funded
It was clarified that the LSHPT is recommending the use of an 
integrated tariff, which brings together GUM and CaSH services into a 
single tariff scheme, and would expect to see competition on both price 
and quality of services. 
 

7.11 Engagement 
7.11.1 Ten clinicians have volunteered to help with developing the service 

specification; further meetings are planned for commissioners and 
providers and a broader communications plan is now in place, with 
monthly briefings being circulated to stakeholders.

7.11.2 There are also plans in place to assist local authorities to engage with 
their public and potential patients. Healthwatch have been approached 



7

for their assistance and the Programme Team is working with a 
number of relevant third sector organisations and agencies to see if we 
can use their networks and expertise.

7.12 Timeline
The business case and papers seeking cabinet support from boroughs 
will go to cabinet meetings between October and January 2016.  This 
would allow for the formal procurement to commence in February 2016 
with the contract(s) awarded by the end of the year to allow for an April 
2017 start.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 This report proposes changes to the provision of sexual health services 
in Lewisham including new arrangements for cross-charging and 
participation in procurement exercises for several elements of the 
service in conjunction with other London councils. These changes are 
expected to deliver savings of £500k p.a. in a full year.

8.2 The Public Health Grant is ring fenced but it is anticipated that it will be 
transferred into Councils’ revenue support grant and the allocation is 
likely to be reduced in line with other reductions to local government 
funding. An in-year cut of £200m has been proposed by Government 
across all local authorities.

8.3 London Councils currently spend approximately £115m per annum on 
GUM services (excluding contraception) and this is predicted to 
increase to £124.5m by 2022 if Councils do nothing. This prediction is 
based on population projections however it may be a conservative 
estimate as changes in sexual behaviour are also driving demand. 

8.4 Lewisham’s Public Health Grant (15/16) is £23.878million, including the 
part-year transfer of 0-5 services. This excludes any in year cut 
required by central government. Currently sexual health services 
(including prevention, GP & pharmacy elements) account for around 
£6.9m or 29% of the Public Health budget.

8.5 In 2014/15, £3.8M was spent on Lewisham CaSH services (Lewisham 
and Greenwich NHS Trust) and approximately £2.4M on GUM. 
Approximately 22% of the GUM expenditure was with the local Trust, 
the remainder was predominately with central London providers (Guys 
and St Thomas’s, Chelsea and Westminster, Kings). Other sexual 
health expenditure included the London-wide HIV prevention 
programme, primary care sexual health services, targeted sexual 
health / HIV prevention for African communities and online STI 
screening.

8.6 In 2015/16 savings of £321k were made against this budget (2014/15 
baseline of £7.14M) through a variety of means including; reduction in 
the contract value for HIV prevention, removing GP incentives for 



8

chlamydia and gonorrhoea screening and negotiating costs of the 
Lewisham and Greenwich Trust contract. This is within a context of 
rising GUM activity/costs.

8.7 Further savings in 2017/18 of £500,000 were considered by Mayor & 
Cabinet on 30 September 2015 (proposal A17). Implementation of 
these savings was delegated to officers following consultation. These 
savings will be delivered through the transformation of services 
outlined in this paper. 

8.8 The contract term for the GUM/CaSH elements commissioned as part 
of the SE London sector is likely to be 2 years, with the option of two 
years extension and two further years. The London-wide contracts for 
online services, partner notification and self-sampling/testing are likely 
to be 6 years with the option of a further 4 years extension. Any 
contract extension will be subject to performance and funding review.

8.9 The central partner notification (PN) system will release efficiencies 
within the current contract values. In discussions, providers have 
indicated that the cost of the current system is a drain on resources.  It 
is proposed that this cost will be met out of baseline budgets agreed 
with GUM clinics.

8.10 The self-sampling / testing (DIY) service will be made available to 
residents of Lewisham only when the Council has signalled it is ready 
to proceed. Pilot schemes are underway in neighbouring boroughs 
(Lambeth, Southwark and Greenwich) and the learning from these 
early adopters will be used to inform the business case. While the initial 
costs for testing are potentially lower, the overall efficiencies (for the 
commissioned system) are not as well established. Further learning is 
required to ensure, that in opening this new service channel, current 
activity will be redirected to lower cost channels and the risk of simply 
adding (albeit cheaper) activity volumes is mitigated against.

9. Legal implications

9.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”) introduced changes by 
way of a series of amendments to the National Health Service Act 
2006. The Act gives local authorities a duty to take such steps as it 
considers appropriate to improve the health of the people in its area. In 
general terms, the Act confers on local authorities the function of 
improving public health and gives local authorities considerable scope 
to determine what actions it will take in pursuit of that general function. 

9.2 Secondary legislative provision, such as the Local Authorities (Public 
Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local Healthwatch 
Representatives) Regulations 2013 require local authorities to provide 
certain public health services. The public health services which local 
authorities must provide are:

 National Child Measurement Programme



9

 Health checks
 Open access sexual health services
 Public health advice service to Clinical Commissioning Groups

9.3 A number of councils currently contract for these services via the 
CCGs and therefore NHS terms and conditions apply which require a 
12 month notice period for termination. The intention, through this 
recommissioning process is to move all services onto council terms 
and conditions.

9.4 There is no established practice of consultation on the design of sexual 
health services provision. The project team has undertaken provider 
and service user engagement via surveys, questionnaires, focus 
groups, stakeholder events and one-to-one sessions. The Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires 
Councils to ensure that members of the public are involved in decisions 
regarding (inter alia) commissioning of health services, which may 
involve public consultation but need not do so.

9.5 In any collaborative commissioning relationship it is essential that clear 
and effective inter-borough arrangements are put in place, not only in 
connection with potential procurement process but also in relation to 
the subsequent operation of the contract. An interim collaborative 
governance structure with representatives from all participant Councils 
has been agreed and officers will establish more detailed governance 
arrangements over time. Governance arrangements will ensure there is 
clear accountability and liability between the councils and appropriate 
binding inter authority agreements where needed. Professional 
services arrangements will ensure that there is consistency of 
approach, legal, procurement, financial and communications advice 
and appropriate programme and project management.

9.6 Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to 
encourage integrated working between the persons who arrange for 
health and social care services in the area.”

10. Crime and Disorder Implications

10.1 There are no crime and disorder implications.

11. Equalities Implications

11.1 Due to the interdependencies between Councils, a high-level Equalities 
Impact Assessment of the London-wide changes will be undertaken by 
one council on behalf of participating boroughs. As changes to 
individual service configurations within the sub-regions are developed, 
local procedures for assessing the impact on service users will be 
followed.



10

11.2 As with many health outcomes, sexual health is patterned by 
socioeconomic inequalities, with those from deprived areas at greater 
risk of negative outcomes, such as sexually transmitted infections and 
unplanned pregnancy. HIV rates are much higher in men who have sex 
with men, and in Black African communities. A further summary of 
sexual health inequalities and indicators is available in Appendix 4. 

12. Environmental Implications

12.1 There are no environmental implications.

13. Conclusion

13.1 Significant change is required to the historic models and patterns of 
service delivery and collaboration between London’s councils is 
needed:

 Due to complexities and  interdependencies arising from the 
requirements for open access service provision,

 To leverage the scale and pace of change required 
 To leverage economies of scale and reduce transaction costs
 To provide services that harness new technology so as to drive 

down costs whilst improving quality/effectiveness.

13.2 It is anticipated that by working together at both a London and SE 
London level the services for residents can be improved to be more 
responsive and easier to navigate whilst also being more cost effective.

Background Documents

LSL Sexual Health Strategy 2014-18 
http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ssh-lambeth-southwark-
lewisham-sexual-health-strategy.pdf

If you have any difficulty in opening the links above or those within the body of 
the report, please contact Andy Thomas (andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk or
 020 8314 9996), who will assist.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Ruth Hutt, Consultant in 
Public Health, London Borough of Lewisham, on 020 8314 7610, or by email 
at: ruth.hutt@lewisham.gov.uk

http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ssh-lambeth-southwark-lewisham-sexual-health-strategy.pdf
http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ssh-lambeth-southwark-lewisham-sexual-health-strategy.pdf
mailto:andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk


1

1. Purpose 

This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on 
performance against its agreed priorities within the Health & Wellbeing Strategy and 
the integration of health and care for adults.

2. Recommendations

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note performance 
as measured by health and care indicators set out in the attached dashboard at 
Annex A.

3. Strategic Context

3.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 established health and wellbeing boards as a 
forum where key leaders from the health and care system work together to improve 
the health and wellbeing of their local population and reduce health inequalities. The 
activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board is focused on delivering the strategic 
vision for Lewisham as established in Shaping our Future – Lewisham’s Sustainable 
Community Strategy, and in Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

3.2 The work of the Board directly contributes to the priority outcome in Shaping our 
Future that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, Active and Enjoyable – 
where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving their health and 
wellbeing.

3.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 placed a duty on local authorities and their 
partner clinical commissioning groups to prepare and publish joint health and 
wellbeing strategies to meet needs identified in their joint strategic needs 
assessments (JSNAs). Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy was published in 
2013.

3.4 The Health and Social Care Act also required health and wellbeing boards to 
encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in 
the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health 
and wellbeing of the area.

4. Background

4.1 In response to the request from members of the Board, the Director of Public Health 
has worked alongside colleagues within Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and 
the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to produce a dashboard of indicators which 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Performance Dashboard: Exceptions Reporting

Contributors Director of Public Health Item 
No.

8A

Class Part 1 Date: 24 November 2015

Strategic 
Context 

Please see body of report

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130805112926/http:/healthandcare.dh.gov.uk/act-factsheets


2

would assist members in monitoring health and wellbeing improvements across 
Lewisham and the effectiveness of the integrated adult care programme.

4.2 The dashboard also includes a number of indicators (including those on birth weight, 
immunisation and excess weight) that are also included in the ‘Be Healthy’ priority of 
the Children and Young People’s Partnership Plan.

 5. Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Dashboard Update

5.1 The dashboard is based on metrics drawn from the Quality and Outcomes (Primary 
Care), Public Health, NHS and Adult Social Care Outcomes Frameworks. These 
metrics have been selected to assist members in their assessment of the impact and 
success of the plans and activities in relation to the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
and Lewisham’s adult integrated care programme.

5.2 The indicators will be used to monitor the health outcomes and the integration of 
health and social care services on an annual or quarterly basis. Updated indicators 
that show a worsening position since the previous period of data availability (marked 
with a red arrow in the dashboard in Annex A) are highlighted below, together with a 
commentary on actions being taken to improve the position.

5.3 Overarching Indicators of Health & Wellbeing

The indicator of Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes considered 
amenable to healthcare (Directly Standardised Rate) has had a change to its 
methodology; therefore it is not possible to compare with previous periods. New data 
for 2014 has been released and Lewisham at 2212.6 years remains’ worse than the 
national average.

5.5 Priority Objective 1: Achieving a Healthy Weight

New data is available for prevalence of Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks. There was a 
fractional increase from 73.4% in Quarter 4 2014/15 to 73.9% in Quarter 1 2014/15. 
Prevalence has remained steady at this level for the last year. Actions to include 
breastfeeding rates include working towards UNICEF Baby Friendly accreditation in 
the borough. The community and hospital achieved Stage 2 accreditation in 2014 
and are jointly working towards achieving stage 3 by March 2016. Children’s centres 
are supporting the assessment by working closely with health visitors and maternity 
services in supporting mothers to breastfeed.

The percentage of physically active adults has declined slightly from 58.1% in 2013 
to 57.1% in 2014. However Lewisham remains above the London and England level. 
Correspondingly the level of inactive adults has increased.

5.6 Priority Objective 2: Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast 
and lung cancer for 1 and 5 years

New data is available for Bowel Cancer screening, however as this is local data it is 
not possible to benchmark against London and England. The percentage coverage of 
46.4% in Lewisham is however lower than the average for the six boroughs which 
comprise South East London, where the coverage was 49.4%.

More broadly work to progress this priority objective includes the following actions:
 Establishment of a Cancer Steering Group and Cancer Working Party.



3

 Involvement in Development of Three Year Health Improvement Programme 
with Public Health and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 Significant Event Analysis of patients diagnosed following an acute admission 
has taken place in each Neighbourhood in Lewisham. This has provided 
some significant insight into cancers that are presenting late. 

5.7 Priority Objective 3: Improving Immunisation Uptake

Information on uptake of all vaccines in children under five in Quarter 1, 2015-16 has 
recently been reported. This information shows a local deterioration in the uptake of 
all vaccines when compared to the most recent period.  It should be noted, however, 
that in recent years a decline in uptake in Q1 has occurred in Lewisham without any 
clear explanation, despite investigation of this phenomenon.. Uptake of vaccine has 
always improved in subsequent quarters.

Uptake of the first dose of the Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at the 
age of two, declined from 90.0% in Quarter 4 2014/15 to 87.5% in Quarter 1 2015/16. 
This level of uptake was however greater than in Quarter 1 2014/15, when the uptake 
was 85.5%. The most recent uptake figure for Lewisham is 4.6% lower than the 
national figure, but is in line with the mean level of uptake in.

Uptake of the Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR2), at five has declined 
from 71.0% in Quarter 4 2014/15 to 70.0% in Quarter 1 2015/16. This is the third 
consecutive quarter of decline and takes the uptake level back to below the level 
seen in Quarter 1 2014/15. The England level of uptake has remained steady at 
above 88% for the last two years, whilst the London level has consistently stayed 
around 80%. Uptake of MMR2 at five remains the greatest challenge locally. 

Uptake of the third dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D3) in children aged one has also 
fallen from 92.2% in Quarter 4 2014/15 to 91.0% in Quarter 1 2015/16. This level is 
higher than in Quarter 1 2014/15 when uptake was 90.6%. The most recent data is 
also above the London level of 90.0% but below the national figure of 93.6%. 

Whilst uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five has declined 
between Quarter 4 2014/15, when it was at 83.5%, to 81.5% in Quarter 1 2015/16, 
the most recent data is still notably higher than at any point over the last two years. 
The Lewisham uptake is also higher than the London figure of 78.5% but is below the 
England level of 87.7%.

More encouraging is provisional data for Quarter 2 of 2015/16 which indicates 
improvement in uptake for MMR1, D3 and D4 vaccines. Uptake of MMR2 at five,  
however, remains a challenge and work with NHS England continues towards 
increased uptake of this vaccine.

5.8 Priority Objective 4: Reducing Alcohol Harm

There is no change since the last dashboard.

5.9 Priority Objective 5: Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young 
people and reducing the numbers of people smoking

New data is being reported for Smoking quitters at 4 weeks. The number of smoking 
quitters for 2014/15 was lower than previous years and did not meet target, but the 
rate per 100,000 was higher than London and England. 



4

The Stop Smoking Service (SSS) is very successful at reaching heavily addicted 
smokers such as pregnant women and people with mental health problems, with a 
strong correlation between IMD scores and smoking quitters and an increasing 
number of smokers quitting from more deprived wards.

The reductions in funding to the SSS for 2015/16 have meant a lower target of 1,600 
(the target was 1,800 for 2014/15). Performance data from Quarter 1 indicate that the 
service is likely to achieve this new, reduced target. The service is continuing to focus 
on heavily addicted smokers and high quality service. The reductions are being 
achieved through de-commissioning less active GP and pharmacy providers and by 
recruiting smokers into the service through opt out referrals and brief interventions to 
scale, rather than outreach events. The service is also aligning itself with the Local 
Neighbourhood care networks.

5.10 Priority Objective 6: Improving mental health and wellbeing

There is no change since the last dashboard.

5.11 Priority Objective 7: Improving sexual health

There is no change since the last dashboard.

5.12 Priority Objective 8: Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support

There is no change since the last dashboard.

5.13 Priority Objective 9: Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with 
long term conditions

The 2014/15 rate of avoidable admissions has increased to 1005.9 per 100,000 
population from 953.2 in 2013/14. This deterioration means that Lewisham is 
significantly worse than both London and England. An update on the percentage of 
people feeling supported to manage their long term condition at home has also been 
released with Lewisham seeing a drop from 61.1% in 2013/14, down to 57.4% in 
2014/15.This decline was also witnessed in the London and England proportions, 
however Lewisham’s proportion is significantly worse. 

New data for Health Related Quality of Life for People with Long Term Conditions 
has remained stable. The sample for this indicator is not large enough for 
significance testing to be calculated. Data for 2014/15 measuring the rate of 
Emergency Admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital 
admission also showed deterioration in performance. The latest data is 1522.2; an 
increase from 1294.5 in 2013/14. The rate is significantly higher than both London 
and England. New data for 2014/15 is reported on the percentage of Emergency 
Readmissions within 30 days of discharge. At 15.54% Lewisham saw a slight 
improvement from 2013/14 when the figure was 15.69%.

The Adult Integrated Care Board are aware of these latest figures, and have 
identified appropriate actions.

6. Financial implications  

There are no specific financial implications arising from this report, however the 
board may wish to consider how resources are utilised in regards to poorly 
performing indicators.



5

7. Legal implications 

As part of their statutory functions, members of the Board are required to encourage 
persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in the area to 
work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health and well-being 
of the area and to encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health-related 
services in its area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board.

8. Crime and Disorder Implications

There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations

9. Equalities Implications 

There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations, but the dashboard highlights those areas where health 
inequalities exist in Lewisham and can be monitored. 

10. Environmental Implications

There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations.

11. Summary and Conclusion

Whilst there has been much improvement in the uptake of vaccine in Lewisham in 
recent years, local uptake of all vaccines in children remains consistently lower than 
uptake in England as a whole. However we remain above the London average for 
most indicators. Crucially in the first quarter of this year, there has been a decline in 
the uptake of all vaccines in the under-fives. Such a decline in the first quarter has 
been reported in earlier years, and performance has improved subsequently, but the 
aim is to continue to improve uptake of vaccines until uptake in Lewisham is at least 
as good as the national average and beyond that - until herd immunity can be 
achieved, which requires 95% uptake for most vaccines. There is significant variation 
between GP practices on immunisation uptake rates and improvement of 
performance in a relatively small number of practices would raise the Lewisham 
mean towards herd immunity. Reduction of this variation and addressing our single 
greatest challenge - the persistently low uptake of the MMR2 at five are the two main 
priorities for action locally.

The Lewisham Immunisation Action Plan includes measures to improve uptake of all 
vaccines. Lewisham Council and Lewisham CCG are working together with NHS 
England to improve GP performance on vaccine uptake. London wide changes in GP 
mechanisms, and changes to the way immunisation in schools is commissioned 
should also help improve performance of uptake of MMR2 at five in particular.

If you have any difficulty in opening the links above or those within the body of the report, 
please contact Andy Thomas (Andy.Thomas@lewisham.gov.uk; 020 8314 9996), who will 
assist.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Dr Danny Ruta, Director of Public 
Health, Community Services Directorate, Lewisham Council, on 020 8314 8637 or by email 
danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk

mailto:danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk


6

Annex B: Definitions and Data sources
Please note that some of the definitions may have PCTs instead of CCGs for organisation. This is due 
to the national definitions in the technical specification document which can be obtained by clicking on 
the link in the data source section.

1a/1b. Life Expectancy at Birth (Male/Female)
Definition The average number of years a person would expect to live based on contemporary 

mortality rates. For a particular area and time period, it is an estimate of the 
average number of years a newborn baby would survive if he or she experienced 
the age-specific mortality rates for that area and time period throughout his or her 
life.
Figures are calculated from deaths from all causes and mid-year population 
estimates, based on data aggregated over a three year period.
Figures reflect mortality among those living in an area in each time period, rather 
than what will be experienced throughout life among those born in the area. The 
figures are not therefore the number of years a baby born in the area could actually 
expect to live, both because the mortality rates of the area are likely to change in 
the future and because many of those born in the area will live elsewhere for at 
least some part of their lives.

Numerator Number of deaths registered in the respective calendar years
Denominator ONS mid-year population estimates for the respective calendar years
Data source PHOF 0.1ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023

2. Children in Poverty (Under 16s)
Definition Percentage of children in low income families (children living in families in receipt of 

out of work benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% 
median income) for under 16s only.

Numerator Number of children aged under 16 living in families in receipt of CTC whose 
reported income is less than 60 per cent of the median income or in receipt of IS or 
(Income-Based) JSA.

Denominator Number of children aged under 16 for whom Child Benefit was received in each 
local authority.

Data source PHOF 1.01ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023

3. Under 75 Mortality Rates from CVD
Definition Mortality from all circulatory diseases (ICD-10 I00-I99 equivalent to ICD-9 390-459).
Numerator Deaths from all circulatory diseases, classified by underlying cause of death (ICD-

10 I00-I99, ICD-9 390-459 adjusted), registered in the respective calendar year(s).
Denominator 2011 Census based mid-year pop estimates
Data source NHSIC - P00400

Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/06A_076DRT0074_12_V1
_D.csv
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_06A_076DR
T0074_V1.pdf

4. Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to healthcare (DSR)
Definition Directly age and sex standardised potential years of life lost to conditions amenable 

to healthcare in the respective calendar year per 100,000 CCG population.
Numerator Death registrations in the calendar year for all England deaths based on GP of 

registration from the Primary Care Mortality Database (PCMD).
Denominator Unconstrained GP registered population counts by single year of age and sex from 

the HSCIC (Exeter) Systems; supplied annually on 1 January for the forthcoming 

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/06A_076DRT0074_12_V1_D.csv
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/06A_076DRT0074_12_V1_D.csv
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_06A_076DRT0074_V1.pdf
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_06A_076DRT0074_V1.pdf


7

calendar year.
Data source NHOF 1a (NHSIC P01559 – CCGOI 1.1)

Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%2
0Indicators/Data/CCG_1.1_I00767_D_V5.xls
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%2
0Indicators/Specification/CCG_1.1_I00767_S_V4.pdf 

5a/5b. Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth (Males/Females)
Definition This indicator measures inequalities in life expectancy. Life expectancy at birth is 

calculated for each local deprivation decile based on Lower Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs). The slope index of inequality (SII) is then calculated based on these 
figures. The SII is a measure of the social gradient in life expectancy, i.e. how much 
life expectancy varies with deprivation. It takes account of health inequalities across 
the whole range of deprivation factors within each local authority and summarises 
this as a single number, which represents the range in years of life expectancy 
across the social gradient from most to least deprived, based on a statistical 
analysis of the relationship between life expectancy and deprivation across all 
deprivation deciles.
Life expectancy at birth is a measure of the average number of years a person 
would expect to live based on contemporary mortality rates. For a particular area 
and time period, it is an estimate of the average number of years a newborn baby 
would survive if he or she experienced the age-specific mortality rates for that area 
and time period throughout his or her life.

Data source PHOF 0.2iii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023

6. Infant Mortality
Definition Mortality rate per 1,000 live births (age under 1 year)
Numerator The number of infant deaths aged less than 1 year that occurred in the relevant 

period.
Denominator Number of all births.
Data source CHIMAT Child health Profiles for Lewisham

http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=101746&REGION=101634
Original source is from ONS.

7. Low birth weight of all babies
Definition Percentage of live and stillbirths weighing less than 2,500 grams
Numerator Number of new born babies weighing less than 2500gms
Denominator Number of all births
Data source CHIMAT Child health Profiles for Lewisham

http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=101746&REGION=101634
Original source is from ONS

8. Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed support, and those receiving direct 
payments
Definition This is a two-part measure which reflects both the proportion of people using 

services who receive self-directed support (part 1), and the proportion who receive 
a direct payment either through a personal budget or other means (part 2).

Numerator Number of clients and carers receiving self-directed support (part 1) or direct 
payments (part 2) in the year to 31 March

Denominator Number of clients receiving community-based services and carers receiving carer 
specific services in the year to 31 March (aged 18 and over)

Data source ASCOF 1C – NHSIC https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/1C - Dec.xls

https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Data/CCG_1.1_I00767_D_V5.xls
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Data/CCG_1.1_I00767_D_V5.xls
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Specification/CCG_1.1_I00767_S_V4.pdf%20
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Specification/CCG_1.1_I00767_S_V4.pdf%20
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=101746&REGION=101634
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=101746&REGION=101634
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social%20Care/Data/1C%20-%20Dec.xls


8

9. Average number of delayed transfers of care from hospital on a particular day, averaged over the 
year (Crude rate per 100,000)
Definition This measures the impact of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) 

and community-based care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from 
hospital. This indicates the ability of the whole system to ensure appropriate transfer 
from hospital for the entire adult population, and is an indicator of the effectiveness 
of the interface within the NHS, and between health and social care services. 
Minimising delayed transfers of care and enabling people to live independently at 
home is one of the desired outcomes of social care. This is a two-part measure that 
reflects both the overall number of delayed transfers of care (part 1) and, as a 
subset, the number of these delays which are attributable to social care services 
(part 2). A delayed transfer of care occurs when a patient is ready for transfer from 
a hospital bed, but is still occupying such a bed.

Numerator Average number of delayed transfers of care on a particular day taken over the year 
(aged 18 and over) - this is the average of the 12 monthly snapshots collected in the 
monthly Situation Report (SitRep) (part 1) and of those the delays that are 
attributable to social care or jointly to social care and the NHS (part 2)

Denominator Size of the adult population in area (aged 18 and over)
Data source ASCOF 2C http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-

transfers-of-care/

10. Days of Delay due to delayed transfers of care from hospital
Definition This measure is similar to ASCOF 2C in that it measures the impact of hospital 

services and community based care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer 
from hospital. However the measure looks at the total number of days of delay, 
rather than the number of patients that were delayed.

Average number of days of delay patients experienced on a particular day taken 
over the year (aged 18 and over) 

Data source NHS England http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-
transfers-of-care/

Priority Objective 1: Achieving a Healthy Weight

11. Excess weight in Adults
Definition Percentage of adults classified as overweight or obese
Numerator Number of adults with a BMI classified as overweight (including obese), calculated 

from the adjusted height and weight variables. Data are from APS6 quarters 2-4 
and APS7 quarter 1 (mid-Jan 2012 to mid-Jan 2013).
Adults are defined as overweight (including obese) if their body mass index (BMI) is 
greater than or equal to 25kg/m2

Denominator Number of adults with valid height and weight recorded. Data are from APS6 
quarters 2-4 and APS7 quarter 1 (mid-Jan 2012 to mid-Jan 2013).

Data source PHOF 2.12 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: Active People Survey (APS), England

12a/12b. Excess weight in Children - Reception Year/ Year 6 Children
Definition Proportion of children aged 4-5 classified as overweight or obese. Children are 

classified as overweight (including obese) if their BMI is on or above the 85th centile 
of the British 1990 growth reference (UK90) according to age and sex.

Numerator Number of children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) or Year 6 (aged 10-11) and 
classified as overweight or obese in the academic year. Children are classified as 
overweight (including obese) if their BMI is on or above the 85th centile of the British 
1990 growth reference (UK90) according to age and sex

Denominator Number of children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) or Year 6 (aged 10-11) measured 
in the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) attending participating state 
maintained schools in England

Data source PHOF 2.06 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023


9

framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: HSCIC National Childhood Measurement Programme (NCMP)

13. Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks
Definition This is the percentage of infants that are totally or partially breastfed at age 6-8 

weeks. Totally breastfed is defined as infants who are exclusively receiving breast 
milk at 6-8 weeks of age - that is, they are not receiving formula milk, any other 
liquids or food. Partially breastfed is defined as infants who are currently receiving 
breast milk at 6-8 weeks of age and who are also receiving formula milk or any other 
liquids or food. Not at all breastfed is defined as infants who are not currently 
receiving any breast milk at 6-8 weeks of age.

Numerator Number of infants at the 6-8 week check who are totally or partially breastfeeding.
Denominator Number of infants due for 6-8 week checks.
Data source PHOF 2.02ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: Department of Health Integrated Performance Monitoring Return

14a/14b. % of physically active and inactive adults
Definition The number of respondents aged 16 and over, with valid responses to questions on 

physical activity, doing at least 150 “equivalent” minutes of at least moderate 
intensity physical activity per week in bouts of 10 minutes or more in the previous 28 
days expressed as a percentage of the total number of respondents aged 16.

Numerator Number of respondents aged 16 and over, with valid responses to questions on 
physical activity, doing at least 150 “equivalent” minutes of at least moderate 
intensity physical activity per week in bouts of 10 minutes or more in the last 28 days

Denominator Number of respondents aged 16 and over, with valid responses to questions on 
physical activity.

Data source PHOF 2.13i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: Active People Survey, England

Priority Objective 2: Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung 
cancer for 1 and 5 years

15a. Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer
Definition The percentage of women in the resident population eligible for breast screening 

who were screened adequately within the previous three years on 31 March
Numerator Number of women aged 53–70 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 

residence) with a screening test result recorded in the previous three years
Denominator Number of women aged 53–70 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 

residence) who are eligible for breast screening at a given point in time.
Data source PHOF 2.20i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre (Open Exeter)

15b. Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer
Definition The percentage of women in the resident population eligible for cervical screening 

who were screened adequately within the previous 3.5 years or 5.5 years, 
according to age (3.5 years for women aged 25-49 and 5.5 years for women aged 
50-64) on 31 March

Numerator The number of women aged 25-49 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) with an adequate screening test in the previous 3.5 years plus the 
number of women aged 50-64 resident in the area with an adequate screening test 
in the previous 5.5 years

Denominator Number of women aged 25–64 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) who are eligible for cervical screening at a given point in time.

Data source PHOF 2.20ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023


10

framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre (Open Exeter)

15c. Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer
Definition The number of persons registered to the practice aged 60-69 invited for screening 

in the previous 12 months who were screened adequately following an initial 
response within 6 months of invitation.

Rate of 
Proportion

Screening uptake %: the number of persons aged 60-69 invited for screening in the 
previous 12 months who were screened adequately following an initial response 
within 6 months of invitation divided by the total number of persons aged 60-69 
invited for screening in the previous 12 months.

Data source Cancer Commissioning Toolkit GP Profiles
Data https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Filters
Specification https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Documents
NB: Data in the performance indicator portal is local data from London Bowel 
Screening hub obtained via Open Exeter.

16. Early diagnosis of cancer
Definition New cases of cancer diagnosed at stage 1 and 2 as a proportion of all new cases of 

cancer diagnosed (specific cancer sites, morphologies and behaviour: invasive 
malignancies of breast, prostate, colorectal, lung, bladder, kidney, ovary, uterus, 
non-Hodgkin lymphomas, and invasive melanomas of skin). This indicator is 
labelled as experimental because of the variation in data quality: the indicator 
values primarily represent variation in completeness of staging information.

Numerator Cases of cancer diagnosed at stage 1 or 2, for the specific cancer sites, 
morphologies and behaviour: invasive malignancies of breast, prostate, colorectal, 
lung, bladder, kidney, ovary, uterus, non-Hodgkin lymphomas, and invasive 
melanomas of skin

Denominator All new cases of cancer diagnosed at any stage or unknown stage, for the specific 
cancer sites, morphologies and behaviour: invasive malignancies of breast, 
prostate, colorectal, lung, bladder, kidney, ovary, uterus, non-Hodgkin lymphomas, 
and invasive melanomas of skin

Data source PHOF 2.19 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: National cancer registry

17. Two week wait referrals
Definition The number of Two Week Wait (GP urgent) referrals where cancer is suspected for 

patients registered at the practice in question
Rate or 
proportion

The crude rate of referral: the number of Two Week Wait referrals where cancer is 
suspected multiplied by 100,000 divided by the list size of the practice in question.

Data source Cancer Commissioning Toolkit GP Profiles
Data https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Filters
Specification https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Documents

18. Under 75 mortality from all cancers
Definition Mortality from all malignant neoplasms (ICD-10 C00-C97 equiv to ICD-9 140-208).
Numerator Deaths from all malignant neoplasms, classified by underlying cause of death (ICD-

10 C00-C97, ICD-9 140-208 adjstd), registered in the respective calendar year(s).
Denominator 2001 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 1993 - 2001. 

2011 Census rebased mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 2002-2010 
2011 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar year 2011 onwards

Data source PHOF 4.05i - NHSIC P00381
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/11B_075DRT0074_12_V1
_D.xls
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_11B_075DR
T0074_V1.pdf

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Filters
https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Documents
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Filters
https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Documents
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/11B_075DRT0074_12_V1_D.xls
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/11B_075DRT0074_12_V1_D.xls
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_11B_075DRT0074_V1.pdf
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_11B_075DRT0074_V1.pdf


11

Priority Objective 3: Improving Immunisation Uptake

19. Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two years of age
Definition All children for whom the CCG is responsible who received one dose of MMR 

vaccine on or after their 1st birthday and at any time up to their 2nd birthday as a 
percentage of all children whose 2nd birthday falls within the time period. Estimates 
for local authorities are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with 
practices accountable to the CCG.

Numerator Total number of children who received one dose of MMR vaccine on or after their 
1st birthday and at any time up to their 2nd birthday.

Denominator The responsible population. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with 
a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any 
children not registered with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory 
geographical boundary.

Data source PHOF 3.03vii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original source: Cover of Vaccination Evaluated Rapidly (COVER) data collected 
by PHE. Available from HSCIC.

20. Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at five years of age
Definition All children for whom the CCG is responsible who received two doses of MMR on 

or after their 1st birthday and at any time up to their 5th birthday as a percentage of 
all children whose 5th birthday falls within the time period. Estimates for local 
authorities are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with practices 
accountable to the CCG.

Numerator Total number of children who received two doses of MMR on or after their 1st 
birthday and at any time up to their 5th birthday.

Denominator All children in the responsible population whose 5th birthday falls within the time 
period. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with a GP whose practice 
forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any children not registered 
with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory geographical boundary.

Data source PHOF 3.03 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original source: Cover of Vaccination Evaluated Rapidly (COVER) data collected 
by PHE. Available from HSCIC.

21. Uptake of the third dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age
Definition The percentage of children for whom the CCG is responsible who received 3 doses 

of DTP, polio, Hib) at any time up to their 1st birthday. Estimates for local authorities 
are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with practices accountable 
to the CCG.

Numerator Total number who received 3 doses of DTP, polio, Hib at any time up to their 1st 
birthday.

Denominator The responsible population. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with 
a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any 
children not registered with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory 
geographical boundary.

Data source Local Immunisation Cover Data

22. Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age
Definition The percentage of children for whom the CCG is responsible who received 3 doses 

of DTP, polio, Hib as well as the DTP, polio booster at any time up to their 5th 
birthday. Estimates for local authorities are based on CCGs, which include all 
people registered with practices accountable to the CCG.

Numerator The number of children for whom the CCG is responsible who received 3 doses of 
DTP, polio, Hib as well as the DTP, polio booster at any time up to their 5th 
birthday.

Denominator The responsible population. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with 
a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any 
children not registered with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory 

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023


12

geographical boundary.
Data source Local Immunisation Cover Data

23. Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham Schools
Definition The percentage of girls aged 12 to 13 years for whom the CCG is responsible who 

have received all three doses of the HPV vaccine. Estimates for local authorities 
are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with practices accountable 
to the CCG.

Numerator Number of Year 8 schoolgirls (aged 12 to 13 years) who have received all three 
doses of the HPV vaccine.

Denominator Number of Year 8 schoolgirls (aged 12-13). The CCG is responsible for all children 
registered with a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of 
residency, plus any children not registered with a GP who are resident within the 
CCG’s statutory geographical boundary.

Data source PHOF 3.03xii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
NB: Data in the performance indicator portal is local data from GP systems 
obtained via EMIS Web.
Original source: Cover of Vaccination Evaluated Rapidly (COVER) data collected 
by PHE. Available from HSCIC.

24. Uptake of Influenza vaccine in those over 65 years of age
Definition Flu vaccine uptake (%) in adults aged 65 and over, who received the flu vaccination 

between 1st September and 31st January each financial year.
Numerator Number of adults aged 65 years and over vaccinated between 1st September and 

31st January of the financial year.
Denominator Adults aged 65 years and over. The CCG is responsible for all adults registered 

with a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency.
Data source PHOF 3.03 xiv http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original source: PHE https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-
england/series/vaccine-uptake

Priority Objective 4: Reducing Alcohol Harm

25. Alcohol Specific Hospital Admission
Definition The number of hospital admissions due to alcohol-specific conditions, directly age 

standardised rate per 100,000 population.
Numerator The number of admissions involving an alcohol-related primary diagnosis or an 

alcohol-related external cause. See LAPE user guide for further details - 
http://www.lape.org.uk/downloads/Lape_guidance_and_methods.pdf

Denominator ONS mid year population estimates
Data source PHOF 6.01 http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-

profiles/data#gid/1938132833/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000002/ii
d/91384/age/1/sex/4

26. Number of practitioners skilled in identifying those at risk from alcohol harm and delivering brief 
interventions
Definition The number of practitioners who have attended Identification and Brief Advice 

Training (Brief Intervention)
Numerator N/A
Denominator All Frontline Workers
Data source Lewisham Public Health

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england/series/vaccine-uptake
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england/series/vaccine-uptake
http://www.lape.org.uk/downloads/Lape_guidance_and_methods.pdf


13

Priority Objective 5: Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and 
reducing the numbers of people smoking

27. Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory
Definition Age-standardised rate of mortality from respiratory disease in persons less than 75 

years per 100,000 population
Numerator Number of deaths from respiratory diseases (classified by underlying cause of 

death recorded as ICD codes J00-J99) registered in the respective calendar years, 
in people aged under 75, aggregated into quinary age bands (0-4, 5-9,…, 70-74). 
Counts of deaths for years up to and including 2010 have been adjusted where 
needed to take account of the ICD-10 coding change introduced in 2011. The 
detailed guidance on the implementation is available at 
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126245

Denominator ONS 2011 Census based mid-year population estimates; Population-years 
(aggregated populations for the three years) for people of all ages, aggregated into 
quinary age bands (0-4, 5-9, …, 70-74).

Data source PHOF 4.07i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023

28. Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer
Definition Mortality from lung cancer (ICD-10 C33-C34 equivalent to ICD-9 162).
Numerator Deaths from lung cancer, classified by underlying cause of death (ICD-10 C33-C34, 

ICD-9 162 adjusted), registered in the respective calendar year(s).
Denominator 2001 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 1993-2001.

2011 Census rebased mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 2002-2010 
2011 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar year 2011 onwards

Data source NHSIC – P00512
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/14B_105DRT0074_12_V1
_D.xls
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_14B_105DR
T0074_V1.pdf

29. Smoking Prevalence (18+)
Definition Prevalence of smoking among adults aged 18+in the routine and manual group
Numerator The number of persons aged 18+ who are self-reported smokers in the Integrated 

Household Survey. The number of respondents has been weighted in order to 
improve representativeness of the sample. The weights take into account survey 
design and non-response.

Denominator The number of persons aged 18+ who are self-reported smokers in the Integrated 
Household Survey. The number of respondents has been weighted in order to 
improve representativeness of the sample. The weights take into account survey 
design and non-response.

Data source PHOF 2.14 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: ONS Integrated Household Survey

30. 4 week smoking quitters
Definition This indicator relates to clients receiving support through the NHS Stop Smoking 

Services. A client is counted as a self‐reported 4‐week quitter if they have been 
assessed 4 weeks after the designated quit date and declares that he/she has not 
smoked even a single puff on a cigarette in the past two weeks. The indicator is a 
count of treatment episodes rather than people, so an individual who undergoes two 
treatment episodes and has quit at four weeks in both cases are counted twice.

Numerator Number of self‐reported 4‐week smoking quitters.
Denominator Population aged 16 or over.
Data source Data – Local NHS Stop Smoking Service database.

Specification 
https://nascis.hscic.gov.uk/download.ashx?src=MetaDataPdf&file=JSNA_Metadata

http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126245
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/14B_105DRT0074_12_V1_D.xls
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/14B_105DRT0074_12_V1_D.xls
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_14B_105DRT0074_V1.pdf
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_14B_105DRT0074_V1.pdf
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://nascis.hscic.gov.uk/download.ashx?src=MetaDataPdf&file=JSNA_Metadata_NI+123.pdf


14

_NI+123.pdf

31. Number of 11-15 year-olds who take up smoking
Definition Data is obtained from survey of Yr8 and Yr 10 secondary schoolchildren. Survey 

happens every 2 years (2008, 2010 – No survey in 2012 but one expected in 2014)
Percentage of pupils in each group responding to:
‘Which statement describes you best?’
Responses taken into account to calculate the percentage are below.

 I smoke occasionally (< 1 / week)
 Smoke regularly, like to give up
 Smoke, don't want to give it up

Data source SHEU Survey 2010 – Lewisham Public Health Team
N:\lew ph team\Health Intelligence\Archive\Health Intelligence\SHEU reports

32. Number of children in smoke free homes
Definition Data is obtained from survey of Yr8 and Yr 10 secondary schoolchildren. Survey 

happens every 2 years (2008, 2010 – No survey in 2012 but one expected in 2014)
Percentage of pupils in each group responding to:
How many people smoke, including yourself and regular visitors, on most days 
indoors in your home?
Responses taken into account to calculate the percentage are below.

 None (as Proxy)
Data source SHEU Survey 2010 – Lewisham Public Health Team

N:\lew ph team\Health Intelligence\Archive\Health Intelligence\SHEU reports

33. Prevalence of Smoking in 15 year olds
Definition Data is obtained from survey of Yr8 and Yr 10 secondary schoolchildren. Survey 

happens every 2 years (2008, 2010 – No survey in 2012 but one expected in 2014)
Percentage of pupils in each group responding to:
24: Which statement describes you best?
Responses taken into account to calculate the percentage are below.

 I have never smoked at all
Data source SHEU Survey 2010 – Lewisham Public Health Team

N:\lew ph team\Health Intelligence\Archive\Health Intelligence\SHEU reports

34. Smoking at time of delivery
Definition Number of women who currently smoke at time of delivery per 100 maternities. 

Data includes all women resident within the CCG’s boundary, and no data are 
available to break down the CCG denominators for different areas within the CCG.

Numerator Number of women known to smoke at time of delivery. 
Denominator Number of maternities.
Data source PHOF 2.03 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
NB: Latest available quarter data from NHS Stop smoking service database.

Priority Objective 6: Improving mental health and wellbeing
35. Under 75 mortality rates for those with serious mental illness
Definition Rate of mortality in people aged 18 to 74 suffering from serious mental illness 

standardised and compared to the general population.
Numerator Deaths from any cause in age range 18-74 at death. MH-NMDS linked over three 

years and to the Primary Care Mortality Database (PCMD).
Denominator The mental health population is defined as anyone who has been in contact with the 

secondary mental care services in the current financial year or in either of the two 
previous financial years who is alive at the beginning of the current financial year. 
MH-NMDS linked over three years and to PCMD, in age range 18-74.

Data source NHSOF 1.5
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Data/NHSOF_
1.5_I00665_D_V7.xls
Specification 

https://nascis.hscic.gov.uk/download.ashx?src=MetaDataPdf&file=JSNA_Metadata_NI+123.pdf
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/jknappet/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/Archive/Health%20Intelligence/SHEU%20reports
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/jknappet/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/Archive/Health%20Intelligence/SHEU%20reports
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/jknappet/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/Archive/Health%20Intelligence/SHEU%20reports
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Data/NHSOF_1.5_I00665_D_V7.xls
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Data/NHSOF_1.5_I00665_D_V7.xls


15

https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Specification/
NHSOF_Domain_1_S_V2.pdf

36a. Prevalence of Serious Mental Illness
Definition The percentage of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other 

psychoses as recorded on practice disease registers.
Numerator Patients with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses
Denominator CCG responsible population
Data source National GP Practice Profiles http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-

practice/data#mod,3,pyr,2013,pat,19,par,E38000098,are,-,sid1,2000003,ind1,-
,sid2,-,ind2,-
Original Source: HSCIC QOF http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262

36b. Prevalence of Dementia
Definition The percentage of patients with dementia as recorded on practice disease registers.
Numerator Patients with dementia
Denominator CCG responsible population
Data source Original Source: HSCIC QOF http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262.

36c. Prevalence of Depression
Definition The percentage of patients aged 18 and over with depression, as recorded on 

practice disease registers.
Numerator Patients aged 18 and over with depression, as recorded on practice disease 

registers.
Denominator CCG responsible population
Data source Original Source: HSCIC QOF http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262

37. Suicide rates
Definition Age-standardised mortality rate from suicide and injury of undetermined intent per 

100,000 population
Numerator Number of deaths from suicide and injury of undetermined intent classified by 

underlying cause of death recorded as ICD10 codes X60-X84 (all ages), Y10-Y34 
(ages 15+ only) registered in the respective calendar years, aggregated into quinary 
age bands (0-4, 5-9,…, 85-89, 90+).
Counts of deaths for years up to and including 2010 have been adjusted where 
needed to take account of the ICD-10 coding change introduced in 2011. The 
detailed guidance on the implementation is available at 
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126245.

Denominator Population-years (aggregated populations for the three years) for people of all 
ages, aggregated into quinary age bands (0-4, 5-9, …, 85-89, 90+). ONS 2011 Mid 
year estimates.

Data source PHOF 4.10 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000044/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: ONS Mortality data extracted by Public Health England

38. Self-reported well-being - people with a low happiness score
Definition The percentage of respondents who answered 0-4 to the question

"Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday?"
ONS are currently measuring individual/subjective well-being based on four 
questions included on the Integrated Household Survey:

“Overall, how satisfied are you with your life nowadays?”
“Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday?”
“Overall, how anxious did you feel yesterday?”
“Overall, to what extent do you feel the things you do in your life are worthwhile?”

Responses are given on a scale of 0-10
(where 0 is “not at all satisfied/happy/anxious/worthwhile”; and
 10 is “completely satisfied/happy/anxious/worthwhile”)
In the ONS report, the percentage of people scoring 0-4, 5-6, 7-8 and 9-10 have 
been calculated for this indicator. The percentage of those scoring 0-4 (respondents 

https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Specification/NHSOF_Domain_1_S_V2.pdf
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Specification/NHSOF_Domain_1_S_V2.pdf
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data#mod,3,pyr,2013,pat,19,par,E38000098,are,-,sid1,2000003,ind1,-,sid2,-,ind2,-
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data#mod,3,pyr,2013,pat,19,par,E38000098,are,-,sid1,2000003,ind1,-,sid2,-,ind2,-
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data#mod,3,pyr,2013,pat,19,par,E38000098,are,-,sid1,2000003,ind1,-,sid2,-,ind2,-
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000044/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000044/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023


16

in that area that scored themselves the lowest marks) in the question: 'Overall, how 
happy did you feel yesterday?' will be presented in this indicator.

Numerator Weighted count of respondents in the APS who rated their answer to the question: 
“Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday?” as 0, 1, 2, 3 or 4 on a scale between 
0-10, where 0 is not at all and 10 is completely. These respondents are described 
as having the lowest levels of happiness. Respondents in the APS are aged 16 and 
over who live in residential households in the UK

Denominator Weighted count of all respondents to the question “Overall, how happy did you feel 
yesterday?”

Data source PHOF 2.23ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source: Annual Population Survey (APS); ONS

Priority Objective 7: Improving sexual health

39. Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young people aged 15 to 24
Definition Crude rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young adults aged 15-24 based on 

their area of residence
Numerator The number of people aged 15-24 diagnosed with chlamydia
Denominator Resident population aged 15-24
Data source PHOF 3.02i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

framework#gid/1000043/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source http://www.chlamydiascreening.nhs.uk/ps/data.asp

40a. People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection(%) or
Definition Number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly diagnosed with HIV infection with 

CD4 counts available withing 91 days and indicating a count of less than 350 cells 
per mm3 as a percentage of number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly 
diagnosed with HIV infection with CD4 counts available within 91 days.

Numerator Number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly diagnosed with HIV infection with 
CD4 counts available within 91 days and indicating a count of less than 350 cells 
per mm3

Denominator Number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly diagnosed with HIV infection with 
CD4 counts available within 91 days.

Data source PHOF 3.04 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023

40b. Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000 among persons aged 15 to 59 years
Definition People aged 15 to 59 years who were seen at HIV care services.

Numerator The number of people living with a diagnosed HIV infection resident in a given local 
health service who were aged 15 to 59 years and who were seen for HIV care at a 
NHS site in the UK.

Denominator Estimated total population aged 15 to 59 years resident in a given local health 
service area (ONS mid-year population estimates)

Data source Public health England Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles
http://www.phoutcomes.info/profile/sexualhealth/data#gid/8000057/pat/6/ati/102/pa
ge/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original Source - HPA for HIV stats/ ONS for Population 
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webw/HPAweb&Page&HPAwebAutoListDate/Page/1201094
588844?p=1201094588844

41. Legal Abortion rate for all ages
Definition Legal Abortions: Age Standardised Rate per 1000 resident women aged 15-44
Numerator Number of all Legal Abortions
Denominator Number of resident women aged 15-44
Data source ONS via DH. Detailed data obtained through Local commissioners.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3076

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000043/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000043/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.chlamydiascreening.nhs.uk/ps/data.asp
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/profile/sexualhealth/data#gid/8000057/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/profile/sexualhealth/data#gid/8000057/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webw/HPAweb&Page&HPAwebAutoListDate/Page/1201094588844?p=1201094588844
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webw/HPAweb&Page&HPAwebAutoListDate/Page/1201094588844?p=1201094588844
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307650/Abortion_statistics__England_and_Wales.pdf


17

50/Abortion_statistics__England_and_Wales.pdf

42. Teenage conceptions
Definition Conceptions in women aged under 18 per 1,000 females aged 15-17

Numerator Number of pregnancies that occur to women aged under 18, that result in either 
one or more live or still births or a legal abortion under the Abortion Act 1967.

Denominator Number of women aged 15-17 living in the area.
Data source Public health outcomes framework  2.04

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
Original source: ONS

Priority Objective 8 – Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support.

43. Social care related quality of life (to be replaced by a national metric in due course)
Definition How do people receiving adult social care services rate their quality of life? This 

measure is calculated using a combination of responses to the Adult Social Care 
Survey, which asks how satisfied or dissatisfied users are with indicators of quality 
of life, such as personal cleanliness and safety. A higher score is better, with a 
theoretical maximum of 32, and a minimum of 8. Any score better than 16 suggests 
a positive result.

Numerator The sum of the scores for all respondents who answered all eight questions.
Denominator Number of respondents who answered questions 3a to 9a and 11 in the annual 

Adult Social Care Survey
Data source ASCOF 1A https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/1A - Dec.xls 

44. Rate of new admissions to long term care
Definition This is a two part-measure reflecting the number of admissions of younger adults 

(part 1) and older people (part 2) to residential and nursing care homes relative to 
the population size of each group. The measure compares council records with 
ONS population estimates.

Numerator Number of council-supported permanent admissions of older adults to residential 
and nursing care, excluding transfers between residential and nursing care (aged 
18-64 – part 1 and aged 65 and over - part 2)

Denominator Size of older adult population in area (aged 65 and over)
Data source ASCOF 2A https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/2A - Dec.xls 

45. Percentage of older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
rehabilitation/reablement services 
Definition This measures the benefit to individuals from reablement, intermediate care and 

rehabilitation following a hospital episode, by determining whether an individual 
remains living at home 91 days following discharge – a key outcome for people 
receiving reablement. It captures the joint work of social services and health staff 
and services commissioned by joint teams, as well as adult social care reablement.

Numerator Number of older people (aged 65 and over) discharged from acute or community 
hospitals to their own home or to a residential or nursing care home or extra care 
housing for rehabilitation, with a clear intention that they will move on/back to their 
own home (including a place in extra care housing or an adult placement scheme 
setting), who are at home or in extra care housing or an adult placement scheme 
setting 91 days after the date of their discharge from hospital. This should only 
include the outcome for those cases referred to in the denominator.

Denominator Number of older people (aged 65 and over) discharged from acute or community 
hospitals from hospital to their own home or to a residential or nursing care home or 
extra care housing for rehabilitation, with the clear intention that they will move 
on/back to their own home (including a place in extra care housing or an adult 
placement scheme setting).

Data source ASCOF 2B https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/2B - Dec.xls 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/307650/Abortion_statistics__England_and_Wales.pdf
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social%20Care/Data/1A%20-%20Dec.xls
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social%20Care/Data/2A%20-%20Dec.xls
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social%20Care/Data/2B%20-%20Dec.xls


18

Priority Objective 9: Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long term 
conditions

46. Rate of avoidable emergency admissions - Unplanned Hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory 
care sensitive conditions (per 100,000 pop)
Definition Composite measure of: 

 unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions 
(all ages);

 unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in children;
 emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require 

hospital admission (all ages); and
 emergency admissions for children with lower respiratory tract infection.

Numerator Total avoidable emergency admissions for primary diagnoses covering those in all 
four metrics above, by local authority of residence (NB. This is not the same as 
adding admissions from the separate metrics as the four separate metrics overlap 
to some degree and this will therefore lead to ‘double counting’)

Denominator Mid-year ONS population estimates
Data source Data: HSCIC HES/ONS Mid-year population estimates

Specification: NHS Quality Premium Estimate http://www.england.nhs.uk/ccg-
ois/qual-prem/ 

47. Percentage of People able to manage effectively their own long term condition at home
Definition This indicator measures the degree to which people with health conditions that are 

expected to last for a significant period of time feel they have had sufficient support 
from relevant services and organisations to manage their condition. Patients are 
encouraged to consider all services and organisations that support them in 
managing their condition, and not just health services. It is based on responses to 
the GP Patient Survey q30 (about whether a patient has a long-term condition) and 
q31 (asking about type of condition, which can reset q30 if they said no/don’t know).

Numerator Total of respondents who said ‘yes definitely’ and half the total respondents who 
said ‘yes, to some extent’ for q32 (which asks whether in the last six months they 
have had enough support to help manage their condition).

Denominator As the numerator, but adds in those that responded ‘no’.
Data source NHSOF 2.1 https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes 

Framework/Data/NHSOF_2.1_I00706_D_V3.xls 

48. Adult Social Care Reviews 
Definition Number of current adult social care service users that have been receiving services 

for at least twelve months that were reviewed in the last twelve months.
Numerator Number of reviews undertaken in the last twelve months of long term service users 

still receiving a service.
Denominator Number of service users receiving services for at least twelve months currently 

receiving long term services as at the end of the twelve months.
Data source HSCIC – subset of old RAP A1 and new SALT Return LTS Table 2b 

https://nascis.hscic.gov.uk/Portal/Tools.aspx 

49. Health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions 
Definition This indicator measures health-related quality of life for people who identify 

themselves as having one or more long-standing health conditions. Health-related 
quality of life refers to the extent to which people: 1. have problems walking about; 
2. have problems performing self-care activities (washing or dressing themselves); 
3. have problems performing their usual activities (work, study etc.); 4. have pain or 
discomfort; 5. feel anxious or depressed.

Numerator The numerator is the sum of the weighted index values for all responses from 
people who identify themselves as having a long-term condition.

Denominator The denominator is the weighted count of survey responses from all people who 
identify themselves as having a long-term condition.

Data source GP Patient Survey (GPPS) from Ipsos MORI (http://www.gp-patient.co.uk/) - Official 
Statistics Published annually (two waves per year, July - September and January -
March) as a financial year data set.

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ccg-ois/qual-prem/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ccg-ois/qual-prem/
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Data/NHSOF_2.1_I00706_D_V3.xls%20
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Data/NHSOF_2.1_I00706_D_V3.xls%20
https://nascis.hscic.gov.uk/Portal/Tools.aspx


19

50. Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission 
(DSR rate per 100,000 Pop)
Definition Directly age and sex standardised rate of unplanned hospitalisation admissions for 

chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions for persons of all ages.
Numerator Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) Continuous Inpatient Spells (CIP).
Denominator Unconstrained GP registered population counts by single year of age and sex from 

the NHAIS (Exeter) Systems; extracted annually on 1 April for the forthcoming 
financial year

Data source NHSOF 2.3i – NHS Indicator Portal - P01563
Data
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indi
cators/Data/CCG_2.6_I00757_D_V6.xls
Specification
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indi
cators/Specification/CCG_2.6_I00757_S_V4.pdf

51. Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital (%)
Definition Percentage of emergency admissions to any hospital in England occurring within 30 

days of the last, previous discharge after admission. Admissions for cancer and 
obstetrics are excluded.

Numerator The number of finished and unfinished continuous inpatient (CIP) spells that are 
emergency admissions within 0-29 days (inclusive) of the last, previous discharge 
from hospital (see denominator), including those where the patient dies, but 
excluding the following: those with a main specialty upon readmission coded under 
obstetric and those where the readmitting spell has a diagnosis of cancer (other 
than benign or in situ) or chemotherapy for cancer coded anywhere in the spell.

Denominator The number of finished CIP spells within selected medical and surgical specialties, 
with a discharge date up to March 31st within the year of analysis. Day cases, 
spells with a discharge coded as death, maternity spells (based on specialty, 
episode type, diagnosis), and those with mention of a diagnosis of cancer or 
chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the spell are excluded. Patients with mention 
of a diagnosis of cancer or chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the 365 days prior 
to admission are excluded.

Data source Dr Foster - based on Hospital Episode Statistics

https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Data/CCG_2.6_I00757_D_V6.xls
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Data/CCG_2.6_I00757_D_V6.xls
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Specification/CCG_2.6_I00757_S_V4.pdf
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indicators/Specification/CCG_2.6_I00757_S_V4.pdf


20

Annex C: Glossary
APS – Active People Survey 

ASCOF -Adult and Social Care Outcomes Framework

BCBV - NHS Better Care Better Value Indicators

BMI – Body Mass Index

CCG - Clinical Commissioning Group

CCGOI - Clinical Commissioning Group Outcome Indicator

CTC – Child Tax Credit

D3 – Third dose of Diphtheria vaccine

D4 – Fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine

HES – Hospital Episode Statistics

HSCIC - Health and Social Care Information Centre

ICD – International Classification of Diseases

IS – Income Support

JSA – Job-Seekers Allowance

MH-NMDS – Mental Health National Minimum Dataset

MMR- Measles, Mumps, Rubella dose 1

MMR2 - Measles, Mumps, Rubella dose 2

NHSIC - NHS Indicator Portal

NHSOF – National Health Service Outcome Framework

ONS – Office for National Statistics

PCMD - Primary Care Mortality Database

PCT – Primary Care Trust

PHOF - Public Health Outcomes Framework 

PHE - Public Health England 

QOF - Quality and Outcomes Framework



Appendix A: Health and Wellbeing Performance Metrics 2015/16

Updated indictors are bolded Frequency Latest
Period of
Availability

Previous
Available
Period
(Lewisham
)

Latest
Available
Period
(Lewisham)

Lon Eng England
Benchmark

Direction
from
Previous
Period

Data Source

Overarching Indicators
1a Life Expectancy at Birth (Male)(yrs) Annual 2011-13 78.2 78.7 80.0 79.4 sig low ONS
1b Life Expectancy at Birth (Female)(yrs) Annual 2011-13 82.6 83.0 84.1 83.1 similar ONS

2 Children in poverty (%) Annual 2012 30.5 27.7 23.7 19.2 sig high CHIMAT Profile 2015
3 Under 75 from CVD mortality (DSR) Annual 2011-13 91.0 87.4 80.1 78.2 sig high NHSIC - P00400/ PHOF 4.04i

4† Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to healthcare (DSR) Annual 2014 - 2212.6 - 2064.5 sig high - NHSOF 1A  - ONS ( CCG 1.1 DSR)- P01559

5a
Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within English local authorities, based on local
deprivation deciles within each area (Male)

Annual 2011-13 6.6 7.7 - - - PHOF 0.2iii

5b
Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within English local authorities, based on local
deprivation deciles within each area (Female)

Annual 2011-13 6.6 6.6 - - - PHOF0.2iii

6 Infant Mortality (%) Annual 2011-13 4.9 4.6 3.8 4.0 similar P00723/CHIMAT Profile 2014
7 Low Birth Weight of all babies (%) Annual 2013 8.4 7.8 7.9 7.4 sig high P00455/CHIMAT Profle 2014

8
Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed support, and those receiving direct
payments 

Annual 2013-14 55.5 69.4 67.5 62.1 - ASCOF(1C)- NHSIC -P01509

9
Average number of delayed transfers of care on a particular day taken over the year (Crude rate per
100,000 adult population)

Annual 2013-14 4.9 4.6 6.8 9.6 - ASCOF 2C- NHSIC - P01516

10 Total Days of Delay (crude rate per 100,000) Annual 2014-15 1418.7 1570.0 - - - BCF - Local Data - LPI264 (PPLUS)
Priority Objective 1: Achieving a Healthy Weight

11 Excess weight in Adults (%) Annual 2012-13 - 61.2 57.3 63.8 similar PHOF 2.12
12a Excess weight in Children - Reception Year (%) Annual 2013-14 25.0 24.6 23.1 22.5 sig high PHOF 2.06
12b Excess Weight in Children- Year 6 (%) Annual 2013-14 38.3 39.3 37.6 33.5 sig high PH NCMP Profiles

13 Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks(%) Qtr 2015-16 Q1 73.4 73.9 45.2 similar NHS ENGLAND
14a % of physically active and inactive adults  - Active adults Annual 2014 58.1 57.1 56.2 56.0 similar -1 PHOF 2.13i (Active People Survey)
14b % of physically active and inactive adults  - Inactive adults Annual 2014 25.1 27.5 27.0 27.7 similar 1 PHOF 2.13ii (Active People Survey)

Priority Objective 2: Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung cancer for 1 and 5 years
15a Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) Annual 2014 66.0 65.0 68.9 75.9 sig low PHOF 2.20i
15b Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer(%) Annual 2014 72.4 73.7 70.3 74.2 sig low PHOF 2.20ii

15c Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%) Qtr - Local 2014/15 Q1 - 46.4 - - - -
London Bowel Screening Hub (Local data
available for 6 S.E Lon Boroughs) - 49.4%
(S.E.L avg)

16 Early diagnosis of cancer (%) Annual 2013 39.9 45.6 43.1 45.7 - PHOF 2.19 – experimental statistics
17 Two week wait referrals (number per 100,000 population) Annual 2013-14 2273 2614 - 2399 - - Cancer Toolkit GP Profiles
18 Under 75 mortality from all cancers (DSR) Annual 2011-13 159.9 159.2 136.5 144.4 sig high -1 NHSIC - P00381/ PHOF 4.05i

Priority Objective  3:  Improving  Immunisation Uptake
19 Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two years of age Qtr 2015-16 Q1 90.0 87.5 86.7 92.1 low PHOF 3.03viii/ Local Imms Cover Data

20 Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at five years of age Qtr 2015-16 Q1 71.0 70.0 80.4 88.5 low Local Immunisation cover data

21 Uptake of the third dose of Diptheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age Qtr 2015-16 Q1 92.2 91.0 90.0 93.6 low Local Immunisation cover data
22 Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age Qtr 2015-16 Q1 83.5 81.5 78.5 87.7 low Local Immunisation cover data
23 Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham Schools Annual 2013-14 84.8 82.9 80.0 86.7 sig low PHOF 3.03xii
24 Uptake of Influenza vaccine in persons  65+ years of age Annual 2014-15 70.2 71.4 69.2 72.7 similar PHOF 3.03xiv

Priority Objective 4: Reducing Alcohol Harm
25 Alcohol related admissions (ASR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2013-14 614 606 541 645 similar PHOF 2.18

26
Number of practitioners skilled in identifying those at risk from alcohol harm and delivering brief
interventions (Local source)

Annual Local*
April 2014 -
March 2015

- 500 - - - - Lewisham Drugs & Alcohol Team

Priority Objective 5 : Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and reducing the numbers of people smoking
27 Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2011-13 38.6 38.6 31.9 33.2 similar - PHOF 4.07i
28 Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2013 31.3 46.9 31.0 33.7 sig high NHS Indicator Portal - P00512
29 Smoking Prevalence(%) Annual 2013 21.4 20.6 17.3 18.4 similar -1 PHOf 2.14
30 4 week smoking quitters (crude rate per 100,000) Annual 2014-15 751 680 531 522 - Smoking Quitters
31 Number of 11-15 year-olds who take up smoking (%) Every 2-3 years 2010 - 9% - - - - SHEU Survey (to be completed)
32 Number of children in smoke free homes (%) Every 2-3 years 2010 - 57% - - - - SHEU Survey (to be completed)
33 Prevalence of Smoking in 15 year olds  (proxy: % Never smoked at all - Yr8 and Yr10 children) Every 2-3 years 2010 - 74% - - - - SHEU Survey (to be completed)
34 Smoking status at time of delivery (%) Annual/Qtr 2015-16 Q1 5.0 5.0 5.0 10.7 - HSCIC

Priority Objective 6: Improving mental health and wellbeing
35 Under 75 mortality rates for those with  serious mental illness (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2012-13 839.8 691.7 - 1,318.9 sig low NHSOF 1.5

36a Prevalence of Serious Mental Illness (%) Annual 2013-14 1.2 1.2 1.0 0.8 - QOF
36b Prevalence of Dementia (%) Annual 2013-14 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.6 - QOF
36c Prevalence of Depression (%) Annual 2013-14 5.3 4.8 4.4 6.5 - QOF
37 Suicide rates (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2011-13 7.5 8.1 7.2 8.8 similar PHOF 4.10
38 Self-reported well-being - people with a low happiness score Annual 2013-14 10.2 8.1 9.6 9.7 similar PHOF 2.23iii

Priority Objective 7: Improving sexual health
39 Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young people aged 15 to 24 (crude rate) Annual 2014 3480 3504 2178 1978 sig high PHOF 3.02i/3.02ii (NCSP & CTAD)

40a People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection (%) Annual 2011-13 50.9 46.1 40.5 45.0 similar PHOF 3.04
40b Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000 among persons aged 15 to 59 years (crude rate) Annual 2013 7.94 8.18 5.7 2.1 - PHE Sexual Health Profile

41 Legal Abortion rate for all ages (crude rate per 1000 women) Annual 2014 26.6 25.0 21.8 16.5 sig high ONS Abortion Stats
42 Teenage conceptions (Rate per 1,000 15-17 Yr olds) Annual 2013 42.0 33.1 21.8 24.3 sig high PHE Sexual Health Profile

Priority Objective 8 – Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support.
43 Social care related quality of life (%) Annual 2013-14 18.3 18.6 18.4 19 - ASCOF 1A (P01507)
44 Rate of new admissions by older adults to long term care  (crude rate per 100,000) Annual 2013-14 612.9 527.0 509.4 668.4 - ASCOF2A (P01514) (BCF)

45
% older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into
rehabilitation/reablement services

Annual 2013-14 86.5 86.9 88.9 81.9 - ASCOF 2B

` Priority Objective 9: Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long term conditions
46

Rate of avoidable emergency admissions - Unplanned Hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care
sensitive conditions (per 100,000 pop)

Annual/Qtr 2014-15 953.2 1005.9 717.5 808.5 sig high CCGOI 2.6

47 % people able to manage effectively their own long term condition at home Annual 2013-14 61.1 58.5 59.7 64.4 sig low NHSOF 2.1 (BCF)
48 Reviews of Adult Social Care Clients (cumulative % since Apr ) Annual/Qtr 2014-15 Q3 63.7 - - BCF/Local Data -  AO/D40 PPLUS
49 Health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions Annual 2014-15 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 - CCGOF 2.1

50
Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission (DSR
rate per 100,000 Pop)

Annual 2014-15 1294.5 1522.2 1047.8 1272.4 sig high CCGOF3.1

51 Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of discharge (%) Annual 2014-15 15.69 15.54 - - - - Dr Foster

Key

sig high -signficantly higher than England;  sig low - significantly lower than England Statistically Better than England
similar - statistically similar to England Statistically Similar to England
DSR - Directly Standardised Rates Statistically Worse than England
ASR - Age Standardised Rates Blank where no statistical comparison could be made 
ISR - Indirectly standardised Rates Where performance is notably lower but other areas data is not statistically robust to compare
Lew - Lewisham; Lon - London; Eng - England

Arrows Indicate up or down performance of current year /qtr from previous yr/qtr
Links to Source with their abbreviations
http://www.phoutcomes.info/ Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF)
http://www.phoutcomes.info/profile/sexualhealth Public Health England Sexual Health Profiles
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/ NHS Indicator Portal (NHSIC) by Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC)
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/qof Quality and Outcomes Framework(QOF) by HSCIC
http://ascof.hscic.gov.uk/ Adult and Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF)
http://www.productivity.nhs.uk/ NHS Better Care Better Value Indicators
https://www.nhscomparators.nhs.uk/NHSComparators/HomePage.aspx NHS Comparators by HSCIC

Note: Boroughs (Bromley, Bexley, Lambeth, Southwark , Greenwich and Lewisham) from London Bowel Screening Hub
Annual/Qtr* - National Data available both quarterly and annually Annual/Qtr** - Only Local Data available both quarterly and annually
Annual* - Indicators not updated due to NO HES updates Annual /Qtr*** - 2013/14 Q3 emergency admission rates are available on BCBV metrics for each Ambulator Care Sensitive (ACS) condition.
Qtr - Financial Quarters Local Ad-hoc - Bowel Screening data only available for all 6 South East London

*Indicator 51 refers to Lewisham CCG

https://www.nhscomparators.nhs.uk/NHSComparators/HomePage.aspx


Overarching Indicator

Health Outcome Indicator Rates

Target 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-2013 London
2010-12

England 2010-
12

Direction of
Travel from
Target

Life Expectancy at Birth (Male)(yrs) 76.3 76.4 76.9 77.6 78.2 78.7 79.7 79.2
Life Expectancy at Birth (Female)(yrs) 81.2 81.6 81.7 82.3 82.6 83.0 83.8 83
Under 75 from  CVD mortality (DSR) 132.3 119 110.3 96.7 91 83.1 81.1
Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within
English local authorities, based on local deprivation deciles
within each area (Male)

N/A
6 6.6

Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within
English local authorities, based on local deprivation deciles
within each area (Female)

N/A
6.3 6.6

Infant Mortality rates 4.8 4.9 4.2 4.3
2009-11 2010-12 2011-13 Lon 2011-13 Eng 2011-13

Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes considered
amenable to healthcare (DSR)

2134.7 2102.0 2027.0 1890.2 2023.5

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Lon 2012 Eng 2012
Low Birth Weight of all babies 8.3 8.4 7.9 7.3

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed
support, and those receiving direct payments  (Crude rate per
100,000)

55.5 69.4 67.5 62.1

Delayed transfers of care from hospital (crude rate per 100,000) 3.0 4.9 6.9 9.5
Days of Delay (crude rate per 100,000) 134

2010 2011 Lon 2011 Eng 2011
Children in poverty (%) 31.7 30.5 26.5 20.6

Trend Charts
Under 75 from  CVD mortality (DSR)

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140

%

England

Life Expectancy at Birth (Male)(yrs)

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12
74.5
75.5
76.5
77.5
78.5
79.5

%

England

Life Expectancy at Birth (Female)(yrs)

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12
80

81

82

83

84

%

England

Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes  
considered amenable to healthcare (DSR)

2009-11 2010-12 2011-13

1960.0

2010.0

2060.0

2110.0

2160.0

D
SR

 p
er

 1
0 0

, 0
0 0

Eng 2011-13

Low Birth Weight of all babies

2011 2012 Lon 2012 Eng 2012

6.6

7.1

7.6

8.1

8.6

%

Infant Mortality rates

200
9-1

1

2010-1
2

201
1-2…

Lo
ndon …

Eng
land

 …

3.8

4.3

4.8

5.3

%





Priority 1 : Achieving Healthy Weight

Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London
2012/13

England
2012/13

Direction of
Travel from
Target

Excess weight in Adults (%) 61.2 57.3 63.8
Excess weight in Children - Reception Year (%) 27.8 24.8 24.8 25.0 23.0 22.2
Excess Weight in Children- Year 6 (%) 40.6 39.1 40.4 38.3 37.4 33.3
Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks(%) 74.6 75.7 73.5 68.5 47.2

2010 2011 2012
London
2012

England
2012

% of physically active and inactive adults  - Active adults 54.3 57.2 56.0
% of physically active and inactive adults  - Inactive adults 29.2 27.5 28.5

Trend Charts

Excess weight in Children - Reception Year (%)

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 
2012/13

England 
2012/13

0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0

%

Excess Weight in Children- Year 6 (%)

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 
2012/13

England 
2012/13

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

%

Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks(%)

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 
2012/13

England 
2012/13

0

20

40

60

80

%



Priority 2 : Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung cancer for 1 and 5 years

Target 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 London
2013

England 2013 Direction of
Travel from
Target

Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) 64.5 65.5 65.1 66 68.6 76.3
Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer(%) 71.7 71.4 71.9 72.4 68.6 73.9
Two week wait referrals ( number per 100,000 population) 1601 1810 1967 2273 2166

2012/13 Q4 2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4
S.E London
2013/14 Q3

England
2013/14 Q3

Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%) 60.0 44.2 44.2 38.2 35 41.4 58.8
2010 2011 2012 London 2012 England 2012

Early diagnosis of cancer (%) 2273 2166

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12
London
2010-12

England 2010-
12

Under 75 mortality from all cancers ( DSR) 172.8 173.5 168 169.4 159.9 139.1 146.5

Trend Charts

Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%)

2010 2011 2012 2013
58

63

68

73

78

%

England 2013
Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer(%)

2010 2011 2012 2013
70
71
72
73
74
75

%

England 
2013

Two week wait referrals ( number per 100,000  
population)

2010 2011 2012 2013
0

1000

2000

3000

r a
t e

  p
er

 1
0 0

, 0
0 0

England

Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%)

2012/13 Q4 2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3
0

20

40

60

80

%

England 
2013/14 Q3

Under 75 mortality from all cancers ( DSR)

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12
100

150

200

r a
t e

  p
er

 1
0 0

, 0
0 0

England



Priority 3: Improving Immunisation Uptake

Percentage Uptake of Key Vaccines

Target 2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1 London 2014/15 Q1 England 2014/15 Q1 Direction of Travel from Target

Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two
years of age 90.8% 85.7% 88.5% 87.3% 88.3% 85.5% 86.8% 92.4%
Uptake of the third dose of Diptheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age 91.9% 86.7% 88.4% 88.3% 88.9% 90.0% 88.6% 93.9%
Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age 91.1% 71.3% 70.5% 74.4% 76.2% 76.2% 77.3% 88.6%
Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at five
years of age 91.1% 68.8% 68.1% 69.8% 69.5% 70.8% 79.9% 88.5%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 2012/13 England 2012/13

Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham
Schools 68.8 80.6 84.8 78.9 86.1
Uptake of Influenza vaccine in those over 65 years of age 69.6% 70.1% 68.2% 71.2% 73.4%

Source: HPA Cover Data

Trend Charts

Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two years  
of age

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1
84.0%
85.0%
86.0%
87.0%
88.0%
89.0%

%

Uptake of the third dose of Diptheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age  

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1
85.0%

87.0%

89.0%

91.0%

%

Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

67.0%

69.0%

71.0%

73.0%

75.0%

77.0%

%

Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at five  
years of age

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

66.5%

67.5%

68.5%

69.5%

70.5%

71.5%

%

Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham  
Schools

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

0

20

40

60

80

100

%



Priority 4 : Reducing Alcohol Harm

Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London
2012/13

England
2012/13

Direction of
Travel from
Target

Alcohol related admissions (DSR) - - - 588 614 - 554 637
Number of practitioners skilled in identifying those at risk from
alcohol harm and delivering brief interventions (Local source)

- - - - 120 -

Trend Charts

Alcohol related admissions (DSR)

2011/12 2012/13 London 2012/13 England 2012/13

500

520

540

560

580

600

620

640

660

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00



Priority 5 : Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and reducing the numbers of people smoking

Tobacco Control

Target 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 London
2010-12

England 2010-
12

Direction of
Travel from
Target

Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory 51.3 49.7 47 40.9 38.6 32.6 33.5
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 London

2012
England 2012

Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer 30.39 24.92 26.68 35.78 21.0 23.04 24.06
Smoking Prevalence (18+) - routine and manual 25.4 24.3 25.7 29.7

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1 London
2013/14

England
2013/14

4 week smoking quitter (crude rate per 100,000) 200.3 197.4 197.3 180.7 172.6 656 688
Smoking at time of delivery 5.9% 4.9% 5.3% 5.2% 5.4% 11.8%

2008 2010
Number of 11-15 year-olds who take up smoking (%) 16.0% 9.0%
Number of children in smoke free homes (%) 56.0% 57.0%
Prevalence of Smoking in 15 year olds  (proxy: % Never smoked at
all - Yr8 and Yr10 children) 95.0% 74.0%

Trend Charts

Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
0

10

20

30

40

s t
 d

 r a
t e

 p
er

 1
0 0

, 0
0 0

England
Smoking Prevalence (18+) - routine and manual

2009-11 2010-12 London 2010-12 England 2010-12

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

%

Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
0

10
20
30
40
50
60

st
 d

 r a
te

 p
e r

 1
00

,0
00

England

Smoking at time of delivery  

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1
0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

%

England 2013/14

4 week Smoking Quitters

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1
155.0

165.0

175.0

185.0

195.0

205.0

0.0

200.0

400.0

600.0

800.0

Ra
te

 p
e r

 1
00

,0
00

 

England 2013/14



Priority 6 : Improving mental health and wellbeing

Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London
2011/12

England
2011/12

Direction of
Travel from
Target

Under 75 mortality rates for those with  serious mental illness (DSR) 302.2 303.6 305.3 - 337.4
Prevalence of SMI 1.2 1.2 1.0 0.8
Prevalence of Dementia 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.6
Prevalence of Depression 10 10.1 10.4 5.3 4.4 5.8
Self-reported well-being - people with a low happiness score 15 10.2 10.3 10.4

2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 London
2010-12

England 2010-
12

Suicide rates 6.9 7 7.1 7.5 7.5 8.5

Trend Charts

Prevalence of SMI

2011/12 2012/13 London 2011/12 England 2011/12
0

0.5

1

1.5

%

Prevalence of Dementia

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 
2011/12

England 
2011/12

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

%

Prevalence of Depression

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 
2011/12

England 
2011/12

0

5

10

15

%

Suicide rates  

2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12
0

2

4

6

8

10

s t
d 

r a
t e

 p
er

 1
0 0

, 0
0 0

England 2010-12

Under 75 mortality rates for those with  serious mental  
illness (DSR)

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

280

300

320

340

360

D
SR

 p
er

 1
00

, 0
00

England



Priority 7 : Improving sexual health

** old data - 2012

Target 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 London
2013

England 2013 Direction of
Travel from
Target

Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young people aged 15 to
24 (crude rate)

4728 4762 4179 3480 2179 2016

Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000 among persons
aged 15 to 59 years (crude rate)**

7.5 7.8 7.9 5.5 2.1

Legal Abortion rate for all ages (crude rate per 1000 women) 32.3 29.9 32.3 27.4 26.6 21.7 16.1
Teenage conceptions** 48.5 41.8 39.9 42.0 25.9 27.7

2009-11 2010-12 London
2010-12

England 2010-
12

People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection(%) 51.8 50.9 44.9 48.3

Trend Charts

People presenting with HIV at a late stage of  
infection(%)

2011 2012 2009-11 2010-12
41
43
45
47
49
51
53

%

Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young  
people aged 15 to 24 (crude rate)

2010 2011 2012
0

1000
2000
3000
4000
5000
6000

c r
u d

e  
ra

t e
 p

e r
 1

00
, 0

0 0 England 2013

Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000  
among persons aged 15 to 59 years (crude rate)**

2010 2011 2012
0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

c r
u d

e  
ra

t e
 p

e r
 1

00
, 0

0 0 England 2013

Legal Abortion rate for all ages (crude rate per 1000  
women)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

c r
u d

e  
ra

t e
 p

e r
 1

00
, 0

0 0 England 2013

Teenage conceptions**

2010 2011 2012
0.0

10.0
20.0
30.0
40.0
50.0
60.0

c r
u d

e  
ra

t e
 p

e r
 1

00
, 0

0 0 England 2012



Priority 8 : Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support.

Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London
2012/13

England
2012/13

Direction of
Travel from
Target

social care related quality of life (%) 19 17.7 17.9 18.3 18.6 18.4 19
Rate of new 65+ admissions to long term care  (crude rate per 100,000)549.4 931.2 854.3 560.7 612.9 527 509.4 668.4
% older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge from
hospital into rehabilitation/reablement services

88.0 88.2 88.6 89.4 86.5 86.9 88.9 81.9

Trend Charts

social care related quality of life (%)

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 
2012/13

England 
2012/13

17

17.5

18

18.5

19

19.5

%

Rate of new 65+ admissions to long term care  (crude  
rate per 100,000)

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 
2012/13

England  
2012/13

0

200
400

600
800

1000

ra
t e

 p
e r

 1
00

, 0
0 0

% older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge  
from hospital into rehabilitation/reablement services

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 
2012/13

England 
2012/13

78

83

88

93

%



Priority 9 : Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long term conditions

Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 (Prov)
London
2013/14
(Prov)

England
2013/14
(Prov)

Direction of
Travel from

Target
Rate of avoidable emergency admissions ( Std rate per 100,000
pop) 14.52 1061.2 1029 1027.6 940.9 734.6 780.9

2012/13 2013/14 London
2013/14

England
2013/14

% people able to manage effectively their own long term condition
at home

58.1 62.3 61.1 59.7 65.1

London
2012/13

England
2012/13

Reviews of Adult Social Care Clients (%) 70 74.7 62 64.4 77.9 70.7 69.8 66.6
England
2011/12

Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital 12.11 11.96 12.73 11.78
Jul 2011 -
Mar 2012

Jul 2012 -
Mar 2013

Jul 2013 -
Mar 2014

London Jul
2012 - Mar
2013

England Jul
2012 - Mar
2013

Health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions 0.73 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.74
2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

(Prov)
London
2013/14

England
2013/14

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually
require hospital admission

1147.8 1155.8 1324.8 1279.4 991 1164.7

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14(Pr
ov)

London
2013/14

Prov

England
2013/14 Prov

Unplanned admission of chronic ambulatory care sensitive
conditions

1061.2 1029.0 1027.6 940.9 734.6 780.9

Trend Charts
Rate of avoidable emergency admissions ( Std  

rate per 100,000 pop)

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
0

200
400
600
800

1000
1200

st
d 

r a
t e

 p
e r

 1
0 0

, 0
00

England 2013/14 
(Prov)

% people able to manage effectively their own long  
term condition at home

2012/13 2013/14 London 2013/14 England 2013/14
57

59

61

63

65

67

%

Reviews of Adult Social Care Clients (%)

2011/12 2012/13 London 2013/14 
(Prov)

England 2013/14 
(Prov)

0

20

40

60

80

100

%
Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of  

discharge from hospital

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12
11.2

11.7

12.2

12.7

13.2

s t
 r

at
e 

pe
r 

1 0
0,

0 0
0 England 2013/14 

(Prov)

Unplanned admission of chronic ambulatory care  
sensitive conditions

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12
0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

c r
u d

e  
r a

t e
 p

er
 1

00
,0

0 England 2013/14 
(Prov)

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should  
not usually require hospital admission

2012/13 2013/14 (Prov) London 2013/14
England 2013/14

0

500

1000

1500

D
SR

 p
e r

 1
00

, 0
0 0

0



Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of  
discharge from hospital

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12
11.2

11.7

12.2

12.7

13.2

s t
 r

at
e 

pe
r 

1 0
0,

0 0
0 England 2013/14 

(Prov)

Unplanned admission of chronic ambulatory care  
sensitive conditions

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12
0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

c r
u d

e  
r a

t e
 p

er
 1

00
,0

0 England 2013/14 
(Prov)

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should  
not usually require hospital admission

2012/13 2013/14 (Prov) London 2013/14
England 2013/14

0

500

1000

1500

D
SR

 p
e r

 1
00

, 0
0 0

0





1. Purpose

The six Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) across south east London, 
in partnership with NHS England are developing a joint commissioning 
strategy.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has received regular updates on progress 
and had the opportunity to review and comment on the draft case for 
change in March 2014.

Since the last report significant progress has been made including:

 The development of clinical models in priority areas;
 The development and sign off the consolidated strategy;
 Modeling of the financial and activity impact of the strategy;
 A revised timeline;
 The establishment of four groups to respond to London Quality 

Standards and opportunities presented by the clinical models.

2. Recommendation

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:

2.1 Note the development of the five-year strategy to date, the progress made since the 
last report, and the next steps set out in the paper.

3. Policy Context

3.1 The strategy addresses issues that require collaboration at a south east 
London level and will sit alongside the CCG’s local borough-based strategy.

4. Background information

4.1 This report summarises the progress made on the strategy and the next 
steps.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Our Healthier South East London programme update

Contributors Our Healthier South East London 
programme

Item No. 8B

Class Part 1  Date: 24 November 2015
Strategic 
Context

This paper provides a progress update on Our Healthier South 
East London – the five year strategy which aims to improve 
health and care services across south east London. In 
particular, the report includes developments in our thinking 
about A&E departments in south east London. 



4.2 The strategy is being developed in partnership with local authorities, NHS 
providers, patients, local people and other key stakeholders. Its 
development is overseen by a programme board, the Clinical 
Commissioning Board, comprising the chairs and chief officers of the six 
Clinical Commissioning Groups with colleagues from NHS England and 
representation from local authority chief executives, plus Healthwatch and 
patient and public voices. The Clinical Commissioning Board is in turn 
supported by a Partnership Group, bringing together local authority chief 
executives, NHS providers and other partners. Clinical leadership from 
CCGs, NHS providers and social care/children’s services is provided by 
the Clinical Executive Group and six Clinical Leadership Groups.

4.3 The strategy complements and builds on local work and has a particular 
focus on those areas where improvement can only be delivered by collective 
action or where there is added value from working collectively. It seeks to 
respond to local needs and aspirations, to improve the health of people in 
south east London, to reduce health inequalities and to deliver a health care 
system which is clinically and financially sustainable. It also meets the NHS 
England requirement that all CCGs develop a commissioning strategy.

4.4 The strategy is being developed through an iterative process, so this 
report reflects the progress to date. It sets out the progress in 
developing a whole system model for south east London and the six 
priority areas for intervention: community-based care, children, maternity 
services, cancer, urgent and emergency care and planned care. Each of 
these priority areas has a Clinical Leadership Group drawn from local 
NHS organisations, local authorities, Healthwatch and members of the 
public. The appendices describe the current position in relation to the 
development of whole system outcomes and modelling the impact of the 
strategy across health and social care.

4.5 The appendices describe in some detail the development of local 
care networks, which are the cornerstone of the shift to more care 
being delivered in primary and community care settings.

4.6 Through our strategy we are working to reduce unnecessary hospital visits 
and admissions, help people to get out of hospital quicker when they are 
admitted, and give people more appropriate care in the community. 

We recently updated hospitals across south east London on work to establish 
how A&E departments will need to change in the future to continue to meet 
the growing needs of patients. Our work to date suggests that investment in 
community and primary care services will help us avoid a further increase in 
A&E activity and hospital admissions, but will not significantly reduce it. So we 
expect that we will still need all of south east London’s existing A&E 
departments in the future.

Currently our A&E departments do not meet all of the London Quality 
Standards and they see too many patients who could be better dealt with in 



the community. To meet these standards and deliver the best possible care 
for patients we know that existing services will need to change the way they 
work. 

5. Financial implications

5.1 The report includes an update on the financial modelling and the financial 
implications at a south east London level. The strategy programme is 
funded jointly by the six south east London CCGs and NHS England.

6. Legal implications

6.1 Should the proposals that are currently being worked through indicate 
major service change, a public consultation under section 14Z2 of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 will be carried out in the future.

7. Crime and Disorder Implications

7.1 There are no known environmental implications to report at this stage. 

8. Equalities Implications

8.1 A first equality analysis was carried out in 2014 and a f u r t h e r  
a n a l y s i s  w a s  r e c e i v e d  i n  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 5 . The 
recommended actions are being considered by the CCGs’ equality group. 

9. Environmental Implications

9.1 There are no known environmental implications to report at this stage.

Background Documents

Help us improve your local NHS: Issues Paper – sets out a range of issues faced by 
the NHS in south east London. This is not a public consultation document, but 
shares some of our initial ideas to improve the local NHS. 

Help us improve your local NHS: Emerging models and further thinking – explores 
our ideas for change in more detail. 

Appendices

A. Our Healthier South East London – summary pack
B. Stakeholder newsletter content (September and October)

If there are any queries on this report please contact the Our Healthier South East 
London programme team by email at ourhealthiersel@nhs.net

http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/Downloads/Help%20us%20improve%20your%20local%20NHS_V12.pdf
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/Downloads/Help%20us%20improve%20your%20local%20NHS%20-%20emerging%20models.pdf
mailto:ourhealthiersel@nhs.net


Draft in progress | 

 
 
 

September 
 2015 



A partnership of Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, 
Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and NHS England 

2 Draft in progress | 

We have a shared understanding of the challenges facing south east London. These are outlined in 

our Case for Change. 

 

Our health outcomes in south east London are not as good as they should be: 

• Too many people live with preventable ill health or die too early 

• The outcomes from care in our health services vary significantly and high quality care is not 

available all the time 

• We don’t treat people early enough to have the best results 

• People’s experience of care is very variable and can be much better 

• Patients tell us that their care is not joined up between different services 

• The money to pay for the NHS is limited and need is continually increasing 

• Every one of us pays for the NHS and we have a responsibility to spend this money well 



A partnership of Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, 
Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and NHS England 

3 Draft in progress | 

Our collective vision for the south east London:   

In south east London we spend £4 billion in the NHS. Over the next five years we aim to achieve 

much better outcomes than we do now by: 

 

• Supporting people to be more in control of their health and have a greater say in their own care 

• Helping people to live independently and know what to do when things go wrong 

• Helping communities to support one another 

• Making sure primary care services are consistently excellent and with an increased focus on prevention 

• Reducing variation in healthcare outcomes and addressing inequalities by raising the standards in our 

health services to match the best 

• Developing joined up care so that people receive the support they need when they need it 

• Delivering services that meet the same high quality standards whenever and wherever care is provided 

• Spending our money wisely, to deliver better outcomes and avoid waste 



4 

A partnership of Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, 
Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and NHS England 

Community Based Care delivered by Local Care Networks is the foundation of the integrated whole system model that has been 

developed for south east London. This diagram provides an overview of the whole system model, incorporating initiatives from all 6 

Clinical Leadership Groups. 

Draft in progress | 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5 

• Case for change published Feb 2015  

• 6 Clinical leadership Groups: Community-based care, Urgent and emergency care, Maternity,    

Children’s services, Planned care and Cancer. Mental Health is an over-arching theme for all 6 

• Governance : CCGs are decision-makers; Clinical Commissioning Board, Partnership Group, Clinical   

Executive Group 

• Public and Patient Advisory Group (PPAG) and patient and public voices on each CLG 

• Draft 5 year Strategy published June 2014 

• Strong emphasis on community-based care: Local Care Networks in each borough as the 

foundation of the integrated whole system model  

• Consolidated Strategy signed off in August after CCG Governing Bodies approved the direction  of  

travel.  

• Options appraisal process under development and informed by engagement event in July. 

• Communications and engagement: A range of local and south-east London wide events have taken 

place. The plan for the next phase is being revised to take account of the proposed timetable 

• Issues Paper published in May; further paper in September sharing models of care – responses to 

both welcome 

Draft in progress | 



Community Based Care model 

Self care 

• Health coaching  

• Self management tool kits  

• Social prescribing 

• Optimising neighbourhood assets 

 

 

Managed care 
• Anticipatory care planning 
• Active case management  
• Disease management 
• Public health programmes 

Local Care Network 

Population  
needs & budget 

Specialist input shared between LCNs: 

Pulled into care delivery from outside the network: 
Virtual clinics | Specialist nurses | Consultants | 
Geriatricians |  End of Life expertise | Specialist 
rehab 

Wider community 
infrastructure: 

Police | fire service | schools | 
Housing 

Affordable high 
quality outcomes 

Strong confident communities 

Community  
Mental health 

Social 
care 

Voluntary 
sector 

Therapies 

Pharmacy 

GPs 

HCA 

Practice 
nurses 

Carers 

  Diagnostics                             Care co-ordination 
Person 

Urgent and emergency 

Local Care Networks will operate 
beyond usual GP hours in order 
to reduce referrals to emergency 
care 

Health 
visiting 

Family 
health 

Proactive, Accessible , co-ordinated, Continuous Care   

6 

Community 
Nursing 



Serving geographically 
coherent populations 

between 50,000 – 150,000  

The Community Based Care Target Model  

7 

• Leadership team 
• All general practices  working at 

scale (federated with single IT 
system and leadership) 

• All community pharmacy 
• Voluntary and community 

sector 
• Community nursing for adults 

and children 
• Social care 
• Community Mental Health 

Teams 
• Community therapy 
• Community based diagnostics 
• Patient and carer engagement 

groups 

‘The Core’ (as a minimum all 
LCNs should encompass) 

• Strong and confident communities 

• Accessible HOT clinics and acute 

oncology (urgent and emergency 

and cancer care) 

• Specialist opinion (not face to face) 

and clear specialist service 

pathways 

• Pathways to MDTs  

• Integrated 111, LAS and OOH 

system (interface with UCCs co-

located with ED model) 

• Housing, education and other 

council services 

• Community based midwifery 

teams  

• Private and voluntary sector e.g. 

care homes and domiciliary care 

• Cancer services  

• Children’s integrated community 

team and short stay units 

• Rapid response services 

• Carers 

• And there will be others.. 

Working with… 

• Supporting patients to manage their 

own health (Asset Mapping, Social 

Prescribing, education, community 

champions etc 

• Prevention – Obesity, Alcohol and 

Smoking 

• Improved Core general practice 

access plus 8-8, 365 

• Enhanced call and recall – improves 

screening and early identification 

and management of LTCs 

• Reduction in gap between recorded 

and expected prevalence in LTC 

• Supporting vulnerable people in the 

community including those in care 

homes and domiciliary care 

• Reduction in variation (level up) 

primary care management of LTCs 

• Reablement – Admissions avoidance 

and effective discharge 

• MDT configuration – main LTC 

groups (incl. MH) and Frail elderly 

• End of Life Care 

Big hitters  

Bexley 

Bromley 

Greenwich 

Lewisham 

Lambeth 

Southwark 

Integrated Pathways of care  

Integrated Single System Leadership and Management 



Strategic impact 
assessment 
Demonstrate the 
activity & finance 
implications for 
the Target Model 
assessing the 
value equation; 
patient outcomes 
over cost 

Design  
Agree the Target 
Model (‘the core’, 
‘working with’ and 
‘big hitters’) 

Provider models 
Looking at the 
localised Target 
Model, outline 
options and select 
provider model (for 
example the 
provider models 
described in the Five 
Year Forward View) 

Local 
interpretation 
Using the target 
model to articulate 
shared design 
principles, 
interpret these to 
meet the needs of 
local communities 

Contracting and  
business models 
With a preferable 
provider model 
selected, 
commissioners 
consider the 
contracting models, 
and providers the 
business model, that 
enables them to 
deliver 

The case for 
change and 
outcomes 
Identify why we 
need to change 
and what we want 
to achieve.  

The proposed high-level approach to implementation of Local Care Networks across south east London has been described as: 

8 

Local Care Network Development & Mobilisation  

In some areas, the plans have progressed quite significantly: in Southwark, for 
example, with the support of the Prime Minister’s challenge Fund, primary 
care access hubs are already offering 8:00 am to 8:00pm, seven days a week 
bookable appointments 



9 Draft in progress | 

Strategy impact analysis (finance and activity): Key messages 

• The NHS in south east London currently spends £4 billion in total across commissioners and providers and has 4,166 acute 

hospital beds. Over the five years of the strategy , the available money  will grow by £8oo million to £4.8 billion 

• But the spend will grow in total by £1.1 billion to  £5.9 billion, if we do nothing 

• The requirement for acute beds will grow because the demand for health services is increasing ; people are living longer but many 

with long term conditions such as diabetes, high blood pressure and mental illnesses and the technical advances in diagnostics 

and treatments mean that the costs of providing care are rising faster than inflation each year.   

• Our Healthier South East London is about responding better to people’s needs  by providing an alternative high quality model of 

care that is focused on improved outcomes for the population we serve.  This is because, 

– The care models are focused on prevention and early intervention and keeping people healthy and therefore keeping people 

out of hospital 

– Community Based Care is the foundation of the whole system and is intended to keep people closer to home, treating them 

in the community and enabling people to only visit hospital when they really need to 

– Pathways and professionals will be more integrated 

– Productivity is expected to increase and providers will continue to deliver efficiency savings (eg through improved 

procurement, combined support services, improved rostering of staff) which will help to close the gap 

– The plan will be for bed occupancy to meet the national guidance (which is not the case now) which will improve safety, 

quality and efficiency  

• Our current modelling therefore shows that at the end of the five years, we shall need about the same number of beds as now 

• But some of them will be used differently (more day case, fewer inpatient beds; shorter lengths of stay…) 

• This is therefore not about closing a hospital, but about avoiding the need to build a new one, which we could not afford, by 

improving health and  outcomes and delivering services which better meet people’s needs 

• It is also about creating a legacy for the future as the improvements in prevention and care should result in benefits which will 

materialise beyond the current time horizon of the next five years. 

 



10 

Closing the affordability challenge 
The graph to the right demonstrates how the benefits from the 
programme can be combined with savings within individual 
organisations to close a substantial amount of the £1.1 billion 
affordability challenge. The benefits shown are as follows: 

1. Programme central case (gross benefit): As described 
previously. 

2. Provider CIPs at 2.5%: The provider finance leads feel 
that a 2.5% CIP may be reasonable in addition to 
efficiencies generated through the programme. 

 

It is important to note that both of these savings are 
presented gross of investment requirements (which total £87 
million in the programme central case). It is expected that these 
investment requirements will, at least in part, be satisfied 
through additional funding requested through the Five Year 
Forward View and committed by the Government. Taking south 
east London’s proportionate share of the £8 billion committed 
would imply that £248 million is available for this purpose. 

 

The resultant position is a £280 million affordability challenge 
for the South East London health care economy. 

Confidential | Draft in progress | Not for wider circulation | 

1,091  

217  

594  

280  

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

Affordability
challenge (2019/20)

Programme net
savings

Provider CIPs (2.5%
YoY)

Residual challenge
(2019/20)

£
m

 



11 Draft in progress | 

Four areas have been identified which potentially require 

an option appraisal process: 

• Urgent and Emergency Care (requirement to meet 

the London Quality Standards and 7 Day 

Standards)  

• Maternity services (requirement to meet the 

London Quality Standards)  

• Children and Young People’s services (impact of 

implementing a Short Stay Paediatric Assessment 

Unit and the requirement to meet the London 

Quality Standards)  

• Planned Care (implementing elective care 

centre(s)  

 

During August a process was undertaken to define the 

scope and make recommendations for how to proceed 

Achievement against the London  

Quality Standards 

• Overall for south east London, a large 

number of standards are being met or 

are expected to be met within trusts 

existing plans  

• No single site is meeting all the LQS or 

7 Day Standards  

• A number of key standards such as 

consultant presence on site are not 

currently met by any trust in SEL  

• Workforce is the main area where 

additional investment is required to 

meet the London Quality Standards in 

SEL with additional consultant cover 

and MDT the key cost drivers  



12 Draft in progress | 

Urgent and emergency care 

 

The urgent and emergency CLG to establish a group to devise a plan 

and timeline to establish a trajectory towards LQS across the sector 

taking into account: 

• Workforce considerations 

• Financial constraints 

• Likely future safety, sustainability and quality issues 

• The feasibility of network or collaborative arrangements to help 

meet the standards in an innovative way 

The aim being to devise a plan that demonstrates safety and quality, 

and a trajectory to LQS.  We expect this work to report by the end of 

October. 

 

  
Children and young people 

 

The children and young people CLG to establish a group to devise a 

plan and timeline to implement the agreed clinical model taking into 

account: 

 

• Workforce considerations 

• Financial impact  

• The impact of the strategy on our inpatient units and what 

changes may need to be made to meet safety, sustainability and 

quality issues in light of the activity projections 

 

Maternity 

 

The maternity CLG to establish a group to devise a plan and timeline 

to meet LQS across the sector taking into account: 

• Workforce considerations 

• Financial impact given the possible savings from the strategy 

• Likely future safety, sustainability and quality issues 

• Whether trusts are likely to meet the standards on their own or 

whether network or collaborative arrangements would be required 

 

The aim being to determine whether it is possible to meet the 

standards in a reasonable timescale. 

 

Planned Care (Orthopaedic Centre of Excellence/SWLEOC 

model) 

It is recommended that the planned care CLG to continue its k  

The planned care CLG to establish a Working Group to develop the 

feasibility and options to deliver the elective orthopaedic centre of 

excellence  model/SWLEOC.  

 

An orthopaedic centre of excellence brings together revision joints, 

spinal surgery and complex and co-morbid patients. 

 

The SWLEOC model is about consolidation and high throughput of 

routine cases. 

 

 
 

At the meeting on 28 August, the Executive Group of the partnership group considered the scope 

analysis and adopted the following recommendations:  



13 

• We will continue to plan and implement most of the strategy: taking forward the new models of care and 

interventions that do not need public consultation. We will work with our partners in secondary, primary 

and community care, mental health trusts and with local authorities to do so.  

• We know where an options appraisal process may be required for some of the care model initiatives. If 

consultation is needed, we expect it to take place from July-September 2016, with options agreed by 

December 2016. 

• We have published a summary of the draft models of care and further thinking as a follow-up to the 

Issues Paper. This summarises our very latest thinking, as set out the consolidated strategy. 

 

How stakeholders and local people can help 

• Respond to our Issues paper at http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm or by 

writing to Our Healthier South East London, 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2TZ. 

• Invite your local CCG and the programme team to a meeting to brief colleagues or to run a roadshow on 

your premises for your staff. 

• Share this briefing and our Issues paper with colleagues and stakeholders. 

• You can email the programme team at SOUCCG.SELstrategy@nhs.net or follow  @ourhealthiersel on 

Twitter. 

 

Draft in progress | 

http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
mailto:SOUCCG.SELstrategy@nhs.net


14 Draft in progress | 

Sep Oct Aug July 

Define scope and 
potential 

reconfiguration 
requirements 

Assess and develop service 
level options 

Nov 

Finalise inputs 

Develop 
whole 
system 
options 

Financial option appraisal  

Option appraisal 
process (non-

financial)  

Confirm Shortlist 
for Consultation 
(if required) and 
recommendation 

to programme 

Develop whole system business case 

Share existing 
modelling with 

providers 

Dec Jan Feb 

O
p

tio
n

s D
e

velo
p

m
en

t an
d

 
A

p
p

raisal 
B

u
sin

ess case d
evelo

p
m

en
t an

d
 assu

ran
ce

 

Four tests 
review (1) 

Four tests 
review (2) 

Clinical Senate 
Review 

Mar-June 

Submit for 
NHSE 

assurance 
(Mar)  

Decision to 
proceed to 

consultation if 
required (early 

Jun))  Governing body 
and trust review 

C
LG

 
Im

p
lem

en
tatio

n
 

CLG Project 
Initiation 

Documents 
Developed 

Implementation 
plan and 

programme 
reporting 

established 

Ongoing implementation of CLG plans 

Su
p

p
o

rtin
g 

activities  

Ongoing Communications and engagement 

Supporting strategies complete 

CIC established 



1 
 

OHSEL stakeholder update 

 

Welcome to the Our Healthier South East London monthly newsletter. Below you’ll find the 

latest news, updates and information on our five-year strategy to improve health and care 

services across Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark, as well 

as details of how you can get involved.  

 

If there is anything you would like us to include in this newsletter, or if you have any 

feedback please let us know – email us at ourhealthiersel@nhs.net  

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

The future of A&E departments in south east London 

 

Earlier this month we updated hospitals across south east London on work to establish how 

A&E departments will need to change in the future to continue to meet the growing needs of 

patients. Our work to date suggests that investment in community and primary care services 

will help us avoid a further increase in A&E activity and hospital admissions, but will not 

significantly reduce it. So we expect that we will still need all of south east London’s existing 

A&E departments in the future. 

 

Currently our A&E departments do not meet all of the London Quality Standards and they 

see too many patients who could be better dealt with in the community. To meet these 

standards and deliver the best possible care for patients we know that existing services will 

need to change the way they work. 

 

Mark Easton, Our Healthier South East London Programme Director, said: “We are working 

with clinicians to understand how we can address these issues, but we expect more 

integrated working between urgent and emergency services in hospital and community 

settings, to reduce unnecessary hospital attendances and help people get out of hospital 

quicker. 

 

“Therefore, we will still need our existing A&E departments but they may need to work in a 

different way in future to meet the needs of local people.” 

 

Read on for more detail on our ideas to develop urgent and emergency care services. 

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Developing health services that work for everyone in our communities  

 

We celebrate the diverse communities in south east London but we know that at the 

moment, health services are not always set up in a way to give everyone the same 

experience. We are working to address this and an independent Equality Analysis has been 

carried out to look at which groups in our communities could be most impacted by our 

strategy.  

 

http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/strategy
mailto:ourhealthiersel@nhs.net
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/urgent-and-emergency-care.htm#uec ideas anchor


2 
 

The NHS is required, under the Equality Act 2010, to consider the potential impacts of its 

plans on groups with ‘protected characteristics’ under the Act. The nine protected 

characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation. In addition, 

we asked our independent external assessors, who produced the report, to look at potential 

impacts on two additional groups: carers and those facing social or economic deprivation.  

 

Building on analysis conducted last year, the latest assessment has been carried out now so 

that its findings can be taken into account when we consider options for changing local 

health services.   

 

The report found that there is a good deal of positive work going on in this area and 

concluded that south east London was well placed at this stage to mitigate any negative 

impacts. A series of recommendations have been set out and an action plan has been 

developed to address these. The action plan will be overseen by our Equalities Steering 

Group, which is made up of equalities and engagement leads from the six CCGs in south 

east London, programme staff, members our Patient and Public Advisory Group and an 

independent chair. You can read the Equality Analysis on our website. 

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Help us improve your local NHS – have your say on emerging models of care 

 

In July this year we published - Help us improve your local NHS: Issues Paper – a document 

that set out the challenges that the NHS faces, some of our emerging ideas and some 

questions for readers to consider. Since then, healthcare commissioners across south east 

London have been talking to patients, residents and professionals working in health and 

social care to get their thoughts on how to tackle the areas biggest challenges.  

 

A number of suggested models of care have been put forward which aim to improve the 

NHS in south east London, making services safer, of consistently high quality, financially 

sustainable and more joined up. You can read about these in our new publication – Help us 

improve your local NHS: emerging models and further thinking.  

 

Most of our ideas are subject to change and we are still keen for you to consider and 

respond to the Issues Paper. Read about our direction of travel and tell us what you think 

before final recommendations are put forward.  

If you would like copies of either document to share with your staff, patients, colleagues 

and/or local people or groups, please let us know. We are also keen to come and talk to 

local groups about the Our Healthier South East London programme and about our 

emerging ideas – please let us know if you would be interested. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

How is your feedback being used in our plans? 

 

Our programme is built around engagement with strong involvement of patients and the 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/Downloads/Equality%20Analysis%202015%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/Downloads/Help%20us%20improve%20your%20local%20NHS%20-%20emerging%20models.pdf
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/Downloads/Help%20us%20improve%20your%20local%20NHS%20-%20emerging%20models.pdf
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper_2.htm
mailto:ourhealthiersel@nhs.net
mailto:ourhealthiersel@nhs.net


3 
 

public, local healthcare providers, local authorities and organisations representing the 

voluntary and community sector. Over the summer we held six events and over 440 

randomly selected members of the public attended. The aim of these events was to help us 

understand what different people think about some of the ideas for improving healthcare 

across south east London.  

 

Discussions focused on the six areas that have been identified for improvement -  

community-based care, planned care, urgent and emergency care, maternity, children and 

young people, and cancer. We are addressing mental health in each of these areas as it is 

relevant to all of them. The feedback from these events is extremely valuable and uncovered 

a range of themes on how people want health services to work for them. These included 

earlier diagnosis and faster access to treatment and after care, more integrated services, 

better systems for sharing information and taking action on the quantity and quality of 

clinicians. You can read the independent report to get more detail on the topics discussed. 

We are now examining this feedback and considering any necessary refinements to the 

strategy.  

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

You said, we did 

 

Our latest engagement ‘You Said, We Did’ report is now live on our website. This outlines 

engagement activity between March and July this year, with examples of some of the 

feedback we’ve received (‘You Said’), and our response (‘We Did’). A separate report on 

engagement around the Issues Paper, including borough-wide events, will be published later 

this year when this can be collated together.  

Responses from engagement are fed back into the work we are doing, either into the Clinical 

Leadership Groups or other areas of work, and this is recorded centrally. We also record the 

programme response and how we have used the feedback, and publish this in a quarterly 

You Said We Did report. 

If you have any feedback on any area of our work, please get in touch. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Not so new but definitely improved – our website! 

 

With so many different healthcare services across all six boroughs in south east London and 

so much work underway to improve them, we have been developing our website to give you 

even better information about our work. Now with more detail on why your local health 

services need to change, ideas for doing things differently in our six priority areas and a 

library of all our latest publications, why not take a look?  

 

Are you on Twitter? Follow us today. It’s a great way to understand what changes are being 

proposed for through our strategy and to give us feedback. If you can’t fit it into 140 

characters, you can always use our online feedback form.  

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/Feedback
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/Downloads/Strategy%20documents/You-Said-We-Did-July-2015.pdf
mailto:ourhealthiersel@nhs.net
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/
https://twitter.com/ourhealthiersel
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper_2.htm


4 
 

IN FOCUS   

 

Improving urgent and emergency care 

 

Emergency care is usually provided in hospitals and is for people who have a condition that 

is life-threatening or presents an immediate risk to long term health. Urgent care is provided 

by a range of health professionals such as GPs, hospital doctors, community nurses, and is 

for people who have a problem that needs attention the same day, but is not life threatening 

or life changing.  

 

Through our strategy we are working to reduce unnecessary hospital visits and admissions, 

help people to get out of hospital quicker when they are admitted, and give people more 

appropriate care in the community. In addition, we need to address the fact that no south 

east London hospital fully meets the minimum standards (London Quality Standards) for 

safety and quality, which includes senior doctors being available seven days a week. 

 

Our work to date has involved a team of healthcare professionals including hospital doctors, 

GPs, nurses, patient representatives and health and social care managers working together 

to come up with a number of ideas for improving urgent and emergency care. These include 

providing specialist advice to primary care and helping people with mental illness be seen 

more quickly in hospital emergency departments. 

 

More recently, our focus has turned to how these ideas could work in practice at our local 

hospitals. We think that by working together to address the issues with patient care that are 

felt in hospital and urgent care settings across south east London, we can deliver better care 

for local people. A similar group of professionals – our Urgent and Emergency Care Network 

– are now driving this work forward. The priorities are: 

 

 Achieving London Quality Standards 

 Meeting national specifications for Urgent Care Centres, Emergency Centres and 

Emergency Centres with Specialist Services 

 Establishing a front door streaming system for our Emergency Departments that will 

also speed up referrals to specialist teams for people who need them, such as under 

18 year olds with mental health needs, adults with mental health needs, and people 

who need support from drug and alcohol teams.  

 

Our work in this area is developing all the time and we welcome your feedback. Read more 

about our ideas and have your say.  

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

CHANGE IN ACTION 

 

Improving access to GP services – Southwark 

 

Southwark was one of the 20 successful Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund sites nationally to 

pilot new models for accessing primary care services.  

http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/urgent-and-emergency-care.htm#uec ideas anchor
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/urgent-and-emergency-care.htm#uec ideas anchor
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/urgent-and-emergency-care.htm#uec ideas anchor


5 
 

 

Engagement with Southwark residents showed that sometimes they find it difficult to get an 

appointment with a GP or practice nurse and find the health system hard to navigate In 

response, over £2 million has been invested in developing the Extended Primary Care 

Service, which aims to make it easier for people to see or speak to a GP or nurse. Additional 

appointments are available from two sites across the borough, which operate 8am – 8pm, 

seven days a week. Patients access the service by calling their usual GP practice or the GP 

out-of-hours service. A doctor or nurse will assess them over the telephone and provide 

advice, refer to another service or book an appointment at the Extended Primary Care 

Service. With patient consent, doctors and nurses can access their healthcare record to 

ensure they can offer the right treatment.  

 

The service is being delivered by local groups of practices working together in GP 

federations and so far over 14,000 appointments have been delivered. This is a new way of 

working and a full evaluation will be completed at the end of the first year to assess the local 

impact. Patients have welcomed the service with 95% of those who have used it saying they 

would be extremely likely, or likely, to recommend it to friends and family.  

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Patient ideas driving change 

 

Last month we told you about the six events we held over the summer where we gathered 

feedback from over 440 randomly selected members of the public. We wanted to generate 

discussion around the challenges facing local health services and get ideas on how to 

improve services. The issues raised at those sessions have been examined in detail by the 

teams of healthcare professionals and patient representatives who are developing our 

strategy. Next month we will publish a report to explain how this feedback has influenced our 

plans for developing health and care services. Some of the areas covered include:  

 

 Cancer – education and training programmes to help with earlier diagnosis and faster 

treatment, improved care before, during and after treatment. 

 Children and young people – better support for families, integrating services and 

improving prevention and early intervention services. 

 Community based care – making it easier to see a GP, more integrated services that 

help patients to navigate services based in the community. 

 Maternity – better communication and education for mothers, more community based 

support. 

 Planned care – making it quicker and easier for people to get routine operations, 

better aftercare 

 Urgent and emergency care – addressing staffing issues, improving community 

based care to avoid people having to go to hospital  

 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

How stakeholders and local people can help 

http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/cancer.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/children-and-young-people.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/community-based-care.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/maternity-services.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/planned-care.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/urgent-and-emergency-care.htm


6 
 

 Respond to our Issues Paper at http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-
paper.htm or by writing to Our Healthier South East London, 160 Tooley Street, 
London SE1 2TZ. 

 Invite your local CCG and the programme team to a meeting to brief colleagues or to 
run a roadshow on your premises for your staff. 

 Share this briefing and our Issues Paper with colleagues and stakeholders. 
 
Staying in touch 
 
You can email the programme team at ourhealthiersel@nhs.net or follow @ourhealthiersel 
on Twitter. 
 

http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm
mailto:ourhealthiersel@nhs.net


1. Purpose

1.1.This report presents Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with 
an update on Healthwatch.

2. Recommendation/s

2.1. Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:

2.2. Note the progress of Healthwatch since 1st April 2015.

3. Policy Context

3.1. In 2012 the Health and Social Care Act received Royal Assent.  From 
April 2013, local authorities were required to commission a local 
Healthwatch organisation.

3.3 Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham supports the Council’s 
commitment to improving the health and wellbeing of Lewisham 
citizens and contributes to the following key objectives of ‘Shaping our 
Future – Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy’: 

 Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively 
participate in maintaining and improving their health and 
wellbeing. 

 Empowered and responsible – where people can be actively 
involved in their local area and contribute to supportive 
communities.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Healthwatch Bromley & Lewisham: Lewisham Progress Update

Contributors Folake Segun, Director,
Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham

Item No. 8Ci

Class Part 1 Date: 24 November 2015

Strategic 
Context

Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham contributes to the aims set 
out in the Sustainable Community Strategy and in the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy to ensure that people are at the heart of 
decisions about their own health and wellbeing, that they are 
able to make choices over the care and support they receive 
and to the commitment to improve, health and care.



3.4 Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham also supports the reduction in 
health inequalities and the outcomes identified in the 10 year Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy.

4. Background  

4.1 Healthwatch Bromley an independent charity was awarded the contract 
to deliver Healthwatch in Lewisham in February 2015.  The contract 
commenced 1st April 2015.

4.2 Healthwatch is a voice for children, young people and adults in health 
and social care living in Lewisham.  Anyone, young or old can speak to 
us about their experiences of health or social care services and tell us 
what was good and what was not good.  Healthwatch then ensures that 
service providers and commissioners hear this feedback and make 
changes to their services.

4.3 Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham is part of the regulatory and 
scrutiny function of health and social care and as such forms part of a 
national network of Local Healthwatch.  The network includes 
Healthwatch England which sits as a committee of the CQC.  All 
Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham reports are shared with 
Healthwatch England and are used by the CQC to inform their work in 
hospitals, adult social care and primary care services. 

4.4 Local Healthwatch are intended to hold both commissioners and 
providers of services to account by delivering the 7 statutory functions: 

i. Gathering the views and understanding the experiences of 
patients and the public. 

ii. Making people’s views known. 
iii. Promoting and supporting the involvement of people in the 

commissioning and provision of local health and social services 
and how they are scrutinised. 

iv. Recommending investigation or special review of services via 
Healthwatch England or directly to the Care Quality Commission.

v. Providing information (sign posting) about access to services and 
support for making informed choices. 

vi. Making the views and experiences of people known to 
Healthwatch England and the Local Healthwatch network, and 
providing a steer to help it carry out its role as national champion. 

4.5 A 7th function relates to commissioning of complaints advocacy which 
is not included in Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham’s contract.



5. 2015-2016 Work Programme

5.1. Healthwatch in Lewisham activities are led by the citizens and 
communities of Lewisham.  We have engaged with several, 
communities and organisations with a particular focus on obtaining the 
views of groups who fall within the 9 protected characteristics as 
defined under the Equality Act 2010.  We have also carried out 
outreach in the shopping areas of Lewisham, Deptford, Catford and 
Forest Hill and at Waldron Medical Centre and South Lewisham Group 
practice.

5.2. The 2015-2016 work programme has been developed and our 
priorities agreed.  They are:

5.2.1. Access to Services
 Our focus is on communities who do not speak English as their first 

language.  We have engaged the Vietnamese and Polish 
communities to understand their issues and help identify barriers.  
This work is currently being collated and written up.  We will also 
engage with the Turkish and Tamil communities in the borough as 
part of this work.

 We will be carrying out a review of access to pharmacies across 
Lewisham.

5.2.2 Children and Young People’s (CYP) mental health and wellbeing
 In our work on CYP’s mental health and wellbeing we are working 

with organisations that work with children and young people and 
through our own direct engagement gathering information and 
evidence that explores the issues of access, information and 
understanding.

 Through our dedicated Community Engagement Officer children 
and young people can tell Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham 
about their experiences of using any health or social care service or 
about their experiences of health related issues.  Our reach to 
children and young people has included large events, mental health 
drama workshops in schools, visiting youth groups, working with 
voluntary and community sector organisations supporting children 
and families and regular outreach at Kaleidoscope.

5.2.3 Mental Health
 In this area of work we have gathered information on the patient 

experience of SLAM and submitted this evidence to the CQC.

 Further work being planned includes the collection of case studies 
that provide information on access from a cultural perspective or 
viewpoint.  

5.3 In addition to the above priorities our work programme also includes:



 Governance and Organisation
 Volunteers
 Engagement
 Information and signposting
 Partnership, Representation and Influence
 Communication

5.4 Board members and volunteers are a valuable resource.  We have 
recently recruited a fourth Lewisham resident to join our Board and 
increased the number of active volunteers from 7 to 18.  From June to 
September 2015 our volunteers supported us with 32.5 hours of 
volunteering.  Recruitment of volunteers is ongoing.  Details of 
opportunities are published on our website, through our e-bulletin and 
widely disseminated.

5.5 Engagement activity across the borough continues and not only raises 
the Healthwatch profile but is enabling people to share their experiences 
directly with the team.  From April 2015 to September 2015 Healthwatch 
took part in 81 activities, engaging with over 2700 people. 

5.6 Using our engagement activities and our signposting and information 
service we gather comments about services provided in the borough.  
The comments received by Healthwatch in Lewisham cover a range of 
issue and of providers.  Comments received include both positive and 
negative experiences.  The figures below show the comments received 
from April to August 2015 by theme.

Staff attitudesAccess to Hospital servicesAccess to GP surgeriesConsultation & Service CoordinationPrivacy and Dignity
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Positive Comments by Theme, April - August 2015

Theme

N
um

be
r 

of
 C

om
m

en
ts



Waiting times - GP surgeriesWaiting times - generalWaiting times - hospital Dignity and equality
0

5

10

15

20

Negative Comments by Theme, April - August 2015

Theme

N
um

be
r 

of
 C

om
m

en
ts

5.7 We have put in place an Enter and View visit programme.  Our 
Authorised Representatives are fully trained to visit publicly funded 
health and social care establishments to see for themselves how care is 
provided and to hear about user experiences.  We will be undertaking 
visits extra care/assisted living homes in the borough.

5.8 We have partnered with Lewisham Library (home service) to reach some 
of the more isolated people with in the borough and capture their voices.  
These one to one visits are carried out on a monthly basis.  

5.9 Healthwatch continues to have representatives on key bodies and 
partnership groups to ensure that the patient and public voice heard.  

5.10 Our e-bulletin is published every 2 weeks with information on our 
activities, local news and relevant national news. The bulletin is 
circulated directly 1718 contacts.  Our Twitter followers have increased 
to 1099 enabling us to increase our electronic reach.  

6. Financial implications

6.1. There are no specific financial implications arising from this report... 

7. Legal implications

7.1. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires local authorities to have a 
local Healthwatch service.

7.2. Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to 
encourage integrated working between the persons who arrange for 
health and social care services in the area.

8. Crime and Disorder Implications



8.1. There are no crime and disorder implications

9. Equalities Implications

9.1. Through the work of Healthwatch and our targeted engagement with 
communities and groups that are often harder to reach or seldom 
heard we will reduce inequalities in health and social care.

10.Environmental Implications

10.1. The Council’s environmental objectives formed part of the tender 
evaluation and are detailed in the contract.

11.Conclusion

11.1. Further updates on our work and reports produced will be presented as 
appropriate to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

If there are any queries on this report please contact Folake Segun, Director, 
Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham on 020 8315 1916, or by email on at 
folakes@healthwatchbromley.co.uk. 

mailto:folakes@healthwatchbromley.co.uk


1.

1.1

2.

2.1

3.

3.1

3.3

3.4

3.5

 

    

Purpose

This report provides an update to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the re-
commissioning of Healthwatch Lewisham and NHS Complaints Advocacy.

Recommendations

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are invited to note: 
 the process and timetable for re-commissioning Healthwatch Lewisham and 

NHS Complaints Advocacy
 the value of the contract.

Policy Context and Background

Under the Health and Social Care Act (2012), local authorities who commission  
Adult Social Care services have a statutory duty to commission a local 
Healthwatch. Lewisham’s Healthwatch is required to provide a range of services 
that support individuals and communities with regard to health and social care 
services in their local areas. The Healthwatch service replaced the Local 
Involvement Network (LINks). The main role of Healthwatch is to:

i. signpost people to local health and social care services
ii. collect and analyse the experiences that people have of local care to 

help shape local services 
iii. feed views and any recommendations to Healthwatch England to act 

on at a national level.

Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Board is committed to improving the health and 
wellbeing of citizens in Lewisham. Healthwatch Lewisham supports the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to deliver key objectives of Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. Healthwatch Lewisham is also represented on the Joint Public 
Engagement Group, a sub group of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

The provision of independent advocacy is a legal requirement under section 248(1) 
of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred the responsibility and funding to 
commission an NHS Complaints Advocacy Service to local authorities from 1st April 
2013.  

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Re-commissioning of Healthwatch Lewisham and NHS Complaints 
Advocacy

Contributors Service Manager, Strategy and Policy Item No. 8Cii

Class Part 1 Date: 24 November 2015



3.6

3.7

3.8      

4. 

4.1      

4.2

4.3

4.4

Independent advocacy in this instance relates only to the provision of assistance 
for individuals making or intending to make an NHS complaint (which includes a 
complaint to the Health Service Ombudsman). 

Healthwatch and  NHS Complaints Advocacy support the Council to deliver  key 
strategic objectives as outlined in Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 
Shaping our Future – Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy: 

 ‘Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively participate 
in maintaining and improving their health and wellbeing’. 

 ‘Empowered and responsible – where people can be actively 
involved in their local area and contribute to supportive communities.’

Following a tendering process in early 2015, Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham 
was commissioned to deliver Healthwatch in Lewisham on a twelve month contract 
ending on 31 March 2016. The NHS Complaints Advocacy service is currently 
provided by Voiceability via a pan-London contract involving 25 boroughs entered 
into in April 2013 and also ending on 31 March 2016.  A new tendering process is 
necessary therefore to procure both services starting in April 2016.  

Options for Re-Commissioning Healthwatch Lewisham

A range of options were considered in relation to the re-commissioning 
of the Healthwatch service from 2016/17. 
           
Procurement process
In relation to the procurement process, two main options were considered:

i) Open tendering exercise.  The benefit of using an open procedure is typically 
the high level of respondents, increasing competition and opportunities for a 
wide range of innovative solutions. The disadvantage is the number of tenders 
that may need to be evaluated. 

ii) Restricted procurement process whereby tenders are invited directly from a 
limited number of specialist contractors rather than through an open advert.  
The rationale for this would be based on previous experience in Lewisham and 
other London boroughs that there are only a very small number of providers 
that are likely to submit bids and that these providers are already known to the 
Council. This approach would require approval from the Executive Director for 
Resources to waiver procurement regulations.

It was agreed that an open tendering exercise is used to procure services.  
Although it appears to be true that there are a small number of suitable service 
providers, this will provide an opportunity to test this assumption and ensure best 
value is achieved.

Scope of contract
An opportunity was identified to commission the NHS Complaints Advocacy 
service within the Healthwatch contract and from the same service provider. These 
are complementary services and contracts for both services end in March 2016.  
This is an approach that has already been taken by other local authorities and 



4.5

4.6       

4.7

4.8

4.9

which could be effective in Lewisham.

The NHS Complaints Advocacy service is currently provided by Voiceability via a 
pan-London contract involving 25 boroughs.  The disadvantage of withdrawing 
from this arrangement could be a loss of ‘economies of scale’. However the on-
going stability of this arrangement is currently unclear, with some boroughs 
indicating that they may move to more local arrangements, combining this service 
with other information and advice contracts.

The main advantages of commissioning both services together are as follows:
i. Important links between the two services are strengthened, leading to 

better outcomes
ii. The potential for efficiencies to be achieved
iii. Saving in officer time by only managing one contract

The benefit of withdrawing from the pan-London arrangement would be the    
potential for a service with a stronger local focus and influence over the way that 
the service is provided.

It was agreed that the NHS Complaints Advocacy service is included in the 
Healthwatch contract for reasons given in 4.6 and 4.7 above.

Value of contract
The main options around the contract value were as follows:

i. Maintain contract value at its current level of £146,000 per annum (plus 
£50,000 for the NHS Complaints Advocacy service).

ii. Reduce the value of the Healthwatch contract in line with other Council 
savings but maintain the value of the NHS Complaints Advocacy service. 
Evidence from other London boroughs (see table 1 below) shows that 
savings have already been made to Healthwatch contracts in 2015/16. 

iii. Reduce the value of the Healthwatch contract in line with other Council 
savings and seek to reduce the value of the NHS Complaints Advocacy 
contract.

Table 1
Healthwatch Funding: London Boroughs Comparison 
(Source Healthwatch England, July 2015)

Borough Saving 2015/16 2014/15

Hounslow £102,233 £89,378 £191,611
Harrow £75,000 £100,000 £175,000
Ealing £57,700 £160,300 £218,000
Brent £26,600 £150,000 £176,600
Lambeth £26,000 £265,000 £291,000
Tower Hamlets £24,500 £220,500 £245,000
Hackney £20,000 £150,000 £170,000
Haringey £20,000 £180,000 £200,000
Camden £12,892 £244,538 £257,430



Lewisham £7,905 £146,000 £153,905
Enfield £4,532 £264,108 £268,640
Bromley £3,519 £140,650 £144,169
Bexley £400 £134,000 £134,400
Barking and Dagenham £0 £124,000 £124,000
Barnet £0 £197,361 £197,361
City of London £0 £54,678 £54,678
Croydon £0 £245,000 £245,000
Greenwich £0 £129,000 £129,000
Hillingdon £0 £175,000 £175,000
Islington £0 £176,200 £176,200
Kingston £0 £122,000 £122,000
Merton £0 £125,085 £125,085
Newham £0 £140,000 £140,000
Redbridge £0 £166,000 £166,000
Richmond £0 £146,000 £146,000
Southwark £0 £120,000 £120,000
Waltham Forest £0 £160,000 £160,000
Central West London Not yet confirmed Not yet confirmed £500,000

4.10

4.11

4.12

The table shows a wide variation in budgets allocated to Healthwatch across 
London and in savings made in 2015/16. Lewisham has 15th highest budget 
of the 28 boroughs included.  As far as neighbouring boroughs are 
concerned, the value of the Lewisham contract is £17,000 higher than that of 
Greenwich and £26,000 higher than that of Southwark.

Information on anticipated expenditure on Healthwatch by other London  
boroughs in 2016/17 is less comprehensive although anecdotal evidence 
from Healthwatch England suggests that most local authorities are planning 
further  savings.  Information from Bromley, Sutton and Islington reveals the 
following anticipated savings in the coming two years:

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Bromley £140,650 £113,000 £85.650
Sutton (includes NHS Advocacy £200,000 £150,000 £135,000
Islington £176,200 £165.500 £165.500

 
The rationale for reducing the value of the Healthwatch Lewisham contract is 
to support the Council to achieve efficiencies, in line with other Council 
funded services.  In addition, it is recognised that there is some duplication in 
relation to the provision of information and signposting services. Under the 
Care Act 2014 the local authority now also has a statutory duty to provide 
information and signposting. In light of this and the evidence that 
demonstrates a relatively low demand for these services from Healthwatch, it 
is felt that efficiencies could be achieved in this area.It was agreed that 
savings of 25% are made to the contract in line with those made around the 
Voluntary Sector Main Grants programme in 2015.  This will result in a 
contract value of £109,500 for the provision of a Healthwatch service. 



4.13

4.14

5

5.1

6 

6.1

6.2

7.

7.1

8.

8.1

The NHS Complaints Advocacy service is currently demand led. The fees 
comprise a core cost and a tariff for services used and it is recommended 
that the same approach is taken with the new contract. In 2015/16 £50,000 
was allocated as an estimated total value to the contract.  Because of the 
complexity of combining the two services it is recommended that the contract 
value remains the same in 2016/17, with a review of tariff charges on an 
annual basis thereafter. 

Length of contract 
It was agreed to procure services for a two year period with the option of a 
twelve month extension.  This will allow a degree of stability for the provider 
whilst ensuring flexibility for commissioners in a changing health and social 
care landscape.

Financial Implications

This report recommends that officers use an open tendering process to 
procure a single service for both Healthwatch and NHS Complaints Advocacy 
from 1/4/2016 when the current contract expired. The proposed value of the 
Healthwatch element is £109,500, a saving of £36,500 (25%) on the current 
contract. The proposed value of the NHS Complaints Advocacy element is 
£50,000 p.a., unchanged from the present value. The funding for 
Healthwatch Lewisham is partly drawn from the Local Reform and 
Community Voices Grant. The balance of funding comes form the 
Community Services base budget.

Legal Implications

The report proposes merging two contracts together and reducing the 
funding of those contracts by 25%. In accordance with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules written authorisation from the Executive Director is required 
to go out to tender. The award of the contract following the open 
procurement process will need to be approved by the Executive Director for 
Community Services

This is not a Key Decision

Equalities Implications

There are no equalities implications to this decision, these will arise and be 
addressed in the contract documentation and form part of the criteria used in 
the tender evaluation. 

Environmental Implications

There are no environmental implications to this decision, these will arise and 
be addressed in the contract documentation and form part of the criteria used 
in the tender evaluation. 



If there are any queries on this report please contact Andy Thomas, Principal Officer, 
Policy, Service Design and Analysis Hub, London Borough of Lewisham on 020 
8314 9996 or by e-mail at andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk



1. Purpose 

This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an updated 
Refresh of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 2015-18.

2. Recommendations

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to approve the 
updated Health and Wellbeing Strategy refresh (Appendix 1) which incorporates the 
amendments following the Health and Wellbeing Board on 22nd September 2015 and 
to ask the Strategy Implementation Group to develop an implementation plan to 
deliver the priorities for action identified in the strategy refresh. 

3. Strategic Context

3.1 The Health and Social care Act 2012 established health and wellbeing boards as a 
forum where key leaders from the health and care system work together to improve 
the health and wellbeing of their local population and reduce health inequalities.  The 
activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board is focused on delivering the strategic 
vision for Lewisham as established in Shaping our Future – Lewisham’s Sustainable 
Community Strategy, and in Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

3.2 The work of the Board directly contributes to the priority outcome in Shaping our 
Future that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, Active and Enjoyable – 
where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving their health and 
wellbeing.

3.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 placed a duty on local authorities and their 
partner clinical commissioning groups to prepare and publish joint health and 
wellbeing strategies to meet needs identified in their joint strategic needs 
assessments (JSNAs). Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy was published in 
2013.

3.4 The Health and Social Care Act also required health and wellbeing boards to 
encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in 
the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health 
and wellbeing of the area.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Report Title Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh 2015-2018

Contributors Director of Public Health Item 
No.

 8D

Class Part 1 Date: 24th November 
2015

Strategic 
Context 

Please see body of report

Pathway Health and Wellbeing Strategy Implementation Group Action Plan 
was considered as an information item by the Health and Wellbeing 
Board on 19th May 2015

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130805112926/http:/healthandcare.dh.gov.uk/act-factsheets


3.5 The Better Care Fund (BCF) sits as part of a wider strategic approach and the focus 
of this work is to establish better co-ordinated and planned care closer to home, thus 
reducing demand for emergency/crisis care in acute settings and preventing people 
from requiring mental health and social care services.

4. Background

4.1 Lewisham's ten year health and wellbeing strategy was published in 2013. It 
identified nine long term priority outcomes for Lewisham:

1 Achieving a healthy weight
2 Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung 

cancer at 1 and 5 years
3 Improving immunisation uptake
4 Reducing alcohol harm
5 Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and 

reducing the numbers of people smoking
6 Improving mental health and wellbeing
7 Improving sexual health
8 Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support
9 Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long term 

conditions

4.2 In the period from 2013 to April 2015, significant progress was achieved for each of 
the nine ten year priority outcomes of the strategy.  The Board asked the Strategy 
Implementation Group to take stock of the progress made, and at the same time to 
consider how a programme of actions for the next three years could support delivery 
of key national and local policies and programmes published since the original health 
and wellbeing strategy was developed.  These include the NHS five year Forward 
View, the Care Act, the Our Healthier South East London Consolidated Strategy, 
Lewisham’s Adult Integrated Care Programme, and Lewisham’s new Children & 
Young People’s Plan.

4.3 While the Board will continue to monitor progress using our H&WB Outcomes 
Dashboard and ensure that existing delivery groups and plans work effectively to 
deliver the original 9 priority outcomes within the resources available, the Board now 
wants to provide a greater strategic focus on a smaller number of actions where 
collective and concerted effort by the Health and Wellbeing Board member 
organisations, in partnership with other stakeholders, and working with our local 
communities, could bring about significant population level improvements in Health 
and Wellbeing.

5. Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh

5.1 Over the last six months a series of Board workshops and stakeholder engagement 
events have taken place. They confirmed that our ten year strategy has not changed: 
our vision remains to achieve health and wellbeing for all residents by 2023.  They 
also generated a strong consensus that  the best way to make progress over the next 
three years towards realising this vision is by preventing ill-health, maintaining good 
health and keeping more people well and independent throughout their life course.  
This will require a much greater focus on creating the conditions that make healthier 
lifestyle choices easier for individuals and families, and providing the support for older 
people and those with disabilities to live well and independently for as long as they 
can.



5.2 In order to prevent ill health and promote wellbeing and independence the board and 
its partners identified a clear need for an integrated health and social care system 
and stronger communities.  What also emerged from discussions is the need for 
simultaneous joined up action across the following ‘fronts: 

 integration of physical and mental health services;
 Integration of health and social care;
 Integration of care and prevention;
 Integration of primary and second health services (including community services);
 building on the strong and active communities that already exist in Lewisham, to 

mobilise their efforts and support them to help each other to make changes in 
their daily lives, and empower them to take control over their health and 
wellbeing.

5.3 Following the engagement activity with stakeholders and the discussions by the 
Board, the three interdependent broader priorities have been identified for 2015-18:

1) To accelerate the integration of care

2) To shift the focus of action and resources to preventing ill health and promoting 
independence 

3) Supporting our communities  and families to become healthy and resilient

5.4 Our refreshed strategy can be summarised in the following narrative:

We will ACT at the level of: populations, communities, individuals and families 

THROUGH: healthy public policy, community development, new neighbourhood care 
networks, making every contact count, self care and self management

TO: accelerate he integration of care, to prevent ill health and promote 
independence, and to support healthy and resilient communities

IN ORDER TO: improve and maintain health and wellbeing and reduce health 
inequalities.

6. Financial implications

There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.

7. Legal implications

As part of their statutory functions, members of the Board are required to encourage 
persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in the area to 
work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health and well-being 
of the area and to encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health-related 
services in its area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board.



8. Crime and Disorder Implications

There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations

9. Equalities Implications 

There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations, but the dashboard highlights those areas where health 
inequalities in Lewisham can be monitored.

11. Environmental Implications

There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations.

12. Summary and Conclusion

This refresh (see Appendix 1) provides a greater strategic focus on a smaller number 
of short term priorities for action over the next three years: 

1. to accelerate the integration of care; 

2. to shift the focus of action and resources to preventing ill health and 
promoting independence; 

3. supporting our communities and families to become healthy and 
resilient. 

Collective and concerted action on these three priorities, working with our local 
communities, could bring about significant population level improvements over the 
next three years across all nine priority outcome areas.  At the same time these 
priorities align with, and support delivery of, key national and local policies and 
programmes.  These include the NHS five year Forward View, the Care Act, the Our 
Healthier South East London Consolidated Strategy, Lewisham’s Adult Integrated 
Care Programme, and Lewisham’s new Children & Young People’s Plan.  All these 
policies and programmes prioritise integration, prevention, collective action and 
stronger communities.

If you have any difficulty in opening the links above or those within the body of the report, 
please contact Andy Thomas (andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk; 020 8314 9996), who will 
assist.

If there are any queries on this report please contact Dr Danny Ruta, Director of Public 
Health, Community Services Directorate, Lewisham Council, on 020 8314 8637 or by email 
danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk

mailto:andy.thomas@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk


Children and Young People’s Strategic Partnership Board and Joint Commissioning 
Group

Minutes of meeting held on 19 October 2015

Present:

Cllr Paul Maslin (Chair) Cabinet Member for Children and Young People (LBL)
Sara Williams (Vice-Chair) Executive Director for Children and Young People (LBL)
Meredith Dean Divisional General Manager for CYP (LGT)
Chris Doorly LSCB Independent Chair
Mary Fudge Student Support Team Leader (Lewisham and Southwark 
College)
Jane Hendrie Lewisham Education Arts Network
Ruth Holden Chair Secondary consultative
Ruth Hutt Consultant in Public Health (LBL)
Tony Nickson Director, Voluntary Action Lewisham, (VAL)
Jo Oakley Superintendent, Partnerships, Lewisham MET
Warwick Tomsett Head of Targeted Services and Joint Commissioning (LBL)

Also present: 

Timothy Andrew Principal Officer, Policy Service Design and Analysis, (LBL)
Justine Roberts Service Manager, Commissioning and Strategy CYP (LBL)
Rosanna Ottewell Development Support Officer for Policy Influence and 

Collaboration (VAL)

Apologies:

Kate Bond Head of Standards and Achievement, (LBL)
Jo Fletcher Service Director for CAMHS (SLAM)
Tim Higginson Chief Executive, Lewisham and Greenwich Trust (LGT)
Cllr Hilary Moore Chair, Children and Young People Select Committee (LBL)
Sharon Lynch Chair of Primary Consultative
Donal O’Sullivan Consultant in Public Health (LBL)
Marc Rowland Chair (LCCG)
Danny Ruta Director of Public Health (LBL)
Tina Sanjjanhar Service Director for CYP services (LGT)
Geeta Subramaniam-Mooney Head of Crime Reduction and Supporting People, (LBL)
Martin Wilkinson Chief Officer (LCCG)



Item Item Action

1. Apologies 
As noted.

2. Minutes of meeting held on 27 April 2015 and matters arising

The minutes were agreed.

There were no matters arising.

3. Children and Young People’s Plan (2015-18)

Warwick Tomsett (LBL) introduced an update to the Children and 
Young People’s Plan. The following points were raised in the 
discussion:

 Partners had been involved in the different stages of 
development of the new Children and Young People’s Plan. 
The meeting provided a final opportunity for the Board and 
the JCG to review the Plan and to suggest any additions or 
ammendments.

 Partners questioned whether the desired direction of travel 
for reports of child sexual exploitation was to increase or 
decrease. It was noted that an increase in reports might be 
a positive development, because there was an 
acknowledged level of underreporting.

 It was agreed that the indicators used in the plan (and their 
desired direction of travel) would reflect those in the plans of 
the Lewisham Safeguarding Children’s Board.

 The Plan was designed to focus activity across the 
Partnership, whilst recognising the current context of 
resourcing.

 The intention was that the new plan would be hosted online, 
with embedded links to additional sources of information 
and research.

Those present 
agreed to send 
additional 
sugestions or 
proposed 
changes to the 
CYPP before 26 
October 2015.

4. Work programming

Warwick Tomsett (LBL) introduced the report. The following points 
were noted in the discussion:

 It was proposed that each meeting would be themed around 
one of the four priorities in the CYPP.

 Information about performance would be presented 
throughout reports from officers, rather than as a separate 
item.

Those present to 
send additional 
sugestions for the 
work programme.



 Partners should raise the work programmes of the CYPSPB 
and the JCG with Boards and decision making groups in 
their own organisations.

 It was proposed that officers invited to present to the Board 
would be invited to be innovative in the way they presented 
the information. It was anticipated that there would not 
always be a formal report to the Board and the JCG.

 It was intended that there would be input from children and 
young people, as appropriate.

 There would be a meeting of the JCG in December to 
discuss budget savings proposals.

Those present agreed the recommendations set out in the report, 
including the programme of meetings for the coming year. It was 
agreed that each organisational representative would take 
responsibility for adding items from their organisations to the 
programme, as necessary.

5. Any other business

None.

Details of the next meeting:
15 February 2015
Time: 3.00pm – 4:00pm
Venue: Civic Suite, Catford


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of last meeting and matters arising/Action Tracker
	Item 1 ActionTracker 24 11 15

	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Adult Integrated Care Programme Update: Enhanced Care & Support Work Stream
	4 Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions for Adults 2016/17
	Item 4 Draft Partnership Commissioning Intentions for Adults 2016-17  Appendix 24 11 15

	5 Health and Care Devolution in London
	Item 5 Health and Care Devolution in London - Annex A

	6 Local Account 2015/16
	Item 6 Local Account 2015-16 Appendix

	7 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme
	Item 7 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 24 11 15

	8 Information Items
	Item 8A Performance Dashboard Exceptions Reporting 24 11 15
	Item 8A Performance Dashboard Exceptions Reporting Appendix 24 11 15
	Item 8B Our Healthier South East London Programme Update
	Item 8B Our Healthier South East London programme update Appendix A 24 11 15
	Item 8B Our Healthier South East London Programme Update Appendix B 24 11 15
	Item 8Ci Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham - Lewisham Progress Update 24 11 15
	Item 8cii Re-commissioning of Healthwatch Lewisham and NHS Complaints Advocacy 24 11 15
	Item 8D Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh 24 11 15
	Item 8E CYP Strategic Partnership Board Minutes


